
Audit and Scrutiny Committee  - 25 October 2019 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Telephone:  (01874) 624437
Plas y Ffynnon
Cambrian Way
Brecon
Powys
LD3 7HP

Dear Member

A meeting of the AUDIT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE will be held in THE 
CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON 
LD3 7HP ON FRIDAY, 25TH OCTOBER, 2019 AT 10.00 AM when your 
attendance is requested.

Yours sincerely

Julian Atkins

Chief Executive

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND
WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/ 

Fire Evacuation Advice

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1 CORRESPONDENCE (Pages 5 - 6)

To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 
recommendations thereon (below).
 
 

1.     Certificate of Audit of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s 2019-

Public Document Pack

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


Audit and Scrutiny Committee  - 25 October 2019 2

20 Improvement Plan

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest from members relating to items 
on the agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to 
the attendance sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally 
and in writing, specifying the nature of the interest.
 
If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure 
that you inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so 
that this can be recorded in the minutes

 

3 MINUTES (Pages 7 - 12)

To receive the minutes of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee held on    and to 
authorise the Chairman to sign them as a correct record

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING SCHEME 

To give the public an opportunity to address the committee in line with 
the notice required under the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

 

5 ACTION TRACKING (Pages 13 - 14)

A: Budget Monitoring

6 BUDGET PERFORMANCE QUARTER 2 2019/20 (Pages 15 - 28)

B: Scrutiny

C: Performance and Risk

7 PERFORMANCE AND RISK REVIEW - QUARTER 2 (Pages 29 - 48)

8 COMPLIMENTS/COMPLAINTS/FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 
(Pages 49 - 58)

9 DRAFT ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 (Pages 59 - 84)

10 INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE (Pages 85 - 126)



Audit and Scrutiny Committee  - 25 October 2019 3

11 UPDATE ON COOKE AND ARKWRIGHT WORK 

Verbal update from the Chief Executive.

D: Other Business

12 OTHER BUSINESS 

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1. To receive apologies for absence

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency 
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad 
Hawkes on 01874 624437



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 2 - Audit of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s 2019-20 Improvement Plan 

Reference: 1413A2019-20 
Date issued: July 2019 

Audit of Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority’s 2019-20 Improvement Plan 

Certificate 
I certify that, following publication in May 2019, I have audited Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority’s Improvement Plan in accordance with section 17 of the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2009 (the Measure) and my Code of Audit Practice.  
As a result of my audit, I believe that the Authority has discharged its duties under section 
15(6) to (9) of the Measure and has acted in accordance with Welsh Government 
guidance sufficiently to discharge its duties. 

Respective responsibilities of the Authority and the Auditor 
General 
Under the Measure, the Authority is required to prepare and publish an Improvement 
Plan describing its plans to discharge its duties to: 
• make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the exercise of its 

functions; 
• make arrangements to secure achievement of its improvement objectives; and 
• make arrangements to exercise its functions so that any performance standard 

specified by Welsh Ministers is met. 
The Measure requires the Authority to publish its Improvement Plan as soon as is 
reasonably practicable after the start of the financial year to which it relates, or after such 
other date as Welsh Ministers may specify by order. 
The Authority is responsible for preparing the Improvement Plan and for the information 
set out within it. The Measure requires that the Authority has regard to guidance issued 
by Welsh Ministers in preparing and publishing its plan.  
As the Authority’s auditor, I am required under sections 17 and 19 of the Measure to carry  
out an audit of the Improvement Plan, to certify that I have done so, and to report whether  
I believe that the Authority has discharged its duties to prepare and publish an 
Improvement Plan in accordance with statutory requirements set out in section 15 and 
statutory guidance.  

  

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



Page 2 of 2 - Audit of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s 2019-20 Improvement Plan 

Scope of the Improvement Plan audit 
For the purposes of my audit work I will accept that, provided an authority meets its 
statutory requirements, it will also have complied with Welsh Government statutory 
guidance sufficiently to discharge its duties.  
For this audit I am not required to form a view on the completeness or accuracy of 
information, or whether the Improvement Plan published by the Authority can be 
achieved. Other assessment work that I will undertake under section 18 of the Measure 
will examine these issues. My audit of the Authority’s Improvement Plan, therefore, 
comprised a review of the plan to ascertain whether it included elements prescribed in 
legislation. I also assessed whether the arrangements for publishing the plan complied 
with the requirements of the legislation, and that the Authority had regard to statutory 
guidance in preparing and publishing its plan. 
The work I have carried out in order to report and make recommendations in accordance 
with sections 17 and 19 of the Measure cannot solely be relied upon to identify all 
weaknesses or opportunities for improvement. 
 
 
 
Adrian Crompton  
Auditor General for Wales 

CC:  Julie James AM – Minister for Housing and Local Government 

 Nick Selwyn, Manager 

 Huw Rees, Director 

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 1 26 July 2019

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY AUDIT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD AT CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, 

CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON FRIDAY, 26TH JULY, 2019

PRESENT:

Blaenau Gwent

Powys

Cllr McIntosh and Cllr K Laurie-Parry

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb (Chair)

Merthyr Tydfil

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Ian Rowat (Deputy Chair), Mr James Marsden and Mrs Sue Holden

In Attendance

Sean O'Connor, Monitoring Officer
Mr Julian Atkins, Chief Executive
Elaine Standen, Finance Manager
Mr Paul Funnell, IT and Systems Manager
Mrs Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager

Apologies

Cllr A James

Stephen Gray (Delivery Director)

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 2 26 July 2019

32/19 Correspondence 

The Chair welcomed members and officers to the meeting.  She also welcomed Cllr 
Laurie-Parry who was back on the committee and paid tribute to Cllr John Hill who had 
left the committee. She welcomed Clive Fitzgerald from Internal Audit and Ian Raynes, 
Acting Chair of the Authority’s Standards Committee who was observing the meeting as 
part of his own learning.
 
Apologies were noted.
 
 

33/19 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.
 
 

34/19 Minutes 

One typographical error was highlighted which would be corrected before the minutes 
were published.
 

RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 3 
May 2019 be approved and the Chair authorised to sign 
them as a correct record.

 
 

35/19 AGM Minutes 

Officers advised that the attendance for this meeting would be corrected before the 
minutes were published.
 

RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 28 
June 2019 be approved and the Chair authorised to sign 
them as a correction record.

 
 

36/19 Public Speaking Scheme 

There were no requests to speak.
 
 

37/19 Action Tracking 

Members sought clarification from officers on progress with some of the actions.

Page 8



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 3 26 July 2019

 
 

38/19 2018/19 Financial Outturn and Reserves 

Members received the outturn report and reserves position for the financial year 
2018/19.
 
                                      RESOLVED:  To note the report.
 
 

39/19 2019/20 Budget Performance to 30 June 2019 

The Finance Manager presented the budget performance report for the first quarter of 
2019/20 and advised that this was as expected at this time of year.  A member 
congratulated staff on this.
 
Delays in grant funding were noted and the Chief Executive advised that the Delivery 
Director was addressing this, particularly where there might be impact on future grant 
applications.
 

RESOLVED:  To note the report.
 
 

40/19 Statement of Accounts 2018/19 

The Finance Manager advised that this was an opportunity for members to review the 
Statement of Accounts before they were presented for approval at the EGM on 30 July.  
She outlined some changes in accounting process since last year.
 
A member suggested that in future the Authority’s achievements in using public money 
effectively be highlighted in an introduction.  She also felt that underspend was in fact a 
success story, and that an explanation was needed about the potential use of reserves, for 
example, to provide match funding in grant applications. A different view was expressed 
about underspend, and a member sought assurance from the Chief Executive that a list of 
projects was available which could be implemented should underspend occur.  The Chief 
Executive confirmed that he had submitted a list of unfunded pressures to the Welsh 
Government, although these would be subject to a prioritisation exercise as with other 
projects.  Members regretted the continuing annual budget projection rather than three 
years.
 
A member highlighted the uncertainty over the pension fund, which was common to all 
local authorities but stressed that the Authority should spend rather than hoard its 
reserves.  The CEO advised that a pension valuation was due this year, and that the 
Authority needed to be able to fund a potential pay award as well as the change 
programme.  The Finance Manager advised that the Authority should receive an indication 
of the situation in December, but would be driven by Powys County Council on this.
 

Page 9



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 4 26 July 2019

The difficulty of managing budgets when working with partners was also noted.  A 
suggestion was made that it would be helpful to have some ratios, such as the constituent 
local authority contribution per resident which might demonstrate value for money.
 
The Finance Manager concluded that the auditors had asked the Authority to ensure it 
had a process to enable learning from successes and failures in projects, and use this to 
make improvements in future. The same applied to the need to learn from performance in 
budget management and a process of review of outturns against estimate by budget 
managers.
 

RESOLVED:  That members note the contents of the 
report and the draft Statement of Accounts as published.

 
 

41/19 Internal Audit Update 

The Finance Manager and Internal Audit updated members on the progress of the Block 1 
audits which had just been carried out.
 

RESOLVED:  That the contents of the report and 
outstanding management actions be noted.

 
 

42/19 Role of Scrutiny 

The Democratic Services Manager advised that the Chair had asked for this to be on the 
agenda as an opportunity to highlight the role of scrutiny in the new structures and 
whether an additional process was needed.  She referred to the new Key Work Area 
Groups and Policy Forum as opportunities for scrutiny.  
 
Members made the point that some informal scrutiny was already being carried out by 
individual members with senior officers or as part of the champion role.  The lack of 
officer capacity for a formal process was also recognised as well as the fact that the 
Authority was in a different place from when the formal process was developed.  There 
was consensus that the new structures allowed for scrutiny when coupled with internal 
and external audit, but a member felt there was a danger in becoming too focused 
internally and another felt that the Authority must be mindful of public opinion.
 
A member suggested that the Authority should consider a 360 degree review at some 
stage in a structured way to include stakeholders; he cited the planning service where the 
service was better than its reputation.  The Chief Executive confirmed that these 
conversations were taking place with stakeholders and that they would be looking at 
stakeholders again as part of the change programme.  He suggested that the review of 
governance structures in the autumn should include how the Authority captured learning 
points and tracking actions from conversations as a member highlighted.  The Chair 
advised that constituent local authorities should be included in any stakeholder review.
 

Page 10



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 5 26 July 2019

Members highlighted the number of reports on this agenda ‘for noting’ and said that this 
was the wrong approach: words such as ‘accept’, ‘approve’ or ‘adopt’ should be used, as 
reports merely for noting should not be on the agenda.  Officers would amend the 
guidance recently developed for staff writing reports. 
 
 

43/19 Compliments/Complaints/Freedom of Information 

Members reviewed compliments, complaints and Freedom of Information requests and 
welcomed the high level of compliments to staff.
 
 

44/19 Integrated assurance framework 

The IT and Systems Manager presented the new Integrated Assurance Framework which 
had been developed based on comments from members.  He had included additional 
reports on performance and risk but welcomed views as to whether this was required.  
Members made the following comments:
 

         Too much detail was not necessarily helpful
         Concept good but difficult to see what was behind the assertions
         Staff did not appear to understand what to put in the controls and weaknesses 

columns
         This format more applicable to local authorities with much bigger budgets
         Performance and risk reports helpful
         The work done to date was good but needed to be reworked in light of a new set 

of baselines (State of the Park Report)
         The Authority needed to be able to see measurable progress against key priorities 

such as climate change, and even long term change needed milestones
         Conscious of the officer time needed to develop these processes

 
The officer thanked members for their helpful comments which mirrored some concerns 
from the Senior Leadership Group.  He would welcome further discussion with members 
on how to link this to the change programme.  The Chair asked him to bring a further 
version of the framework to the next meeting.
 
A member cited examples of suggestions made that had not been acted on, such as 
funding for obtaining British Trust for Ornithology data, and for the Natural Resources 
Wales peat study, where some injection of resource would give valuable returns.  The 
Authority should seize opportunities such as this.  The Chief Executive advised that they 
would look at budget allocation and that such examples would be subject to the same 
prioritisation process as project proposals and other work.
 
The officer summarised that he would reformat the assurance framework for the next 
meeting such that lead officers would report the three most significant actions, three 
highest risks and three most important controls for each objective.  Members indicated 
that this would be an improvement.
 

Page 11



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 6 26 July 2019

Amendments to the recommendations were discussed in terms of order and the request 
to amend the framework for the next meeting.
 

a) That members discuss and query the content of the 
report;

b) That members accept receipt of the report;
b) that officers review the comments made on the 

framework and bring a revised version to the next 
meeting.

 
 

45/19 Other Business 

There was no further business and the Chair thanked members and officers.
 
 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Page 12



Committee Date Minute No Agenda item title Decision text Action Deadline Date Owner Comments Status

National Park Authority 28/07/2017 10:00 10 SDF Approval over £30,000 Arrange for Big Pit apprentices to give a 

presentation to the Authority

Helen Roderick 15/03/2019:  - Liaising with Angharad re 

possible dates for this visit.

In progress

National Park Authority 10/11/2017 10:00 13 Member Champion Reports Schedule Bethan Price to do sweep up 

session with members

30/11/17 00:00 Helen Roderick/ 

Julia Gruffydd

27/09/2018:  - Julia to organise with new 

WLO

To do

National Park Authority 09/02/2018 10:00 11 Affordable Housing Working Group 

Recommendation - Award of 

Commuted Sums

Arrange legal agreement with Melin Homes 

and transfer of money / Advise PCC of NPA 

decision

31/03/18 00:00 Mrs Helen 

Lucoq

16/04/2018:  - Further information has been 

requested from Melin Homes in terms of 

timeframes relating to purchase of land, 

submission of planning application etc.

delayed

National Park Authority 28/06/2019 10:00 7 Meithrin Mynydd Terms of Reference Consult graziers on Meithrin Mynydd ToR and 

bring back to NPA for approval

31/07/19 00:00 Dr Paul 

Sinnadurai

Angharad 

Hawkes

03/07/2019: Status changed from To do to 

Delayed - My advice is that it's very unlikely 

that we'll meet the end of July deadline.  

First:  the numerous secretaries and chairs 

of the associations only meet together twice 

a year, during the Meithrin Mynydd 

meetings.  Consulting with each secretary 

and chair separately, as an alternative, is not 

practical. It would also be impractical to 

schedule a separate meeting just to discuss 

ToR, not least of all without members 

present.

THEREFORE I RECOMMEND THAT 

THESE ARE TABLED AT THE NEXT MM 

MEETING

Secondly: these ToR are being proposed by 

Members not officers, therefore Members 

need to lead on that consultation.  The 

appropriate venue for that is MM meetings, 

which is where the original ToR would have 

been agreed, presumably.*

Thirdly, there was some disquiet expressed 

at the most recent MM mee

24/07/2019:  - This is for Members to lead 

on, the ToR having been revised by 

Members rather than officers.

delayed

National Park Authority 30/07/2019 12:00 8 Contract at Plas y Ffynnon Full options appraisal for HQ future 

accommodation and bring back to NPA

30/09/19 00:00 Mr Julian Atkins

To do

National Park Authority 03/09/2019 12:30 14 Govilon Line Negotiate sale of freehold land in line with 

report to NPA

31/10/19 00:00 Stephen Gray

To do

NPA

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 5

http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5156#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5156#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=31806#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=31806#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5158#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5158#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=34363#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=34363#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5340#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5340
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5340
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=5340
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=36981
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=36981
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=36981
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6559
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6559
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=52570
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=52570
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=7726
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=7726
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=52941
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=52941
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6605
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6605
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=53360
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=53360


Audit and Scrutiny Committee 03/05/2019 10:00 6 Wales Audit Office Reports Ask TN and HL to look at the WAO report on 

WoFG Act and Partnerships audit (ASC 

agenda 3 May)

10/05/19 00:00 Mr Julian Atkins To do

Audit and Scrutiny Committee 26/07/2019 10:00 13 Integrated assurance framework Rework the Integrated Assessment 

Framework and bring to next ASC

30/09/19 00:00 Mr Paul Funnell To do

ASC

PAROW

P
age 14

http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6541
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6541
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=51656
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=51656
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=51656
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6609
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=6609#
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=52884
http://modgov.breconbeacons.org/mgActionDisplay.aspx?ID=52884


Budget Monitoring: Quarter 2 2019/20

Name of 
Committee

 Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Date 25 October 2019

Report Author
Elaine Standen

Job title Finance Manager

Contact details elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk
Purpose of Report To inform Members of performance against budget for the 

second quarter of 2019/20

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1: Budget Monitoring Summary to 30/9/2019

Enclosure 2: S106 and Affordable Housing to 30/9/19

Enclosure 3: Project Scorecard Q2 

Recommendation a) That Members accept the report

1.1 Introduction 

For the first quarter of 2019/20, 54% of the total budget has been spent and 27% 
committed.  Overall this is close to the projected position at this time of the financial year.  
There are a  number of large multi-year projects where there are long-term commitments 
(purchase orders), a number of projects funded by an internal transfer from reserves at the 
year end and several larger schemes where grant is received some time in arrears 
(Gunpowder Works and Black Mountains Land Use Partnership).  Commitments also include 
the Sustainable development fund grant applications approved but not claimed.

Quarterly figures for each department are summarised below:

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



Full 
Year 

Budget 
(Net) 

2019/20

Actual to 
end Q2      

2019/20

Committed 
2019/20

Net Budget 
remaining 
2019/20

Net Budget 
Spent and 

Committed

Department %
£000 £000 £000 £000

Chief Executive’s Office 1,076 522 87 467 57

Delivery core 1,921 925 168 830 57

Delivery projects 430 297 473 -340 179

Planning core 741 398 13 330 56
Planning projects* 70 -103 6 167 -139
Capital projects (net 
revenue funding) 47 78 310 -342 833

Other (including 
transfers to and from 
earmarked reserves)

-370 -13 0 -358 237

 Total 3,915 2,104 1,057 754 81

Revenue Grant and 
Levies -3,769 -1,954 0 -1,814 48

Transfer from General 
Reserve -147 0 0 -147 0

‘* Includes S106 Receipts.

1.2  Principal Budget Variances

Chief Executives Office

A significant payment in advance for the Webcasting facility which will be accrued to future 
years over the life of the lease at the year-end has increased the apparent expenditure on 
Democratic Representation as at the end of the quarter.   Other CEO cost centres where 
expenditure appears high are also due to timing and multi-year commitments rather than 
additional cost.  The budget for Welsh translation is fully spent and committed, indicating that 
more resources need to be set aside for translation costs.

Delivery

Page 16



Wardens’ project income from the Rights of Way delegation agreements with constituent 
Authorities is reimbursed at the end of the year.  The new Day2Stay and Culturescape (EU-
funded) projects are now in the budget; the timing of funding has caused budget variances.  
There are continuing issues with the Atlantic Isles (EU funded) project in enabling claims to be 
made online.  A budget revision for the new Waterfalls Partnership project is underway.  

The Black Mountains Partnership project includes significant commitments for consultancy 
work and the final year of bracken cutting.  A recent request from WG to claim all the profiled 
balances by 31 March 2020 may, if not resolved, result in a significant loss of project funding.  
Ranger expenditure and bracken cutting profiled to 2020/21 cannot be brought forward to 
2019/20.

There is no spend to date on the production of the National Park Management Plan; the budget 
will require re-profiling to reflect the revised approach to delivering the Plan.

The large commitment for Warden liveried vehicle leases has generated an apparent overspend 
for the Warden Service.  The Mountain Centre is likely to be impacted by continuing issues in 
recovering payment from the previous franchisee.

Other variances relate to the timing of grant and contributions receipts and are detailed in the 
enclosure.

Planning
Planning Department expenditure and income is generally in line with the budget but Planning 
Fee and Pre-application advice income has been lower than in previous years and this may 
impact on the outturn.  Invoices to Powys County Council for Search Fees have not been paid to 
date following a revision of the charging basis/    Further financial information on the current 
status of the S106 and Affordable housing funds received and held is provided in a separate 
Enclosure.

Capital Schemes
See the projects scorecard for an overview of project spend and financial progress.
The Gunpowder Works project commitment includes the woodland management part of the 
project which will be completed this financial year.  The remaining HLF grant due will be 
claimed at the end of the project.  The Park Society is due to make a contribution of some 
£65,000 shortly. 

Work is continuing on access projects in the Llyn y Fan Fach area and environmental 
improvements on Waun Fignen Felen.  Funding has been received in advance – creating an 
apparent underspend.  The project will continue into 2020/21. Further substantial access and 
upland improvement projects have been started and will be funded from reserved Welsh 
Government capital funding.

Other

Page 17



This section of the budget includes filming fees received, interest income and transfers to and 
from Earmarked Reserves.   Planned transfers include the use of Welsh Government funding 
(provided in advance and set aside in reserves) for a range of projects.  The funding received in 
March 2019 has not yet all been built into the estimate.  The bulk of this funding will contribute 
to the Waterfalls Country Partnership project.   

1.3 Conclusion
At the end of the quarter, the differences between budget and actual mainly arise from the 
timing of funding receipts and long-term commitments.  Grant receipts are in general coming in 
more promptly but there is a potential issue with Atlantic Isles, where there have been major 
delays in the acceptance of claims by the EU grant administrators and the Black Mountains Land 
Use Partnership where the design of the grant scheme has created some challenges. 

RECOMMENDATION:

a) That Members accept the report and enclosures.

Page 18



Target: 50
Brecon Beacons Summary Report:-  up to 30/09/2019

APPROVED  ESTIMATE 2019/20 ACTUALS MONTH 1 TO 106 COMMITMENTS 2019/20 2018/19

Costc Account
Profiled 
Budget

Budget 
spent

Prior Year 
Budget

Budget less 
actuals & 

commitments NOTES

Description Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET
 & 

committed
Spent & 

committed Unspent
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ % % £

Chief Executive
2100 Human Resources 66,570 0 66,570 28,338 0 28,338 1,307 0 1,307 29,054 45 57 36,925

2101 Legal 63,550 0 63,550 30,409 0 30,409 5,175 0 5,175 31,912 56 69 27,966
Potential increase in legal costs relating to a 
property matter.  An additional provision may be 
required.

2102 Finance 156,790 -12,720 144,070 65,450 -3,202 62,248 9,207 0 9,207 59,408 50 61 72,615
2103 Office Services 73,620 -270 73,350 30,667 -849 29,817 8,227 0 8,227 36,868 52 59 35,306
2104 Pool Cars 35,700 -35,700 0 19,755 -17,627 2,128 39,127 0 39,127 14,054 n/a n/a -41,255 Lease charges for current and future years.   

2109 Revenue Suspense Account 0 0 0 14,491 0 14,491 0 0 0 0 n/a n/a -14,491 
Spend yet to be allocated - some 
cardholders/managers need to get up to date with 
admin. 

2110 Training 20,000 0 20,000 8,707 0 8,707 5,245 0 5,245 9,994 70 57 6,048

2201 Communications - Translation (formerly 
PR)

10,000 0 10,000 6,767 0 6,767 4,165 0 4,165 4,998 109 n/a -932 New separate budget for corporate translation

2301 Administrative Buildings - Plas Y Ffynnon 125,010 -1,000 124,010 58,993 -961 58,032 3,253 0 3,253 63,236 49 69 62,725 Rates paid for the full year.
5000 Corporate Management 290,250 0 290,250 123,220 -11,581 111,639 10,805 0 10,805 127,968 42 48 167,806

5100
Democratic Representation & 
Management

298,180 -13,574 284,606 168,197 -3,455 164,742 400 0 400 155,511 58 49 119,464
Overspend due to the payment in advance of the 
Webcasting software/support (yr. 2 of 5). 
Accounting adjustment required at year end.

5102 Democratic Services Project - NPA's 
Induction

18,278 -18,278 0 5,104 0 5,104 0 0 0 0 n/a n/a -5,104 Costs yet to be invoiced out, internal recharged of 
staff time pending.

Total for Chief Executive 1,157,948 -81,542 1,076,406 560,098 -37,675 522,422 86,911 0 86,911 533,003 57 61 467,073

Delivery - Revenue Projects
1102 Wardens Works and Projects 58,935 -71,475 -12,540 27,878 -3,581 24,297 11,210 0 11,210 26,878 -283 -113 -48,047 ROWIP Income will be received at year end.

1107 Waterfalls Country Wardening, Volunteers 
and site management costs

35,540 -35,540 0 1,169 0 1,169 0 0 0 1,952 n/a -2493 -1,169 Staff costs recharged twice yearly from Wardens' 
budget.

1114 Ecology Projects 122,547 -29,120 93,427 35,563 -1,447 34,116 14,509 0 14,509 45,352 52 43 44,802
1123 Day2Stay Project 53,200 -52,130 1,070 11,304 -265 11,039 15,680 0 15,680 28,868 2497 n/a -25,649 New Projects.
1124 Culturescape - EU-funded Project 51,960 -51,960 0 0 -34,371 -34,371 0 0 0 8,522 n/a n/a 34,371 New Projects.
1131 Tourism Publications 3,000 -3,000 0 0 -1,865 -1,865 0 0 0 1,500 n/a n/a 1,865
1132 Sustainable Tourism Projects 1,930 0 1,930 501 -20 481 0 0 0 1,500 25 68 1,449
1134 Geopark Interreg Project 40,350 -40,350 0 24,468 42,956 67,425 3,861 0 3,861 20,172 n/a n/a -71,286 
1138 Destination Management 10,000 -10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 -5,002 n/a n/a 0

1139 Tourism Visitor Managemet Projects (WG 
funded)

28,730 0 28,730 19,847 0 19,847 0 0 0 14,366 69 50 8,883

Project Officer transferred to replaced with 
Waterfalls Country Partnership project - spend to 
date will be reallocated.  Remaining funds will go 
to the Dog project.

1305 SDF Strategic Projects 267,411 0 267,411 27,282 0 27,282 262,498 0 262,498 100,002 108 6 -22,369 

Majority of claims are made in the second half of 
the year.  Budget adjustment made for projects 
carried over from 2018/19.  Approved but 
unclaimed project funds have been identified in 
the Commitments column.

1309 Volunteer Co-ordinator projects 1,650 0 1,650 9 0 9 0 0 0 822 1 0 1,641
1310 Social Inclusion Work 6,448 -6,448 0 370 -1,203 -834 0 0 0 -1,806 n/a n/a 834

1313 Get Into the Beacons Project 35,792 -35,792 0 38,436 -8,361 30,076 1,226 0 1,226 -12,574 n/a n/a -31,302 
Officers gathering evidence for the next claim 
(spend up to the end of July). Budget will require 
review following extension of project.

1314 Small Steps Project 25,580 0 25,580 13,588 0 13,588 0 0 0 12,792 53 0 11,992

P
age 19



APPROVED  ESTIMATE 2019/20 ACTUALS MONTH 1 TO 106 COMMITMENTS 2019/20 2018/19

Costc Account
Profiled 
Budget

Budget 
spent

Prior Year 
Budget

Budget less 
actuals & 

commitments NOTES

Description Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET
 & 

committed
Spent & 

committed Unspent
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ % % £

1315 Place Plans Project 13,330 0 13,330 4,109 0 4,109 0 0 0 8,162 31 0 9,221 Only pay costs incurred as at the end of August - 
£3k pot for community grants.

1316 Active Ageing Project (Sport Wales) 29,280 -28,480 800 16,399 -12,907 3,492 0 0 0 14,648 437 n/a -2,692 

1400 Ecology Projects BMP - Bracken 
Management BW lead

88,500 -88,500 0 66,380 0 66,380 104,065 0 104,065 44,250 n/a n/a -170,445 

1401 Ecology Projects BMP - Peatland 
Restoration RB lead

15,190 -15,190 0 0 -2,064 -2,064 3,085 0 3,085 0 n/a n/a -1,021 

1402 Ecology Projects BMP - Payment for 
Ecosystem Services PS lead

40,890 -40,890 0 7,903 -3,951 3,951 19,757 0 19,757 20,444 n/a n/a -23,708 

1403 Ecology Projects BMP - Education Plan SW 
lead

1,660 -1,660 0 970 -275 695 1,545 0 1,545 830 n/a n/a -2,240 

1404 Ecology Projects BMP - Ambassadors RT 
lead

5,340 -5,340 0 2,687 -2,332 355 539 0 539 0 n/a n/a -894 

1405 Ecology Projects BMP - Investing in Skills  
BW lead

48,110 -48,110 0 3,007 0 3,007 0 0 0 3,110 n/a n/a -3,007 

1406 Ecology Projects BMP - Rangers BW lead 85,000 -85,000 0 17,692 0 17,692 19,614 0 19,614 42,500 n/a n/a -37,306 

1407 Ecology Projects BMP - Programme 
Monitoring and Evaluation  BW lead

21,200 -21,200 0 7,486 -3,721 3,766 14,882 0 14,882 10,600 n/a n/a -18,648 

1408 Ecology Projects BMP - Public Relations SW 
lead

8,000 -8,000 0 0 0 0 100 0 100 1,000 n/a n/a -100 

1409 Ecology Projects BMP - Project 
Administration BW lead

48,420 -48,420 0 13,435 -9,972 3,463 0 0 0 24,430 n/a n/a -3,463 

4404 Green Growth Revenue Element 8,500 0 8,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,500 0 n/a 8,500 Budget has been revised.
Total for Delivery - Revenue Projects 1,156,493 -726,605 429,888 340,483 -43,379 297,105 472,571 0 472,571 421,818 179 175 -339,788 

Delivery - Other

2200 Information Technology 250,920 -11,530 239,390 140,907 -132 140,775 27,893 0 27,893 156,400 70 93 70,722

Commitments include year 3 (of 3) of the 
Microsoft licence agreement (approx. £25k) which 
will be carried into next year.

3104 National Park Management Plan 39,000 0 39,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 34,500 0 n/a 39,000 No spend to date

3120 Park Plan Officer 46,720 0 46,720 18,594 0 18,594 0 0 0 23,500 40 51 28,126

Officer finished at end of September  - alternative 
provision required going forward which may 
impact on estimate.

Total for Delivery - Other 336,640 -11,530 325,110 159,501 -132 159,369 27,893 0 27,893 214,400 58 86 137,848

Countryside  - Natural Resources

1100 Wardens Management, Staff and Running 
Costs

524,690 -29,740 494,950 288,496 0 288,496 90,099 0 90,099 287,914 76 89 116,355

First annual payments of the new wardens fleet 
has taken place, the commitments include the 
remaining 3 years of the lease.  Recharge to 
Waterfalls carried out twice per year.

1101 Wardens' Depot 42,210 0 42,210 21,646 0 21,646 0 0 0 21,352 51 80 20,564 Rent paid in advance to the end of September and 
the annual rates bill has been paid.

1108 Foel Deg Improvements 30,000 0 30,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 30,000 0 n/a 30,000 Spend planned for later in the year - expected to 
exceed budget.

1109 Access Officer 146,484 -60,774 85,710 43,846 -26,520 17,326 3,640 0 3,640 38,662 24 64 64,744
Canal & Rivers Trust paid £25k in advance of works 
re Towpath improvements, which are planned to 
commence during December.

1110 Public Rights Of Way 87,640 -31,960 55,680 43,850 -4,510 39,340 661 0 661 41,864 72 60 15,679 ROWIP Income received at year end.

1200 Countryside Manager 101,210 0 101,210 51,094 -2,500 48,594 11,819 0 11,819 54,486 60 51 40,797 Includes PO for Asset Gazetteer and Valuation 
work plus PO for digitisation of records.

1220 Ecology 127,330 -5,750 121,580 57,679 0 57,679 0 0 0 62,520 47 49 63,901
Total for Countryside  - Natural Resources 1,059,564 -128,224 931,340 506,611 -33,530 473,081 106,219 0 106,219 536,798 62 76 352,040

Commitments for the ongoing work including 
bracken control contracts. The Stipend funding pot 
of £45k has now been allocated to the successful 

applicants.  The latest claim has been paid in 
September.  Requirement to spend the profiled 
balance by 31/3/20 may prevent completion of 

some project elements and place funding for final 
phase at risk.

P
age 20



APPROVED  ESTIMATE 2019/20 ACTUALS MONTH 1 TO 106 COMMITMENTS 2019/20 2018/19

Costc Account
Profiled 
Budget

Budget 
spent

Prior Year 
Budget

Budget less 
actuals & 

commitments NOTES

Description Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET
 & 

committed
Spent & 

committed Unspent
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ % % £

Countryside - Sustainable Development
1105 Geopark Development Officer 47,160 0 47,160 20,079 -70 20,009 0 0 0 24,614 42 47 27,151
1120 Sustainable Tourism 94,500 0 94,500 54,355 -1,811 52,544 1,543 0 1,543 49,070 57 55 40,413 Increased salary costs to cover staff absence
1300 Community Development 150,130 -200 149,930 75,109 -267 74,842 300 0 300 75,694 50 57 74,788

Total for Countryside - Sustainable 
Development 291,790 -200 291,590 149,543 -2,148 147,395 1,843 0 1,843 149,378 51 55 142,352

Countryside - Public Engagement
4000 Commercial Manager 53,810 -13,500 40,310 24,227 0 24,227 0 0 0 22,750 60.10 51.26 16,083 Staff time to be recharged to waterfalls.
4103 Retail Stock Management 10,960 -5,150 5,810 6,653 -1,943 4,710 0 0 0 2,891 81.07 1.52 1,100

4104 Abergavenny Information Centre 33,230 -31,100 2,130 18,319 -6,527 11,792 0 0 0 -9,714 553.62 9988.54 -9,662 
Contributions from Monmouthshire CC & 
Abergavenny Town Council for the running of the 
centre not yet received.

4107 Online Shop 3,580 -5,790 -2,210 2,249 -3,960 -1,711 0 0 0 -1,607 77.42 6.29 -499 

4108 Waterfalls Car Parks 107,274 -101,350 5,924 48,729 -74,503 -25,775 12,675 0 12,675 -30,255 -221.13 598.36 19,024
A number of spend/commitments without 
budgets, including building works and the G4S 
cash collections.

4200 National Park Visitor Centre 175,720 -179,359 -3,639 100,536 -103,809 -3,273 9,659 0 9,659 6,480 -175.49 -852.14 -10,025 
Ongoing negotiations with previous tearoom lease 
holders.  Risk of non-payment of invoices relating 
to 2018/19

4210 Craig Y Nos Country Park 81,810 -57,680 24,130 42,616 -31,406 11,210 2,145 0 2,145 11,230 55.35 85.40 10,775
The tenant's lease agreements have now been 
resolved - invoicing has been resumed in 
September. 

4400 Public Engagement 353,090 -51,750 301,340 152,938 -30,554 122,385 7,783 0 7,783 150,648 43.20 41.87 171,172 Income is above target.
Total for Countryside - Public 
Engagement 819,474 -445,679 373,795 396,267 -252,702 143,565 32,262 0 32,262 152,423 47 59 197,968

Planning and Heritage
1205 Building Conservation 47,870 0 47,870 19,322 0 19,322 0 0 0 24,244 40 60 28,548 Underspend on pay costs, vacant post.
1225 Archaeology 48,020 0 48,020 22,262 0 22,262 6,100 0 6,100 26,740 59 45 19,658 Commitments for specialised advice. 

3000
Planning and Heritage Departmental 
management 61,580 0 61,580 30,520 0 30,520 0 0 0 31,040 50 39 31,060

3100 Strategy, Policy And Heritage 142,750 0 142,750 73,163 0 73,163 0 0 0 72,662 51 91 69,587

3121 Minerals 2,100 0 2,100 0 0 0 2,000 0 2,000 1,050 95 95 100
PO to Carmarthenshire County Council to carry out 
work.

3200 Development Control 352,020 -215,000 137,020 195,535 -82,981 112,554 1,100 0 1,100 80,674 83 51 23,366
Both planning & Pre App  advice fees are down 
compared to budget.

3201 Enforcement 140,590 0 140,590 65,015 -140 64,875 0 0 0 71,044 46 45 75,715
3202 Planning Administration & Support 161,010 -10,000 151,010 76,260 -3,281 72,979 3,771 0 3,771 76,112 51 57 74,260

3203 Tree Consultancy 10,000 0 10,000 2,600 0 2,600 0 0 0 4,998 26 94 7,400
Apr to June costs incurred - PO for the full years 
cost needed.

Total for Planning and Heritage 965,940 -225,000 740,940 484,677 -86,402 398,275 12,971 0 12,971 388,564 56 56 329,694

Planning Revenue projects

3102 Local Development Plan 69,700 0 69,700 42,675 0 42,675 5,855 0 5,855 49,348 70 40 21,170
Non pay budget has been fully spent on the LDP 
programme.  Budget revision pending.

3204 Section 106 Receipts and Payments 0 0 0 0 -145,414 -145,414 0 0 0 0 n/a n/a 145,414 See separate report on current balances.
Total for Planning Revenue projects 69,700 0 69,700 42,675 -145,414 -102,739 5,855 0 5,855 49,348 -139 1 166,584

Capital Projects

P
age 21



APPROVED  ESTIMATE 2019/20 ACTUALS MONTH 1 TO 106 COMMITMENTS 2019/20 2018/19

Costc Account
Profiled 
Budget

Budget 
spent

Prior Year 
Budget

Budget less 
actuals & 

commitments NOTES

Description Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET Expenditure Income NET
 & 

committed
Spent & 

committed Unspent
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ % % £

1112 Gunpowder Works HLF project 187,556 -208,691 -21,135 58,878 -300 58,578 100,802 0 100,802 33,165 -754 12297 -180,515 

Outstanding HLF grant from 18/19 has been 
received. Rest of expected income will be paid at 
the end of the project.  Orders in place for major 
expenditure elements on interpretation, woodland 
management and retention (latter is due to be 
signed off in late November.

1800 Wardens Capital Improvement Projects 95,810 -60,510 35,300 13,716 -85,695 -71,979 1,550 0 1,550 24,480 -200 -54 105,729
Minimal spend in current year, grants received in 
advance.

1801 Coedydd Nedd  y Mellte SAC 21,000 0 21,000 0 0 0 9,937 0 9,937 21,000 47 33 11,063
1802 Green Growth Fund 69,170 0 69,170 51,168 0 51,168 0 0 0 69,170 74 0 18,002 Budget has been revised.
1803 Solar Panel installation project 85,660 0 85,660 24,375 0 24,375 281 0 281 85,660 29 0 61,004 Budget has been revised.

1804 Access and upland improvement Projects 185,000 -55,000 130,000 26,952 -20,000 6,952 117,112 0 117,112 175,000 95 51 5,936
Orders placed

1805 EV Charging Points Project 7,576 0 7,576 5,780 0 5,780 0 0 0 7,576 76 54 1,796 Works completed.

1807 Miles without Stiles, Wheelchair provision 30,000 0 30,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 30,000 0 n/a 30,000
Works planned to start in November and be 
completed by March.

1810
Wales Way Infrastructure and 
interpretation 122,320 -100,000 22,320 37,797 -44,386 -6,589 56,303 0 56,303 107,320 223 n/a -27,394 

Grant received in advance. 

4801 Geopark Centre project - Craig y nos CP 36,710 0 36,710 10,063 0 10,063 24,358 0 24,358 30,000 94 0 2,289

5304
Appropriations to/from Capital Grants 
Unapplied and Capital Receipts 0 -369,946 -369,946 0 0 0 0 0 0 -20,230 0 n/a -369,946 

Year-end financing of capital projects.

Total for Capital Projects 840,802 -794,147 46,655 228,729 -150,381 78,348 310,343 0 310,343 563,141 833 134 -342,036 

0

OTHER 0
5340 Interest received 0 -4,800 -4,800 0 -11,155 -11,155 0 0 0 -2,400 232 227 6,355

5205 Income Generation - Green Energy
0 -30,000 -30,000 183 -1,976 -1,793 426 0 426 -15,000 5 58 -28,633 

Hydro Scheme income generation has been below 
expectations.

5299 Unallocated Budgets -1,528 0 -1,528 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a -1,528 

CONTRIBUTIONS TO/FROM EARMARKED 
RESERVES

5302 Appropriations Account Exp 13,000 13,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,000 year end planned transfer to reserves
5302 Appropriations Account Inc 0 -346,898 -346,898 0 0 0 0 0 0 117,854 0 0 -346,898 year end planned use of earmarked reserves

TOTAL - OTHER 11,472 -381,698 -370,226 183 -13,131 -12,948 426 0 426 100,454 237 n/a -357,704 
2100 GRAND TOTAL 6,709,823 -2,794,625 3,915,198 2,868,767 -764,894 2,103,873 1,057,294 0 1,057,294 3,109,327 81 86 754,031

FUNDING
5300 Transfers from General Reserves 0 -146,685 -146,685 0 0 0 0 0 0 619 0 -146,685 Planned use of General Reserve
5300 Transfers from Provisions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a 0

5300
Levy From Constituent LA'S & NP Grant 
(WG)

0 -942,037 -942,037 0 -544,262 -544,262 0 0 0 -471,020 58 -397,775 

5300 Levy From Constituent LA'S & NP Grant 0 -2,826,476 -2,826,476 0 -1,410,000 -1,410,000 0 0 0 -1,413,238 50 -1,416,476 
5300 National Park Grant (Revenue) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 n/a 0

Total Funding & Transfers 0 -3,915,198 -3,915,198 0 -1,954,262 -1,954,262 0 0 0 -1,883,639 50 -1,960,936 

NET BUDGET #REF! #REF! 0 #REF! #REF! 149,611 #REF! #REF! #REF! 1,225,688 n/a -1,206,905 

P
age 22



highlighted projects have 
conditions/deadlines attached, others 
more open-ended

SCORECARD 2017/18 
Actual

2018/19 
Actual

Project Title and description - key 
goals

Total Project 
Spend          £

CODE
Lead 
Officer

KEY WORK AREA AND 
OBJECTIVE

BUDGET 
IN PLACE

SPEND 
WITHIN 

20% 
BUDGET

OUTSTANDING 
ACTIONS

COMMENTS full year full year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Llyn y Fan Fach access Welsh Govt 
Specific Access Grant (68,400) and Dwr 
Cymru (30000 per year for three 
years). 

158,400 1800, LYN JH Resilient Communities, SED; maintain and 
improve access to the countryside

No spend in 2019/20 
to date - review may 
be needed.

Update from PS 3/9/18: JH awaiting
project development by DCWW on
disabled access. Site visits for this
completed with LAF reps. Car park
improvements will follow after this.
Planning permission and consents
pending. proposal for temporary
Warden (separately funded) and poss 
onsite volunteers. Budget updated to re-
profile into 19/20. 

71,860 9,529

Waun Fignen Felen - (Dwr Cymru) 
partnership agreement

50,000
1800, 

WFF
JH L&B; reducing land-based carbon 

emissions and restoring upland habitats

No spend in 2019/20 
to date - review may 
be needed.

Update from PS 3/9/18:  Staff costs now 
included in this project.  £3450 on order.  
Further spend expected but not all in 
current year. Plan to spend 20k on heather 
mgts and charge £5k for warden 

4,350 6,966    

Wales Way Project - Welsh Govt 
Specific Access Grant (re-designated 
Pont ar Daf funding) 

199,000 1810 RT Resilient Communities, SED; improve 
access to the countryside

quarterly profile 
needs to be updated 

To be used to fund Wales Way project - 
part of original WG capital access grant 
funding - receipt in advance.  Project 
budget developed - additional funding 
received re Llangorse facilities - PCC  and 
community groups contributing.  Asset will 
be transferred to community.  
Commitments for £56303 in place.   Art 
work and marker projects in hand, 
procurement well advance, planning 
consent process ongoing.

0 18261

Visitor Centre Improvements  WG 
'pressures' Grant via General Reserve

126,647
4800 
4002

WL improving the visitor experience COMPLETED 93,927 38,301

411,800

LOW 
CARBON 

INITIATIV
ES 1802     

WL

reducing land-based carbon emissions, 
project development 
- T&F group to 
conclude review and 
report.  Project plan 
to be drafted.  

Project under development - budget 
subject to final proposal to Authority, via 
SDT Purchase of two pool EV's 
completed.  Additional EV authorised.

0 0

88,200
 SOLAR 

1803
WL

reducing land-based carbon emissions, Budget revision in 
progress for re-
profiled project and 
additional energy 
saving measures

Mountain Centre Solar project under 
way, delayed by planning requirement 
for bat survey.

0 38900

BB Green Growth Fund  WG 'Green 
Growth 2017' revenue grants in 
earmarked reserve

75,000 4404 WL

reducing land-based carbon emissions, 
project development 
- T&F group to 
conclude review and 
report.  Project plan 
to be drafted.  

staff time only in current budget. 0 0

Black Mountains Partnership SMS  - 
WG-administered EU grant 

1,004,155
1400-
1409

BW

KWA=Biodiversity and Landscape; WFGA 
objective=By focusing on landscapes and 
biodiversity, particularly through 
ecosystems management, the Authority is 
contributing directly to a more ‘Resilient 
Wales’.  2. The National Park’s landscapes 
and biodiversity will benefit from broad-
scale targeted and promoted conservation 
projects. Goals & Objectives: Biodiversity 
will be conserved and enhanced through 
effective partnership, facilitation, practical 
action and the Planning function

review of spend 
against original 
profile to end March 
2020 required.  
Potential loss of 
substantial amount 
of funding if not 
claimed by this date.

. Outstanding payments made.  Q1 
claim has been approved and received.  
ready to submit next claim. Rangers 
employed. Brief out for bracken ground 
truthing. Stipend programme about to 
be launched.  Second year of bracken 
treatments about to take place.(BW)

143,044 357,601

Coedydd Nedd a Mellte WG 'pressures 
grant'  2017

28,000 1801 JH Landscape and Biodiversity; SED; maintain 
and improve access to the countryside

Waterfalls country 
project budgets to 
be consolidated and 
re-profiled.

some highways work commissioned from 
Powys CC by JL - 9937 on order.  Plan for 
project to be combined with Waterfalls 
Country Partnership project and new 
funding.

0 5267

Condition RoW Database WG ' 
pressures' grant 2017

10,000
1110, 

software
EJ Resilient Communities, SED; maintain and 

improve access to the countryside
RoW Officer to 
update

App now delivered and invoice 
received.  Additional work to complete 
project planned and budgeted for next 
FY.  EJ May 2019:  £2,100 carried 
forwards into 2019/20.

2405 5500

ROWIP Review and Revise WG 
'pressures' grant 2017

40,000 1110 EJ
Resilient Communities, SED; maintain and 
improve access to the countryside; publish 

the review of the ROWIP

  EJ May 2019:  £1,210 carried forward into 
2019/20 for translation plus staff time 
£1,960.  

7812 29018

Addressing issues in Waterfall Country 
WG 'pressures' grant 2017- traffic 
management study

26,800
1139, 

WFS
RT Resilient Communities, SED; improve 

access to the countryside COMPLETED 19518 7280

Visitor Management Programme 
officer WG 2017 'pressures' grant via 
general reserve.

80,000 1139, VIS RT
Biodiversity and Landscape,Resilient 

Communities, SED; improve access to the 
countryside

budget revision 
pending and spend 
to be transferred to 
1140

to be re-purposed to dog project, 
replaced by dedicated waterfalls 
partnership project with new cost centre 
with ENRAW funding, officer costs to be 
transferred when budget set up.

11972 36125

2019/20 planned spend 2022/2023 planned spend

BB Green Growth Fund  funds held in 
WG 2017 Capital Grants unapplied 

reserve

2021/2022 planned spend2020/2021 planned spend

P
age 23



highlighted projects have 
conditions/deadlines attached, others 
more open-ended

SCORECARD 2017/18 
Actual

2018/19 
Actual

Project Title and description - key 
goals

Total Project 
Spend          £

CODE
Lead 
Officer

KEY WORK AREA AND 
OBJECTIVE

BUDGET 
IN PLACE

SPEND 
WITHIN 

20% 
BUDGET

OUTSTANDING 
ACTIONS

COMMENTS full year full year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019/20 planned spend 2022/2023 planned spend2021/2022 planned spend2020/2021 planned spend

UNESCO Fforest Fawr  Geopark Centre 
@ Craig-y-nos CP WG '2017 pressures' 
grant via general reserve.

35,000 4801 RT Resilient Communities, SED; improve 
access to the countryside orders raised for 13 0 3290

Strategic approach to Invasive Non Native 
Species Pilot project WG '2017 pressures' 
grant via general reserve.

100,000 1114, INN BW

KWA=Biodiversity and Landscape; WFGA 
objective=By focusing on landscapes and 
biodiversity, particularly through 
ecosystems management, the Authority is 
contributing directly to a more ‘Resilient 
Wales’.  2. The National Park’s landscapes 
and biodiversity will benefit from broad-
scale targeted and promoted conservation 
projects. Corporate Goals & Objectives: 
Biodiversity will be conserved and 
enhanced through effective partnership, 
facilitation, practical action and the 
Planning function

 Budget updates 
made with spend 
estimates for the 
coming year. (BW)

spend diivided evenly across the 4 
quarters for the year as dominant cost is 
salaries (BW).

1000 30233

Gunpowder Works Project - HLF Grant 800,453 1112 RC Resilient Communities, SED; improve 
access to the countryside

negotiations ongoing 
in relation to 
property issue, 
virtual tour delivery

  Access issue may delay delivery of the 
interp element of the project.  Funder 
has been consulted.  Q4 claim pending   
Forestry contract delayed but now in 
hand.  Next claim due December

101148 516632

Micro Hydro Afon Clydach - Capital 
Receipt and grant funding

234,000 1113 JA/HR Resilient Communities, SED COMPLETED 61457 17000

Atlantic Geoparks 131,300 1134 RJT Resilient Communities, SED; improve 
access to the countryside

 EU to progress 
payment.

no grant received to date due to tech 
issues with funder.  £70k owed to the 
project, claim to date now requested by 
funder.  

32245 47860

EV Charging Points  WG 2018 funding 30,000 1805 WL/KB Reducing land-based carbon emissions, 
SED; improve access to the countryside

COMPLETED 0 17424

Place Plan implementation WG 2018 
funding

30,000 1315 CP
Heritage, Biodiversity and 

Landscape,Resilient Communities, SED; 
improve access to the countryside

Clare Parsons to 
consider amount of 
budget to re-profile 
into 2019/20. 

Project work underway. 0 3681

Powys Teaching Health Board - Small 
Steps WG 2018 funding

40,000 1314 CP Resilient Communities, SED; improve 
access to the countryside

Clare Parsons to 
consider amount of 
budget to re-profile 
into 2019/20. 

Project work underway. 0 8359

Llangasty and Caeau Ty Mawr site Mgt 
WG 2018 funding

15,000 1102 LNG JH Landscape and Biodiversity 1048 on order 0 6985

Miles without Stiles, Wheelchairs WG 
2018 funding

30,000 1807 RB
Resilient Communities; SED; Develop the 

Miles Without Stiles programme; maintain 
and improve access to the countryside

 profiled for first half of year but no 
spend to date

0 0

Carn Pica Footpath Restoration WG 
2018

130,000 1804 RYL RB

Resilient Communities; SED; maintain and 
improve access to the countryside; reduce 
land-based carbon emissions and restoring 

upland habitats

.  PS June 2019:  all programmed for 
completion during 2019.  Commitments 
for £72359

0 0

RoW Improvements Wardens WG 2018 29,200
1800 RYB 

to RYG
EJ Resilient Communities; SED; maintain and 

improve access to the countryside 0 15125

RoW Improvements Access Projects 
WG 2018

20,800
1804 RYD 

and RYE
EJ Resilient Communities; SED; maintain and 

improve access to the countryside
COMPLETED 0 19575

NP Interpretation (?) and Education 
Space at National Park Visitor Centre  
WG 2018

55,000 1808 SW
Resilient Communities; SED; maintain and 

improve access to the countryside

develop project plan 
for approval - T&F 
group

budget to be set up and used with green 
growth funding - proposal being worked 
up. 

0 0

Waterfalls Country Infrastructure WG 
2018, combined with Coedydd Nedd y 
Mellte project

80,000 1811 JL Resilient Communities; SED; maintain and 
improve access to the countryside

Establish budget

Update from PS 3/9/18:  following meeting 
organised by RT 22/8/18 with JH, JL and PS, 
capital spend priorities totalling £22,500 
include:  Craig y Dinas to Sgwd yr Eira path, 
Cwm Porth to Four Falls path, Cwm Porth 
Toilets design brief, Gwaun Hepste signage, 
Gwaun Hepste car park design, planning 
app' and implementation, and Clun Gwyn 
Isaf viewpoint habitat restoration.  The 
balance of £27,500 to be allocated towards 
other path improvements works.  Further 
update 13-12-18 - 1) Gwaun Hepste car 
park is taking priority from the 1801 and 
1809 budgets, 2) Traffic management -  
enactment of plans for Comin y Rhos and 
Ystradfellte lay-bys etc.  Works at Cwm 
Porth and Hendre Bolon footpaths are 
priorities.  WG funding to be added

0 0

Heritage in Place Grant Scheme WG 
2018

50,000 3205 TN/CP Heritage
budget to be 
established

uncertainty re timing of spend but not 
anticipated to be until later in 2019/20.

0 0

P
age 24



highlighted projects have 
conditions/deadlines attached, others 
more open-ended

SCORECARD 2017/18 
Actual

2018/19 
Actual

Project Title and description - key 
goals

Total Project 
Spend          £

CODE
Lead 
Officer

KEY WORK AREA AND 
OBJECTIVE

BUDGET 
IN PLACE

SPEND 
WITHIN 

20% 
BUDGET

OUTSTANDING 
ACTIONS

COMMENTS full year full year Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019/20 planned spend 2022/2023 planned spend2021/2022 planned spend2020/2021 planned spend

WG Additional Support for BMLUP - 
Machinery and Project Management 
WG 2018

75,000

 1800 
4100 and 

1220 
1019

BW/JH L&B; Reducing land based carbon 
emissions and restoring upland habitats

 remaining spend  for project management 
staff cost - further adjustment pending 0 59693

Nature Recovery Action Plan 
Implementation WG 2018 £50,000 
from WG £16,000 from NG reserve

66,000 1114 RAP BW

KWA=Biodiversity and Landscape; WFGA 
objective=By focusing on landscapes and 
biodiversity, esp ecosystems management, 
the Authority contributes to a more 
‘Resilient Wales’. 2.  landscapes and 
biodiversity will benefit from broad-scale 
targeted and promoted conservation 
projects. Corporate Goals & Objectives: 
Biodiversity will be conserved and 
enhanced through effective partnership, 
facilitation, practical action and the 
Planning function

budget for current 
funding to be set up 
in Ecology Projects

 Existing numbers do not include 
predictions from ENRAW grant if 
successful; only includes £66,000 currently 
available from WG underspend and NG 
reserve (BW)budget set up for publication 
and launch, 

0 0

Waun Rydd Peatland Restoration 35,000
1804 
WRD

RB L&B; Reducing land based carbon 
emissions and restoring upland habitats

no spend to date, planned for Q3 0 0

TOTAL SPEND 4,284,755

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



S106
Ledger 
Code RECEIVED FROM RECEIPT PURPOSE

TOTAL 
APPLIED IN 
YEAR PAID TO

FUNDS HELD  
31/3/19

£ £ £
S106 08-02488-FUL Enviroparks ZAA Enviroparks (Hirwaun) Limited 0.00

Footpath improvement path 15 plus 
interpretation £10,000 payable to BBNPA 
Wardens/Interpretation - to be fully spent 
by 6/11/2020

0.00

Planning condition monitoring fee 
£12,000 payable to BBNPA Enforcement - 
to be fully spent by 6/11/2020

800.00 BBNPA internal

Biodiversity condition monitoring fee 
£11,750 payable to BBNPA Ecologist  - to 
be fully spent by 6/11/2020

0.00

ANNUAL TOTAL 0.00 800.00 800.00
TOTAL S106 (OTHER) BALANCE AT 31/3/19 -29,251.12

S106
Ledger 
Code RECEIVED FROM RECEIPT PURPOSE

TOTAL 
APPLIED IN 
YEAR PAID TO

FUNDS HELD  
31/3/19

£ £ £
S106 08-02488-FUL Enviroparks ZAA Enviroparks (Hirwaun) Limited 0.00

Footpath improvement path 15 plus 
interpretation £10,000 payable to BBNPA 
Wardens/Interpretation - to be fully spent 
by 6/11/2020

0.00

Planning condition monitoring fee 
£12,000 payable to BBNPA Enforcement - 
to be fully spent by 6/11/2020

0.00 BBNPA internal

Biodiversity condition monitoring fee 
£11,750 payable to BBNPA Ecologist  - to 
be fully spent by 6/11/2020

0.00

ANNUAL TOTAL 0.00 0.00 0.00
TOTAL S106 (OTHER) AT END OF QUARTER -29,251.12

2018/19 S106 - OTHER

2019/20 S106 - OTHER

P
age 27



2018/19 - AFFORDABLE HOUSING

S106 Affordable Housing 
Ledger 
Code RECEIVED FROM RECEIPT PURPOSE

TOTAL 
APPLIED IN 
YEAR PAID TO

FUNDS HELD 
31/3/19

£ £ £

17/14369/DEEM, Pen Y Mynydd 
Barn, O/C ZAI

E Morgan (four further annual 
instalments payable) -20,000.00

Affordable Housing contribution  - 
following Wales Audit Advice, the further 
four instalments due have been accrued 
into the 2018/19 accounts and 
corresponding short and long-term 
debtors included in the balance sheet for 
the payments of £19360 due in each of 
the next four years. 0.00 -20,000.00

18/15843/FUL Pentwyncoch Ganol ZAJ G J Philpott -83,172.00
Affordable Housing contribution - no 
conditions deemed to be attached. 0.00 -83,172.00

ANNUAL TOTAL -103,172.00 0.00 -103,172.00 
TOTAL Affordable Housing balance at 31/3/19 -397,434.60 

2019/20 AFFORDABLE HOUSING

S106 Affordable Housing 
Ledger 
Code RECEIVED FROM RECEIPT PURPOSE

TOTAL 
APPLIED IN 
YEAR PAID TO

FUNDS HELD 
30/6/19

£ £ £
17/14369/DEEM, Pen Y Mynydd 
Barn, O/C ZAI E Morgan -58,380.00 Affordable Housing contribution 0.00 -58,380.00
18/16678/FUL Studio at Castle 
Cottage ZAK O Carthew -64,844.00 Affordable Housing contribution 0.00 -64,844.00
17/14713/FUL 1 Dwelling at St John's Church LIBANUSZAL Mr S J Warrell & Mrs D A Warrell -22,190.00 Affordable Housing contribution 0.00 -22,190.00

ANNUAL TOTAL TO DATE -145,414.00 0.00 -145,414.00 
TOTAL Affordable Housing balance at 30/6/19 -542,848.60 

P
age 28



Performance and Risk reports - quarter 2

Name of 
Committee

 Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Date 25 October 2019

Report Author Paul Funnell

Job title Systems and Performance Manager

Contact Details Paul.funnell@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To update Members on Performance and Risk matters.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Detailed Performance Report q2 2019/20

High risks q2 2019/20

Integrated Assurance Framework q2 2019/20

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) a) That Members discuss the content of the report’s 
enclosures and raise any queries with officers

b) That Members indicate whether they wish to 
continue to receive all three enclosures in future.

1.1 Overview

The performance and risk reports for quarter 2 are given as enclosures.

The integrated assurance framework has been modified in light of Members’ comments at the 
last meeting and with input from the leadership group.

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



At the last meeting there were differing views as to what format of reporting is most helpful 
therefore the modified integrated assurance framework has again been presented alongside the 
detailed performance report and the high risks from the risk register (as per internal audit 
recommendations).

Members are asked to comment on and query the content of these reports as they see fit.

In addition Members are asked to consider whether they wish to receive all three reports in 
future or make further changes to the performance and risk reporting process.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) That Members discuss the content of the report’s enclosures and raise any 
queries with officers.

b) That Members indicate whether they wish to continue to receive all three 
enclosures in future.

Page 30



% Complete RAG Trend Comment

On Track 30

Green

Brecon Place Plan action in relation 
to heritage buildings progressing. 
This potentially could become a 
model for future place plan 
development around the historic built 
environment

1.1.8 Place Plans 1.1.8 Develop a programme to provide grant funding for 
place based heritage projects

Tracy Nettleton Helen Lucocq In Progress

Behind 80

Amber

Llangattock conservation area in 
progress, on NPA agenda 29 
October for consultation.

1.1.7 Built heritage & Wardens' 
programme

1.1.7 Joint project between heritage and wardens to 
maintain and enhance cultural and built heritage within 
NP ownership

Tracy Nettleton Helen Lucocq Not Started Behind

Amber

Work is yet to commence on this 
project due to capacity of Heritage 
team. Will progress for quarter 3.

1.1.6 Built heritage 1.1.6 Develop a programme increasing conservation 
areas within the NP and ensure all current conservation 
area appraisals are up to date.

Tracy Nettleton Helen Lucocq In Progress

On Track 30

Green

Work will continue with the SDF 
team to achieve this action

1.1.4 Volunteering 1.1.4 Develop a programme increasing opportunities for 
volunteering within Heritage sector

Tracy Nettleton Helen Lucocq In Progress On Track 20

Green

Archaeological volunteer program 
underway and officers are 
progressing the development of the 
program.

1.1.3 Sustainable Development 
Fund

1.1.3 Support national park and community projects 
promoting heritage

Tracy Nettleton Helen Lucocq In Progress

On Track 50

Green

Module on welsh language and 
culture exists as part of the 
Ambassador programme and will be 
reviewed in Qs3&4.

1.1.2 Ambassadors - Industrial 
heritage

1.1.2 Further develop the Ambassador programme to 
promote industrial heritage

Tracy Nettleton Helen Lucocq Not Started Behind

Amber

To progress with Sustainable 
Tourism Manager

1.1.1 Ambassadors - language and 
culture

1.1.1 Further develop the Ambassador programme to 
promote Welsh Language and culture

Tracy Nettleton Helen Lucocq In Progress

Green Some weather issues have forced 
groups to be moved into October.

Action Outcome Owner Updater Current Period 01 September 2019

Overall Status Progress Status

1.1.5 Education Programme Sunita Welch 395.00 300.00

Measure Description Owner Current Period 01 September 2019

Actual Target RAG Trend Comment

1 Heritage

Overall Measure RAG Overall Action RAG

Performance Report Q2 2019/20

Corporate Plan 2019/20
Overall Measure RAG Overall Risk RAG Overall Action RAG

P
age 31



% Complete RAG Trend Comment

On Time 100

Green

Plan completed pending officer 
review and recommendations to 
NPA.

2.1.7 Asset management plan 2.1.7 Produce updated Asset Management Plan Paul  Sinnadurai Paul  Sinnadurai Complete

Behind 5

Amber

Is linked to the SoPR. Scoping the 
State of Nature Report now 
underway.

2.1.6 Asset management register 2.1.6 Complete asset register and condition assessment 
across Authority-owned land

Paul  Sinnadurai Paul  Sinnadurai Complete On Time 100

Green

Register completed pending officer 
review and recommendations to 
NPA.

2.1.5 State of Nature Report 2.1.5 Agree the priorities and evidence requirements for 
the State of Nature Report and ecological network maps

Paul  Sinnadurai Paul  Sinnadurai In Progress

Behind 40

Amber

Delays in developing this; lines of 
communication now resolved.

2.1.4 Vital signs project 2.1.4 Work with partners to finalise the project 
application surveillance and monitoring programme for 
the Brecon Beacons National Park

Paul  Sinnadurai Paul  Sinnadurai In Progress On Time 20

Green

Ecosulis continues to develop the 
background information in 
consultation with LNP, in accordance 
with a timetable and delivery plan.

2.1.3 Nature Recovery - engagement 
and communications

2.1.3 Develop a public engagement and 
communications plan to raise awareness about nature 
recovery, garner support and sound the 'call for action'

Paul  Sinnadurai Sunita Welch Overdue

On Time 80

Green

NRAP launched at RWAS. Inputting 
to SoPR indicators; commencing 
work on ecological network mapping 
and State of Nature Report

2.1.2 Nature Recovery - agree 
priorities

2.1.2 Agree the priority ecosystems and constituent 
habitats/sites for NRAP delivery

Paul  Sinnadurai Paul  Sinnadurai In Progress On Time 40 Next LNP meeting is October 22nd, 
where priorities will be developed.

2.1.1 Nature Recovery - develop 
plans

2.1.1 Work with Local Nature Partnership members to 
develop nature recovery delivery plans

Paul  Sinnadurai Paul  Sinnadurai In Progress

Action Outcome Owner Updater Current Period 01 September 2019

Overall Status Progress Status

2 Landscape and Biodiversity

Measure Overall Action RAG

Performance Report Q2 2019/20

Corporate Plan 2019/20
Overall Measure RAG Overall Risk RAG Overall Action RAG

P
age 32



% Complete RAG Trend Comment

Behind 10

Amber

Now awaiting NPA decisions in Oct 
on future priorities.

3.1.8 Public Engagement Actions 3.1.8 Education and Interpretation - communities 
worked with and stories told - including: Gunpowder 
works, Black Mountains LUP, Wales way. NPA and 
Destination website.

Sunita Welch Sunita Welch In Progress

On Time 50

Green

A range of practical measures and 
upland path survey underway and 
programmed throughout the year. 
The major practical works are within 
the BMLUP and for the Central 
Beacons (WG unfunded pressures 
grant). This work is always very 
weather-dependent, therefore 
reported more accurately on an 
annual basis. Air lifts underway from 
September.

3.1.7 Destination Website 3.1.7 Destination Website launched and evaluated 
throughout the year.

Sunita Welch Sunita Welch In Progress 70

Amber

Content migration and development 
underway. Some delays over data 
migration and data migration to 
Welsh Language version.

3.1.6 Upland Path repairs 3.1.6 Deliver the year's upland path project work in BMs 
and Central Beacons; continue to develop the Upland 
Volunteer teams.

Paul  Sinnadurai Paul  Sinnadurai In Progress

Behind

Amber

reduced staff capacity in tourism 
team

3.1.4 Schools inclusion activity 3.1.4 Deliver the education programme, including 
Fairplay transport subsidy for high Free School Meals % 
schools

Sunita Welch Lora Davies In Progress 50

Green

Project promoted at start of new 
term. Bookings already taken.

3.1.3 Public Transport Promotion 3.1.3 Information provision on non-car transport options 
to enable wider access

Clare Parsons Clare Parsons Overdue

Late 50

Green

delayed pending BBNPA 
reprioritisation work. restarted joint 
NPW position statement work Oct 
2019

3.1.2 Health and Wellbeing actions 3.1.2 Health and Well-being policy and delivery of 
actions including those in the Active Aging and Small 
Steps projects

Clare Parsons Clare Parsons On Time 50

Green

active ageing and small steps 
projects on target

3.1.1 Social Inclusion Plan 
monitoring

3.1.1 Social Inclusion and Child Poverty position 
statement, policy and delivery of actions including those 
in the Inspironment and Small Steps projects

Clare Parsons Clare Parsons

Action Outcome Owner Updater Current Period 01 September 2019

Overall Status Progress Status

3.1 Health and Wellbeing

Measure Overall Action RAG

Performance Report Q2 2019/20

3 Resilient Communities
Overall Measure RAG Overall Risk RAG Overall Action RAG

P
age 33



% Complete RAG Trend Comment

On Time 50
Green

Brecon 2020 action development 
progressing

Deliver Place Plans WG funded 
project

Clare Parsons (None) In Progress

Behind 10
Amber

awaiting decision on NPA priorities

3.2.6 Explore innovative housing 
solutions

3.2.6 For lower earners not eligible for social housing -to 
retain people in communities

Clare Parsons Clare Parsons Not Started Behind
Red

awaiting decisions on future priorities

3.2.5 Seek funding for further skills 
projects

3.2.5 To meet identified need and  deliver NPA's 
evidenced ability to fill this gap

Clare Parsons Clare Parsons

On Time 50
Green

internal and partnership meeting held 
and vision & masterplan produced

3.2.4 Deliver Get Into the Brecon 
Beacons skills project with Princes 
Trust

3.2.4 Skills programme for NEET young people with 
Princes Trust Cymru

Clare Parsons Clare Parsons In Progress On Time 67
Green

additional cohort 5 start September

3.2.2 Visitor Management Waterfalls 
Country

3.2.2 Develop partnership interventions and messages 
to respond effectively to visitor pressure. Collaboratively 
explore mechanisms for ownership and direct community 
benefit from footfall. Identifying potential for and develop 

Clare Parsons Clare Parsons In Progress

Green

Action Outcome Owner Updater Current Period 01 September 2019

Overall Status Progress Status

BBCOM1iii The public ratio as a 
result of SDF, including in kind 
contributions

Clare Parsons 510.00 200.00

Measure Description Owner Current Period 01 September 2019

Actual Target RAG Trend Comment

3.2 Sustainable Living

Overall Measure RAG Overall Action RAG

Performance Report Q2 2019/20

3 Resilient Communities
Overall Measure RAG Overall Risk RAG Overall Action RAG

P
age 34



% Complete RAG Trend Comment

On Time 50

Green

Atlantic Geoparks Interreg, Craig Y 
Nos Geopark Discovery point and 
Wales Way capital project all 
progressing well

4.1.12 Tourism Projects 4.1.12 Deliver externally funded projects once 
approved: Atlantic Geoparks Interreg, Craig Y Nos 
Geopark Hub and Wales Way capital project

Richard Tyler Richard Tyler In Progress

On Time 50

Green

Ambassadors on track. Day to stay 
project progressing

4.1.11 Visitor Experience 4.1.11 Enhance Visitor Experience through high quality 
interpretation and information.   Support local walking 
festivals and centre-based opportunities

Sunita Welch Sunita Welch On Time 50

Green

Wales Way and Day to stay projects 
progressing well. Geopark Discovery 
point installation designed and set 
for manufacture and installation Q3.

4.1.10 Tourism Business 
Engagement Actions

4.1.10 Develop business engagement through 
Ambassador and Business Training programme and 
one off events

Richard Tyler Richard Tyler In Progress

On Time 50

Green

4.1.09 National Park  marketing 
work

4.1.09 Develop marketing partnership working: Work 
with public and private sector partners to deliver 
website, social media, print and PR to benefit the 
destination

Richard Tyler Richard Tyler In Progress On Track 50

Green

4.1.08 Visit Wales Partnership work 4.1.08 Bring local benefit from Visit Wales 
programmes: The Year of Discovery and Wales Way

Richard Tyler Clare Parsons In Progress

On Track 50

Green

4.1.07 FforestFawr UNESCO Global 
Geopark

4.1.07 Maintain and develop Geopark programme using 
it to realise benefits from the different offer in the west 
building on its natural and cultural heritage

Richard Tyler Richard Tyler In Progress On Time 50

Green

4.1.06 Sustainable Destination 
Partnership

4.1.06 Maintain and develop Partnership working 
especially with business sector through regular Board 
and Delivery Group meetings as well as Task and 
Finish groups.

Richard Tyler Richard Tyler In Progress

On Time 50
Green

Brecon 2020 action development 
progressing

4.1.05 Sustainable local food 
economy

4.1.05 Work with farmers and producers to enhance the 
quality and quantity of local food availability through the 
ABC project if approved.

Richard Tyler Richard Tyler Not Started Late

Amber

funding offered for ABC project. start 
postponed to Q4 to fit with staff 
capacity

4.1.03 Deliver Place Plans WG 
funded project

Clare Parsons (None) In Progress

Behind 10

Amber

paused pending wider prioritisation 
work

4.1.02 Brecon BID 4.1.02 Support development of Brecon BID Business 
Improvement Plan whilst ensuring businesses respect 
environmental constraints

Clare Parsons Clare Parsons In Progress On Time 50

Green

4.1.01 Sustainable economic policy 4.1.01 Produce a policy to support a sustainable 
economy as part of NPMP and LDP processes and 
LDP and linked to actions and baseline evaluation

Clare Parsons Clare Parsons In Progress

Green

Action Outcome Owner Updater Current Period 01 September 2019

Overall Status Progress Status

BBCOM1iii The public ratio as a 
result of SDF, including in kind 

Clare Parsons 510.00 200.00

Measure Description Owner Current Period 01 September 2019

Actual Target RAG Trend Comment

4 Sustainable Economic Development

Overall Measure RAG Overall Action RAG

Performance Report Q2 2019/20

Corporate Plan 2019/20
Overall Measure RAG Overall Risk RAG Overall Action RAG

P
age 35



% Complete RAG Trend Comment

On Track

Green

Attendance has varied - average is 
that members have attended 6 
meetings but that spans full 
attendance to only 2-4. Member 
present have shown engagement 
and made contributions. 
Governance survey may provide 

Policy Forum 5.1.1 Encouraging all members to contribute to the 
business of the Policy Forum

Julian Atkins Julia Gruffydd In Progress

On Track 50

Green

Generally on track, however, 
attendance and days/member lower 
in this quarter due to summer 
recess.

Organisational and Governance 
Review

5.1.4 Reviewing internal structures and the governance 
structure to ensure they are fit for purpose

Julian Atkins Julia Gruffydd In Progress On Track 50

Green

Member Officer Survey completed. 
Gov & Member Development WG 
reviewing results on 18/10/19. 
Interim findings to NPA on 29/10/19 
and recommendations to future 
NPA.

Member Development 5.1.6 Making best use of Members’ skills Julian Atkins Julia Gruffydd In Progress

Behind 70

Amber

Data nearing completion but still 
needs gap review and addition from 
State of Nature and ERAMMP year 1 
reports.

Key Work Areas 5.1.2 Empowering and embedding the Key Work Area 
Groups

Julian Atkins Julia Gruffydd In Progress Behind 30
Amber

On hold pending governance review

Gathering Evidence 5.1.3 Building the evidence base to support policy 
development and decision making

Julian Atkins Paul  Funnell In Progress

On Track 50

Green

Gov review has elicited some 
practical suggestions for improving 
agendas and reports, and also for 
changing the scheme of delegation 
which will streamline decision 
making. Interim report to NPA 29 Oct 
and recommendations to following 
NPAs

Business Planning - structure 5.1.8 Bring forward proposals for further structural 
changes, revised financial model and associated work 
plans

Julian Atkins Steve Gray In Progress 50

Green

Restructure proposals going to NPA 
on 29/10 before 1st phase 
consultation begins.

Business Planning - governance 5.1.7 Streamline business and governance 
arrangements by reviewing agendas and reports

Julian Atkins Julia Gruffydd In Progress

Action Outcome Owner Updater Current Period 01 September 2019

Overall Status Progress Status

5.1 Decision making and governance

Measure Overall Action RAG

Performance Report Q2 2019/20

5 Organisation and Governance
Overall Measure RAG Overall Risk RAG Overall Action RAG

P
age 36



% Complete RAG Trend Comment

Behind 10
Amber

First position statement drafted.

Communications Plan 5.2.1 Produce and commence delivery of a clear 
engagement strategy and supporting communication 
plan(s) which links delivery and advocacy, setting out our 
stall

Julian Atkins Emma Gray In Progress Behind 25

Amber

Communication strategy drafted and 
to be reviewed by Corporate 
Governance Team.

Advocacy work 5.2.2 Using success to gain political support and 
resources

Julian Atkins Emma Gray In Progress

Action Outcome Owner Updater Current Period 01 September 2019

Overall Status Progress Status

5.2 Understanding and awareness

Measure Overall Action RAG

Performance Report Q2 2019/20

5 Organisation and Governance
Overall Measure RAG Overall Risk RAG Overall Action RAG

P
age 37



% Complete RAG Trend Comment

On Time 100
Green

Project outcome evaluation 5.3.2 Establish a methodology for evaluating the success 
of projects

Steve Gray Steve Gray In Progress 50

Amber

Revised project evaluation template 
to be developed to align reporting of 
project outcomes with new priority 
work programmes and focus areas.

Project approvals and prioritisation 5.3.1 Design a process for approving projects Steve Gray Steve Gray Complete

Action Outcome Owner Updater Current Period 01 September 2019

Overall Status Progress Status

5.3 Project management

Measure Overall Action RAG

Performance Report Q2 2019/20

5 Organisation and Governance
Overall Measure RAG Overall Risk RAG Overall Action RAG

P
age 38



% Complete RAG Trend Comment

On Track 50

Green

Asset register and gazetteer, and 
asset mgmt plan completed; latter 
with recommendations to Authority on 
retention/disposal of assets.

Visitor sites strategic plan 5.4.2 Produce a strategic plan for the Authority’s 
principal visitor facing assets.

Sunita Welch Paul  Sinnadurai In Progress

On Track 25
Amber

Draft plan to PF end Nov

Telling our Story 5.4.1 Install a new interactive interpretation screen at the 
National Park Visitor Centre

Steve Gray Sunita Welch In Progress
Amber

Development Plan for our Visitor 
sites

5.4.3 Produce a site specific plan for the National Park 
Visitor Centre

Sunita Welch Sunita Welch In Progress

Action Outcome Owner Updater Current Period 01 September 2019

Overall Status Progress Status

5.4 Asset management

Measure Overall Action RAG

Performance Report Q2 2019/20

5 Organisation and Governance
Overall Measure RAG Overall Risk RAG Overall Action RAG

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Impact Trend Mitigation Contingency Event Assurance

Severe Monitoring officer 
has written to 
Members. 
Guidance issued 
to PAROW 
members around 
pre-
determination.

Standards 
Committee, Local 
Government 
Ombudsman for 
Wales

Very Severe

Very Severe Transformation 
programme 
underway

Change 
programme and 
ambition of 
members 
requiring 
additional 
resource from 
officers

Very Severe Pension valuation 
pending. 3 year 
projection shows 
depleted reserves 
but plans to 
intervene in 
development.

22 - Inadequate general Reserves risk to delivery of services and viability of the Authority 
through being unable to meet exceptional unforeseen 
mandatory expenditure re: planning, health and safety, 
redundancy, etc. due to reserves being at a level 
deemed inadequate by the Section 151 officer

Possible

Red

19 - Corporate capacity Constraint on Authority’s ability to deliver services, meet 
obligations and realise opportunities due to senior officer 
capacity 

Likely

Dark 
Red

18 - Financial constraint Constraint on Authority’s ability to deliver objectives and 
services due to restricted financial settlement and 

Very Likely Dark 
Red

02 - Members' compliance with code 
of conduct

Reputation and financial impacts Likely

Red

Monitoring Officer has reviewed and 
rewritten protocols on complaints 
against members - to be considered 
by NPA on 29-10-19

Risk Description Current Period October 2019

Probability RAG Comment

Corporate Governance risks

Overall Risk RAG

High Scoring Risks

Risk Register CEO CorpServ
Overall Measure RAG Overall Risk RAG Overall Action RAG

P
age 41



Impact Trend Mitigation Contingency Event Assurance

Very Severe Risk assessment 
training now 
complete for >60 
staff, a few 
remaining

Very Severe Risk assessment 
training near 
completion, 
directors' training 
complete. DPP 6 
month check 
completed at 
PYF. Asset 
review report 
received and 
being actioned.

Potential claim by 
member of staff.

09 - Compliance failure/litigation: our 
estate

The risk to the Authority brought about by a failure in 
health and safety compliance within the Authority's land 
or buildings resulting in the potential for litigation 

Possible

Red

Reviewed at H&SWG 16 Oct, 
various items noted, no change to 
scoring.

06 - Compliance failure/litigation: 
external

The risk to the Authority brought about by a failure in 
health and safety compliance in the Park as a whole 
resulting in the potential for litigation

Possible

Red

Reviewed at H&SWG 16 Oct, 
various items noted, no change to 
scoring.

Risk Description Current Period October 2019

Probability RAG Comment

Health and Safety risks

Overall Risk RAG

High Scoring Risks

Risk Register CEO CorpServ
Overall Measure RAG Overall Risk RAG Overall Action RAG

P
age 42



BBNPA - Integrated Assurance Framework 2019/20 - Q2
Assurances

Corporate 

Objective Lead Officer Project/ Action Description Activity this quarter Implications for next quarter

Overall 

RAG status Main Risks Current and planned controls for the risks

Summary Risk 

RAG Recent assurance activity

Heritage

Built heritage

Undertake a programme of 

Conservation Area development 

and review.

Conservation area appraisal has been produced for the purposes 

of public consultation for both Llangattock and Crickhowell.  

Consultation will be undertaken November of this year.  Staff 

have raised concerns at the capacity to undertake further 

reviews given the resource intensity of such work.  To this end 

the PPO(Policy) is investigating alternative methods of delivery of 

this action, including capatalising on our SLA with 

Carmarthenshire County Council Heritage team to assist in 

community based audits 

Officers will spend time refining Crickhowell 

and Llangattock CA for adoption.  Fruther 

work will be undertaken with CC Heritage 

Officers to develop an alternative model of CA 

utilising community volunteers and  CC 

Heritage Officers 

GREEN

Risk associated with meeting the action - 

capacity of the Heritage team to deliver a 

programme of CA appraisal given current 

work loads and priorities around statutory 

processing of Listed Building Applications. 

Failure to meet the action could potentailly 

result in the loss of built heritage assets 

through failure to be protected by CA status.  

Similarly where out of date appraisals exist 

the basis of our policy (and decisions made in 

accordance with it) could fail if challenged at 

appeal.

Prioritisiation of work load of Built Heritage 

Officers by line managers.  Rationalisation of 

planning related work. Further joint working 

with CC to share best practice and utilise 

their inhouse expertise to manage 

community based projects.

GREEN

Review of Crickhowell 

consultation draft by NPA 

and planned consultation 

on proposals with stautory 

bodies of control (eg 

CADW and WG)

Volunteering

Develop a programme increasing 

opportunities for volunteering 

within Heritage sector There have been a total of 27 volunteer hours dedicated to 

Archaeology this quarter, significantly down on last quarters 111 

volunteer hours.  This mostly relates to the self selecting nature 

of volunteer action and the preference to undertake works on 

days of good weather more prevelant in the spring/summer

Based on past experience it is very likely that 

the next quarter will see a further reduction in 

the number of volunteer hours dedicated to 

Heritage as the nature of the work makes 

winter time surveying an unappealing prospect 

for most visitors.  The time could be utilised to 

look at how Officers of the Authority could 

develop the programme with an aim to have 

opportunities for expanded volunteer numbers 

come Quarter 4

GREEN

Capacity of heritage officers to take on the 

management of volunteers given work load 

within statutory planning function. 

Prioritisiation of work load of  Heritage 

Officers by line managers.  Rationalisation of 

planning related work. Further joint working 

with Archaeological Trusts to share best 

practice and utilise their inhouse expertise 

to manage community based projects.

Place plans
Place Plan development  for Brecon 

supported  Residents survey analysis, sub group action development & 

stakeholder engagement Finalising actions for draft plan

GREEN
Temporary project support by NPA officer 

(WG funded) is driving the process. Ongoing 

officer support essential to finalise plan WG funding for role until September 2020

Details Actions/Status Risks and Controls

Conserve and 

enhnace the 

cultural heritage 

of the Park's 

communities 

including the use 

of the Welsh 

Langauage; Built 

Heritage and the 

Historic 

Environment.

Tracy 

Nettleton

18/10/19 R:\Corporate\IT\Public\Performance Management\Integrated Assurance Framework\IntegratedAssuranceFramework2019-20Q2.xlsxIntegratedAssuranceFramework2019-20Q2.xlsxHeritage 1 of 5

P
age 43



BBNPA - Integrated Assurance Framework 2019/20 - Q2
Assurances

Corporate 

Objective Lead Officer Project/ Action Description Activity this quarter Implications for next quarter

Overall 

RAG status Main Risks

Current and planned controls 

for the risks

Summary Risk 

RAG Recent assurance activity

Landscape and 

Biodiversity

Develop plans Finalise the NRAP

NRAP launched at RWAS.  Inputting to SoPR 

indicators; commencing work on ecological 

network mapping and State of Nature Report

Habitat network mapping and State of Nature report 

work underway (Corporate objectives); also awaiting 

outputs from Reading University's landscape 

modelling.  Presentation from VWT due on their 

habitat suitability and permeability modelling (species-

based); meeting scheduled for ERAMMP and 

designated landscapes' data needs December.

GREEN

Staff time, data, 

methodologies.

Regular team planning by 

Ecology team.

GREEN

Agree 

priorities

Prioritise the NRAP actions, 

including the five key actions.

Next LNP meeting is October 22nd, where 

priorities will be developed.

LNP governance will be resolved.  BBNPA has a 

useful NRAP budget, which will be offered as 

leverage towards larger funding; "Vital Signs project 

development" also underway (ENRAW project 

development grant), with review meetings scheduled; 

final outputs due February 2020.
GREEN

Seeking agreement, which is a 

low risk.  Higher risk is 

securing sufficient will to act.

Will be achieved by agreeing 

priorities from the actions 

agreed already, and by 

agreeing governance.  Is a 

role for Members to work 

with partner organisations' 

boards and trustees, and 

Directors to work with 

partners' equivalents, to 

secure high level 

collaboration.

GREEN

Engagement 

and 

communicatio

ns

NRAP communications plan 

suitable for LNP use

Delays in developing the NRAP 

communications plan; internal (BBNPA) lines of 

communication now resolved.  Plan now 

drafted.

Internal meeting scheduled for NY to finalise the plan 

once LNP governance is finalised and priorities 

agreed.

AMBER

Main risk, of unclear internal 

lines of communication, now 

resolved.  Lead role is 

Bronwen and Sunita working 

with Rebecca and Nicky.

Governance structure 

agreement, and priorities 

agreed, and clear internal 

lines of communication. GREEN

Risks and ControlsDetails Actions/Status

Develop and 

deliver a Nature 

Recovery Action 

Plan - ‘A Future 

with Nature at 

its Heart’ to 

restore wildlife 

and habitats and 

build a network 

of resilient and 

better connected 

ecosystems 

within the 

National Park

Paul 

Sinnadurai

18/10/19 R:\Corporate\IT\Public\Performance Management\Integrated Assurance Framework\IntegratedAssuranceFramework2019-20Q2.xlsxIntegratedAssuranceFramework2019-20Q2.xlsxL&B 2 of 5

P
age 44



BBNPA - Integrated Assurance Framework 2019/20 - Q2
Assurances

Corporate 

Objective Lead Officer Project/ Action Description Activity this quarter

Implications for next 

quarter

Overall RAG 

status Main Risks

Current and planned controls 

for the risks

Summary Risk 

RAG Recent assurance activity

Communities - 

Public 

transport 

promotion

Public transport information on 

destination website. 
Content in development for new website 

better linking and promoting Website will be live 

AMBER

Technical challenges re data 

for website Almost resolved

AMBER

Project meetings and 

PMRs

Schools 

inclusion 

activity

Fairplay project (transport funds for 

schools to have an educational visit 

to the National Park)
This project runs on the academic year (not 

the FY). Promotion to schools of the funds and 

bookings taken.

Strong interest from 

schools and bookings 

made through the rest of 

the academic year. There 

is high demand as the 

new curricula moves 

GREEN

Schools booking and we then 

don't have the staff to deliver. Managing bookings carefully. 

AMBER

Project meetings and 

PMRs

Active aging 

and small steps

Active Ageing provides supported 

visits and capacity building for older 

people to access NP. Small Steps 

action research project with Powys 

Teaching health Board

Active Ageing delivery with new groups from 

Ystradgynlais, Merthyr, Abergavenny & 

Hay.Small Steps delivery with secondary care 

mental health patients with impact monitroing 

by PTHB Psychologists . Positve mid term 

evaluation 

Continued delivery . AA 

finishes 31.12.12 so focus 

on building capacity for 

sustaimed activity beyond 

programme end

GREEN Staff cover to meet AALs 

ratios during staff absences for 

long erm sickness

Flexibility within SD and 

between PET teams to 

provide cover 

GREEN

Project meetings and 

PMRs

Communities - 

SDF Projects
To date 26 projects awarded SDF funding 

for projects in 2019/20

SDF committee grant awards. Project support 

and monitoring, claims administration. 

SDF commitee 

November

GREEN

Projects failing attract all 

match funding to start & spend 

to profile inc. in year. Possibly 

2 projects  in this position  in 

Q3

In grant award letter projects 

are advised that match 

funding must be in place 

within 3 months or project 

will be subject to SDF panel 

review

GREEN

Project meetings and 

PMRs

Waterfalls 

Country

Integrated project delivering in 19/20 and 

developing partnership and external 

funding eoi and bid

Masterplan & vision developed, Recruitment 

Community Officer, Task & Finish group  & 

2XBoard meetings held. Work programme 

agreed &  progressed

Ongoing work 

programme. November 

eoi submission

GREEN

Key partner involvement

Officers are engaging direct 

with each partner

GREEN
Project meetings and 

PMRs

Get Into the 

Beacons 

project

Training project for NEET young people 

with Princes Trust. 
Cohort 4 completed successfully July. Project 

extension for extra Cohort 5 agreed by funder 

Arwain. Cohort 5 recruited.Claim submitted

Delivery until 13.12.19 

then evaluation & report.

GREEN

Temporary Supervisor cover,

Internal secondment  to role 

for Cohort 5

GREEN
Project meetings and 

PMRs

Risks and ControlsDetails Actions/Status

Collaborate to 

identify key 

challenges and 

progress 

innovative 

solutions for 

sustainable living 

in the National 

Park

Clare Parsons

Enable a diverse 

cross section of 

society to gain 

health and 

wellbeing 

benefits from the 

National Park

Clare 

Parsons/ 

Sunita Welch

18/10/19 R:\Corporate\IT\Public\Performance Management\Integrated Assurance Framework\IntegratedAssuranceFramework2019-20Q2.xlsxIntegratedAssuranceFramework2019-20Q2.xlsxRC 3 of 5

P
age 45



BBNPA - Integrated Assurance Framework 2019/20 - Q2
Assurances

Corporate 

Objective Lead Officer Project/ Action Description Activity this quarter

Implications for next 

quarter

Overall RAG 

status Main Risks

Current and planned 

controls for the risks

Summary Risk 

RAG Recent assurance activity

Organisational and 

governance review

Reviewing internal structures and 

the governance structure to ensure 

they are fit for purpose Restructure and governance proposals going 

to NPA on 29/10

Pending consultation 

period and governance 

review 

recommendations

GREEN Poor staff communications

Regulatory burden capacity 

implications

Email updates, staff briefings, 

role of SMF, review of 

reporting requirements

GREEN
Ongoing and recent 

communication activity

Policy Forum

Encouraging all members to 

contribute to the business of the 

Policy Forum

Attendance levels have varied, those Members 

attending have shown engagement and made 

contributions.

Pending governance 

review 

recommendations

GREEN

Member availability

Capacity of meetings to deal 

with business at hand for LDP 

and NPMP as well as other 

issues

Forward planning of 

timetable and agenda

AMBER

Gathering evidence

Building the evidence base to 

support policy development and 

decision making

LDP data and evidence gathering progressing 

on track.  Data nearing completion for SoPR 

but still needs gap review and addition from 

State of Nature and ERAMMP year 1 reports.

New NPMP project 

team will need to review 

and update

AMBER
Officer capacity, access to 

data

New project approach, 

escalating unfulfilled requests

AMBER

Formation of NPMP team

Communications 

plan

Produce and commence delivery of 

a clear engagement strategy and 

supporting communication plan(s) 

which links delivery and advocacy, 

setting out our stall

Communication strategy drafted and to be 

reviewed by Corporate Governance Team.  

First position statement drafted.

Strategy to be finalised 

and agreed

AMBER
Lack of clear corporate voice 

and position on major issues

Produce strategy and 

accompanying posiition 

statements aligned to work 

priorities

AMBER
Development of position 

statement approach

Advocacy work
Using success to gain political 

support and resources
Some positive engagement with WG and key 

partners.  BMLUP short listed for award.

Awaiting news on budget 

settlement.

AMBER

Lack of coherent approach to 

demonstrating and sharing 

project outcomes and 

successes

New project reporting 

process under development

AMBER

Develop clear 

future priorities

Establish clear strategic priorities 

against which to develop & design 

new projects
Priority work programmes & focus areas 

endorsed by Members at Policy Forum

If approved at NPA as 

part of Change 

Programme package, 

revised project 

development process 

will be established

GREEN

Projects developed outside 

new process

All Senior Managers and 

Managers briefed about new 

process & requirement for it 

to be followed

GREEN

Revision of draft project 

development process 

documents in line with 

new work programmes & 

focus areas

Align project 

reporting with new 

work programmes 

& focus areas

Integrate new work programmes & 

focus areas as key criteria into 

project output & outcomes 

reporting
NPMP review process to be designed around 3 

work programmes

Need to review ongoing 

project reporting to align 

to new programmes & 

focus areas

AMBER

Lack of alignment prevents 

effective reporting of project 

outputs and outcomes against 

new priorities

Review of project reporting 

to involve lead project 

officers to obtain buy in & 

support

AMBER Confirmation of NPMP 

review process to align 

with work programmes

Develop revised 

project evaluation 

process

Align future project evaluation 

process with new priorities & 

feedback learning into ongoing 

project development
Initial discussion on revision of project 

evaluation process and timeline for 

development & introduction

Need to draft revised 

evaluation process & 

documents

AMBER

Lack of effective evaluation 

process prevents clear 

understand of success of 

projects against stated 

objectives & ongoing 

organisational learning to 

feedback into future project 

development

Development of revised 

evaluation process to involve 

lead project officers & other 

relevant colleagues to obtain 

buy in & support

AMBER

Review of current project 

outcomes against 

emerging new priorities as 

part of change 

programme, with 

identification of priority 

projects as a result 

(shared with Members at 

Polic Forum)

Visitor sites 

development plan
Flagship site proposal Draft paper prepared. Scheduled for Policy 

Forum end of November. Bid submitted to 

WG for natural play area.

Dependent on Policy 

Forum outcomes. If WG 

bid approved for natural 

play area work will need 

to be prioritized.

AMBER

Late decision by WG on 

funding for natural play area 

and work needed before end 

of FY would put pressure 

capacity.

Natural play area project has 

been divided int planning and 

delivery.

AMBER
On-going work by SG, 

SW and WL

Telling our story
Public Engagement Strategy on 

hold until new priorities confirmed
On-going work is progressing on all service 

areas, visitor centres, information and 

interpretation, education services.

Next quarter is a good 

quarter for planning

AMBER

Team over committed

Visitor sites 

strategic plan
Overall plan awaiting as above

Plan prepared to move Abergavenny TIC to 

the Town Hall with partners.

Actual move after half 

term.

AMBER
Delays to building works by 

building owners.

Winter is a good time for 

this project.

AMBER

Move approved at CGT.

Organisation and Governance - Objective 2

Details

The Authority is 

recognised for 

the quality of its 

decision-making 

and governance

Julian Atkins

Actions/Status Risks and Controls

Organisation and Governance - Objective 1

Sunita Welch

To improve the 

way we 

communicate 

our work

Julian Atkins

Organisation and Governance - Objective 3

Organisation and Governance - Objective 4

To define a 

programme for 

developing the 

Authority’s 

public facing 

property assets 

to help the 

Authority tell the 

National Park 

stories in 

inspirational 

ways

Steve Gray

To improve the 

way we select, 

design, 

implement and 

evaluate projects

18/10/19 R:\Corporate\IT\Public\Performance Management\Integrated Assurance Framework\IntegratedAssuranceFramework2019-20Q2.xlsxIntegratedAssuranceFramework2019-20Q2.xlsxOrg&Gov 4 of 5

P
age 46



BBNPA - Integrated Assurance Framework 2019/20 - Q2
Assurances

Corporate 

Objective Lead Officer Project/ Action Description Activity this quarter

Implications for next 

quarter

Overall RAG 

status Main Risks

Current and planned controls 

for the risks

Summary Risk 

RAG Recent assurance activity

Economic 

Tourism 

business 

engagement

Several projects & workstreams including 

Day to Stay, Geopark marketing, 

Ambassadors
Day to Stay project work including appointing 

filming contractors, meeting with businesses in 

Sept, 1 event held

filming work delayed 

from October due to 

weather

GREEN

Promotion not reaching target 

group Social media plan agreed

GREEN

Sustainable 

desintation 

partnership

Partnership with tourism stakeholders 

and business sector representatives New destination website progressing well. 

Partnership with Brecon Beacons Tourism on 

this project working well.

Staff time needed to 

finish content on new 

website and launch.

AMBER

Destination website - technical 

risk over data management.

Team working closely 

together on final stages of 

project.

AMBER

Visitor 

experience

Ambassadors, Geopark Marketing 

project, Visit Wales partnership 

projects Wales Way Day to Stay 

NPVC Platform 1 partnership

Ambassadors training. Geopark marketing & 

discovery points development work. Wales 

Way installation development. Day to stay 

events. Other projectsPartnership with 

Platform 1 at NPVC going well. 

Ongoing planned project 

work inc. Day to Stay 

filming, installations, 

training

GREEN

Planning for Wales Way 

installations Application submitted

GREEN

Risks and ControlsDetails Actions/Status

Clare 

Parsons/Sunit

a Welch

Work with key 

partner 

organisations to 

promote and 

support 

sustainable 

income 

generating 

opportunities in 

the National 

Park while 

preserving the 

special natural 

and cultural 

qualities of the 

NP

18/10/19 R:\Corporate\IT\Public\Performance Management\Integrated Assurance Framework\IntegratedAssuranceFramework2019-20Q2.xlsxIntegratedAssuranceFramework2019-20Q2.xlsxSED 5 of 5

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 COMPLIMENTS LIST Date:  17th October 2019

NO DATE COMMENTS
29 25/09/2019 Email from South Wales University of South Wales, thanking Hayley Sharp and Geraint Roberts & Education Team for a 

fantastic day.  The comments and feedback from the students and the teaching staff were all positive and reflected by a high 
standard of presentations the students done.

28 16/09/2019 Email to DC Helpdesk for providing them with invaluable assistance
27 11/09/2019 Email thanking Jane Pashley for helping to provide information on Tree Preservation Order so promptly
26 11/09/2019 Thank you email for Sheila O’Brien for being proactive and pragmatic way in dealing with the enforcement case 
25 03/09/2019 Email from a Member of the public  thanking Jane Pashley for the impressive service, speed in dealing with their query 
24 02/09/2019 Email thanking Jane Pashley for the swiftness of her response.
23 26/08/2019 Email from member of a ground force engineering company would like to thank Jon Pimm for the way he handled a high rate 

resident who was cursing at him.
22 21/08/2019 Email received thanking Jane Pashley for the her assistance and the comprehensive answer provided 
21 20/08/2019 Thank you email for Clare Brooks and enforcement team for handling the case with professionalism 
20 20/08/2019 Thank you email from Brecon Town Council to Chris O Brien and Helen Lucocq for attending meeting, it was very useful.
19 08/08/2019 Thanking you email from Filming company  for the professionalism and guidance from Jon Pimm, Bronwyn Lally and Wyn 

Morgan 
18 05/08/2019 Thank you email to Kittie Powell for the prompt response in relation to urgent tree-cutting 
17 30/07/2019 Email from member of the public who was attendee at a meeting in relation to LDP Consultation , and would like to thank  

BBNPA Planners for addressing potential queries from the publics in relation to LDP Consultation 
16 25/07/2019 Thank you note from one of the Prince Trust thanking the authority for the opportunity to work and learn and for the 

experience which has given them confidence.
15 18/07/2019 Email from member of the Public thanking the Prince’s Trust for doing a first class job on the Rights of Way at Old Rectory 

Close
14 17/07/2019 Member of the public thanking Development Control admin team member Alex Ham for providing a brilliant hatched plan 

and for all her help.
13 16/07/2019 Member of the public thanking Development Control admin team member Sarah Halliday for very speedy and helpful 

response
12 02/07/2019 Member of the public thanking Clare Brooks for carrying out brief check of the authority’s records in relation to building in 

question
11 07/06/2019 Thank you email sent to Donna Bowhay and Kate Edwards for the speedy attention to their query 
10 28/06/2019 Member of the public thanking mountain centre staff Gaynor for her time and effort spent in replying to them 

P
age 49

A
genda Item

 8



9 12/06/2019 Member of the public from Cardiff Ramblers thanking Lisa Lloyd, Clive Williams, the Wardens, and volunteers for creating 
the paths behind the trees as discussed. 

8 03/06/2019 Various thank you emails to Sunita Welch, Suzanna Jones, Alan Bowring, Wayne Evans, Peter Bradley, Geraint Roberts, 
Toby Small for doing a tremendous job in Hay Festival Walk.

7 03/06/2019 Thank you to Richard Farquhar and Rhys Powell for their assistance in taking part with the repairing the PYO Letterbox Aven 
at Porth yr Ogof Cave entrance to stabilize the platform, from Caving advisor to BBNPA 

6 29/05/2019 Thank you email to Hayley Sharp, Geraint Roberts and Anna Edwards from Chew Magna visit for the wonderful time the children 
had. The children gained so much from both the great range of activities that you provided but also by your warm, professional 
approach which made the children feel very comfortable and helped increased their confidence levels.

5 21/05/2019 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water thanking Jon Pimm for his assistance at Llyn y fan Fawr.  He was very supportive and knowledgeable 
which made their task easier.

4 30/04/2019 Thank you email to Donna Bowhay for the help and input 
3 30/04/2019 Received various compliments for the information staff at the NPVC for they help and guidance
2 22/04/2019 Compliment form sent into the authority stating “My family and I recently walked the path from Pandy to Hay Bluff. The amount 

of work done on the path is massive. The area is superb and the path made it relatively easy going. Thanks so much for all the 
work to enable easy access and protect the scenery. It was good to see the paragliders flying the area as well. They all 
seemed very friendly and polite.
Thanks so much”

1 02/04/2019 Thank you email to Sam Ridge for the help provided to filming company, stating he was amazing 

NB – Highlighted columns are new compliments since last Audit & Scrutiny Committee Meeting 

P
age 50



Audit & Scrutiny Committee 
Complaints

Date:  1st April 2019 – 17th October 2019

TOTAL OPEN CLOSED COMMENTS

Total Number of 
complaints

19 3 16 Three ongoing
 (two within timescale and 
one has extended time) 

Acknowledged 
within 5 working 
days

Yes:  18
No:   1

N/A N/A

Responded within 
20 working days

Yes:  15
No:    1

3 N/A

Stage II requests

Stage II declined

2

0

1 1

Upheld
Not Upheld
Partial 
Ongoing
Withdrawn

3
10
2
3
1

N/A N/A

EX- Gratia 
Payments

0 N/A N/A

BREAKDOWN IN  
DEPARTMENTS

Planning 
Department

11 N/A N/A

Countryside 7 N/A N/A

CEO Department 1 N/A N/A

NOT SPECIFIED N/A N/A

Page 51



Page 52



Audit & Scrutiny Committee 
SUMMARY OF COMPLAINTS

1st April 2019– 17th October 2019

NO: Summary of Complaint Date received Date responded Responded 
within  20 w/d 

timescale

Complaint 
upheld

Department 
responsible

19 Complaint in relation to enforcement case 20/09/2019 Ongoing Planning

18 Complaint in relation to filming taking place on the Black 
Mountains

03/10/2019 ongoing Countryside

17 Complaint received about a planning application that the 
authority has granted

22/09/2019 ongoing Planning

16 Complaint – about facilities (toilets) at the Waterfall Car Park 30/08/2019 02/09/2019 YES Upheld Countryside

15 Complaint in how a planning application was treated 19/08/2019 Ongoing NO Not Upheld Planning 

14 Complaint about National Park Visitor Centre 08/08/2019 ONGOING YES Upheld Countryside

13 Complaint about a Member of staff’s attitude towards 
equality and diversity issues.

27/07/2019 29/07/2019 YES Partial Countryside

12 Complaint received against Officer representing their powers 
in order to fore fill their own interest costing the complainant 
considerable amount of money. Changing the goal posts on 
several occasions 

22/07/2019 19/08/2019 YES Not upheld Planning

P
age 53



11 Complaint in relation to Enforcement case 20/07/2019 15/08/2019 YES Not upheld Planning

10 Complaint in the way the SAR has been handled. 24/06/2019 19/07/2019 YES Not upheld Corporate 

9 Complaint  - Adoption of SPG  - Former Mid-Wales Hospital 26/06/2019 15/08/2019 YES Not upheld Planning

8 Complaint in relation to planning having not responded 
within timescale

10/06/2019 18/06/2019 YES Upheld Planning

7 Complaint in relation to publishing personal information on 
authority’s website

31/05/2019 07/06/2019 YES Not upheld Planning

6 Complaint received in relation to Mountain Centre Caters 
renewal.

14/05/2019 31/05/2019 YES Not upheld Countryside 

5 Complaint about an officer making unprofessional 
comments

14/05/2019 Withdrawn by 
Complainant. Been 
dealt with 
internally

N/A N/A Countryside 

4 Complaint – BBNPA not following the correct protocol 
without notifying neighbours and granted planning 
permission 

03/05/2019 06/06/2019 YES Not upheld Planning 

3 Complaint  - Adoption of SPG  - Former Mid-Wales Hospital 02/05/2019 03/06/2019 YES Not Upheld Planning

2 Complaint  - National Park Failing - Planning Application 
18/16603/FUL

16/04/2019 17/05/2019 YES Partial Planning

1 Complaint in relation to Mid Wales Hospital 14/04/2019 02/05/2019 YES Not Upheld Planning

N.B- Columns coloured yellow are new Complaints received and updates since last Meeting 

P
age 54



Audit & Scrutiny Committee 
Complaints  

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION  

1st April 2019 – 17th October 2019

TOTAL OPEN CLOSED EXTENSION 
OF TIME 

COMMENTS

Total Number of FOI 11 1 10

Acknowledged within 5 
working days

YES: 11
NO:    

N/A N/A N/A

Responded within 20 
working days

YES: 
NO:

ONGOING:     

9
1
1

N/A N/A One open
(still within timescales) 

Internal Reviews 1 0 1

Subject Access Request 2 0 2

P
age 55



P
age 56



[Type text] 1 [Type text]

Audit & Scrutiny Committee 
SUMMARY OF FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS

1st April 2019 – 17th October 2019

N.B- Columns coloured yellow are new FOI requests and updates since last Meeting 

Number Nature of Freedom of Information Request Date Received Date responded
Responded 

within 
timescale

11 FOI request for information the authority holds on Trial Hunting 07/10/2019 Ongoing

10 FOI request for information on 3 years tax years on running legal 
function/department

20/09/2019 10/10/2019 YES

9 FOI request for information on exchange emails between Principle Planning Officer 
and members

05/09/2019 01/10/2019 YES

8 FOI request on Information relating to an enforcement case 08/08/2019 08/09/2019 YES

7 Information requested on documentation that has taken place referring to 
Pontneathfechan Community Centre

01/08/2019 27/08/2019 YES

6 FOI Information request and Subject Access Request relating to Enforcement case. It 
was received in planning on the 17th May, but was accidently missed. It was sent to 
MZ on the 21st June.  It was agreed with  on a further extension

17/05/2019 07/08/2019 NO

5 FOI information in relation to the Feasibility study for which the Black Mountains 
College was awarded £82,500 

26/06/2019 17/07/2019 YES

4 FOI information relating to Ecologists within the Authority 06/05/2019 23/05/2019 YES
3 Information request on amount spent and brief summary of project/purpose 

consultants the authority used between Jan 2016 to Jan 2019
03/05/2019 Clarification on 

request sent but 
no reply 

Closed 

2 Seeking information on enforcement action taken by planning authority in relation to 
properties offered for short-term lets via platforms such as Airbnb

25/04/2019 09/05/2019 YES

1 Information on Former Mid Wales Hospital 08/04/2019 09/05/2019 YES

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Draft Annual Report 2018/19

Name of 
Committee

 Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Date 25 Oct 2019

Report Author P Funnell

Job title Systems and Performance Manager

Contact Details paul.funnell@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To allow Members the opportunity to comment on the 
Annual Report before its submission to the Authority for 
approval and subsequent publication

Single Integrated 
Assessment

n/a

List of  Enclosures Draft Annual Report 2018/19

Public Interest Test n/a

Recommendation(s) a) That Members agree the submission of the report 
to the Authority for approval subject to any 
amendments agreed at the meeting

1.1 Overview

The draft annual report enclosed sets out the Authority’s performance against its Corporate 
Plan for 2018/19.  

The report will be formatted with graphic and design work to improve its appearance, and 
translated, prior to digital publication.

The report is later than is normally desired for various officer capacity reasons.  It has been 
noted that Members wish to see the report for the current performance year earlier and 
presented alongside the statement of accounts.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) That Members agree the submission of the report to the Authority for 
approval subject to any amendments agreed at the meeting

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Annual Report on the 

Corporate Plan 2018/2019 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Draft 1 – 27/08/2019 

Page 61



 

1 | P a g e  
 

Contents 

1. Foreword…………………………………………………………………………………. 2 

2. Introduction………………………………………………………………………………. 3 

3. Reporting on Delivery……………………………………………………………………. 5 

4. Conclusion……………………………………………………………………………….. 13 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 62



 

2 | P a g e  
 

 

1. Foreword 

 

As incoming Chair, taking up my position in July of this year, it is encouraging to see through this 

Annual Report for the last financial year – April 2018 to March  that we are making meaningful 

progress across those four priority areas – historic environment and cultural heritage, landscapes 

and biodiversity, recreation and communities and businesses. 

Despite the challenges faced by public sector organisations, Authority staff continue to deliver 

positive outcomes through partnerships working and joint funded projects which are significantly 

benefiting the National Park and communities. 

We have successfully protected and enhanced two Scheduled Ancient Monumnets (SAM) at Fan Foel 

and 3 Wells and through proactive engagement, work has started at Pontyspigg, Crossways Cottages 

and Mamhiland Farmhouse. Additional works from that originally planned at the Gunpowder Works 

in Glynneath were made possible through shrude project management and cost savings.  

The Black Mountains Land Use Partnership has exceeding our expectations, despite being faced by 

several challenges this financial year. Huge strides have been made in delivering peat restoration, 

bracken control and ecological impact assessments. BMLUP is an excellent example of how 

partnership project is having positive impacts on communities and looking at new ways of working 

for sustainable land management. 

The Local Nature Partnership has been established and a flagship Nature Recovery Action Plan 

published, underlined by the themes of SMNR and Nature Recovery in the Values and Resillient 

priority statement. This is one of the most important documents the National Park has been 

involved in producing with partners and with continued support from the Authority, research is 

underway to map the Park’s ecosystems to help us understand more about how they all connect. 

Aligning ourselves firmly with the delivery of the Welsh Government’s Wellbeing of Future 

Generations Act, we have engaged with young people and encouraged them to visit our National 

Park.  Education officers are continuing to deliver exceptional learning experiences, working with a 

staggering 7013 young people and adults over 25,660.5 hours. Programmes were tailored around the 

Gunpowder Works, as well as the BMLUP, and 22% of education lessons were in Welsh. Fairplay 

funding has enabled us to engage with schools with a high percentage of free schools meals, making 

sure that the National Park can be accessed by everyone.  

The Active Ageing project and Small Steps are helping us making strides in delivering key health and 

well-being objectives. As did the Inspiroment project, which saw us working with 45 groups and 

several partners, including Gwalia Care and Support, Cardiff People First and Powys People First, 

developing bespoke walks and transport routes into the National Park. 

A document we recently published was the updated Rights of Way Improvement Plan and adopted 

by the Authority to enhance and maintain the infrastructure of the National Park.  

The Ambassador programme is continuing to go from strength-to-strength, supported by the 

Tourism Growth Officer. With a target to train a further 150 ambassadors, this year 222 people 

engaged with the programme.  

Page 63



 

3 | P a g e  
 

This report recognises that there are areas where we have not made the progress we would have 

liked. We have stated our reasons for this and how we have reprioritised work to meet this 

challenge. 

Thank you to all the volunteers, staff and partners who enable us to deliver these services and meet 

our corporate objectives, each and everyone plays an important role and I am humbled to the Chair 

of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority.  

 

Cllr. Gareth Ratcliffe 

Chair of the Authority 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



 

4 | P a g e  
 

2. Introduction 

 

2.2 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is please to publish its Annual Report on the 

delivery of the Corporate Plan for the year ending 31st March 2019. The Corporate Plan, 

which was published in April 2018, can be found at: 

 

2.3 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is designated under the Environment Act 1995. 

Section 61 of this Act sets out the Park’s statutory purposes:  

 

First Purpose: To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the 

National Parks; 

Second Purpose: To promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special 

qualities by the public. 

 

In pursuit of the two statutory purposed, the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority has a 

duty to: 

 

‘seek to foster the economic and social wellbeing of local communities within the National Park by 

working closely with the agencies and local authorities responsible for these matters.’ 

 

2.4 This report considers the National Park Authority’s progress against the 4 Key Work Areas 

identified in the Corporate Plan; Heritage, Landscape and Biodiversity, Resilient 

Communities and Sustainable Economic Development. The report also sets out the 

Authority’s contribution to delivering the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act and 

discharging its general duty under the Welsh Government’s Local Government Measure.  

2.5 The Corporate Plan also presents the annual view of the Authority’s work in delivery against 

the National Park Management Plan 2015-2020, which sets out an ambitious programmes of 

work within a fifteen-year horizon. The Corporate Plan also sets out the annual work of the 

Authority itself. 

2.6 The National Park Management Plan is the central reference point for all our strategic 

documents and was produced in consultation with stakeholders, landowners and 

communities throughout the Park. The Plan was reviewed and an updated version was 

adopted in 2015, covering a 5 year period until 2020. In 2011, the Authority aligned its 

Corporate Goals and objectives, which set the context for the Corporate Plan, with the 6 

Management Plan themes taken from the Management Plan as shown in Figure 1 below.  

 

Page 65



 

5 | P a g e  
 

Figure 1: Six Themes from the Management Plan 2015-2020 

2.7 The Management Plan is the single most important policy document for the National Park 

Authority, and is a plan for the whole National Park, not just for the Authority. In comparison, the 

Corporate Plan is specific to the performance of the Authority itself. The six themes from the 

Management Plan are encompassed by four Key Work Areas which the Corporate Plan used to 

identify well-being objectives. The four Key Work Areas and well-being objectives are:  

Key Work Area BBNPA Well Being Objective 

1. Heritage  

Brecon Beacons National Park has a strong 

historic and cultural heritage. By focussing 

on heritage the Authority will ensure direct 

contribution to, ‘A Wales of vibrant 

culture and thriving Welsh language.’ 

The Park’s historic environment & cultural heritage 

will be conserved, enhanced and promoted.  

2. Landscape and Biodiversity 

Conserving and enhancing the natural 

beauty and wildlife of the National Park 

is enshrined in the 1st Purpose of the 

Authority and contributes directly to a 

more ‘Resilient Wales’.  

The Authority will contribute to the 

maintenance and enhancement of landscapes 

and biodiversity through practical programmes 

and partnership work. 

3. Resilient Communities 

Creating resilient communities can 

improve feelings of well-being, reduce 

stress and can be inspirational. By 

promoting activity, encouraging 

volunteers and supporting those with 

physical, economic or other 

restrictions this objective contributes 

directly to, ‘A Wales of Cohesive 

Communities’, ‘A Healthier 

Wales’, and ‘A More Equal Wales’.  

The Authority will contribute to creating 

strong communities within the National Park 

and providing accessible physical activity for 

communities outside of the Park.  

Page 66



 

6 | P a g e  
 

4. Sustainable Economic 

Development  

Creating sustainable economic 

development links directly to ‘A 

Prosperous Wales’ and ‘A Resilient 

Wales’. Increased employment will 

support ‘A More Equal Wales’ and 

‘A Healthier Wales’.  

The Authority will contribute by encouraging 

the development of new and existing businesses 

and increasing the number of jobs while 

promoting sustainable use of natural resources.  

Figure 2: BBNPA four Key Work Areas and Well Being Objectives 

 

2.8 You can find out more information about the National Park Authority and download this 

report from our website at www.beacons-npa.gov.uk or you can ask for a paper copy by 

ringing 01874 624437. 

 

2.9 The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is required to comply with certain standards in 

relation to the Welsh Language, provided through a Compliance Notice prepared by The 

Welsh Language Commissioner. The Standards and accompanying Brecon Beacons National 

Park Authority reports can be found on our web site at the following address: 

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/our-policies-and-

procedures/welsh-language-scheme/ 

 

2.10 Other information that the Authority puts in the public domain as a matter of 

course is summarised in its Publication Scheme which can be viewed at: 

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/our-policies-and-

procedures/publication-scheme/ 

2.11 If you would like any additional information on the Corporate Plan or would like to 

suggest areas of work where we require improvement, please write to Mr. Julian Atkins, 

Chief Executive, Brecon Beacons National Park Authority, Plas y Ffynnon, Cambrian Way, 

Brecon, LD3 7HP, Powys or email improvements@beacons-npa.gov.uk. 

 

 

3. Reporting on Delivery 

 

Our performance against the four Key Work Areas is set out below. Some activities span 

multiple reporting/financial years and where this is the case the target will generally be to 

progress the activity to a certain point within the year. The actual results will show whether 

we have achieved what we set out to do and these use a colour coding system as follows: 

 

Green: achieved or exceeded target 

Amber: fell just short of target 

Red: fell considerably short of target 

Page 67

file:///C:/Users/clarep/Downloads/www.beacons-npa.gov.uk
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/our-policies-and-procedures/welsh-language-scheme/
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/our-policies-and-procedures/welsh-language-scheme/
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/our-policies-and-procedures/publication-scheme/
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/our-policies-and-procedures/publication-scheme/
mailto:improvements@beacons-npa.gov.uk


 

3.1 Heritage 

Brecon Beacons National Park has a strong historic and cultural heritage. By focussing on heritage the Authority will ensure direct contribution to, ‘A Wales of vibrant 

culture and thriving Welsh language.’ 

What we set out to achieve What we achieved  

Well-being 

Objective/Action 

Target 

2018/2019 

Actual 

2018/2019 

Commentary Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

2017/2018 

We will protect and enhance the 

Park’s archaeology by undertaking 

positive conservation measure on at 

least 2 Scheduled Ancient 

Monuments 

2 2 Conservation work has been undertaken on 2 SAMs: 

- Fan Foel 

- 3 Wells Cairn 

2 3 

We will protect the Park’s most at 

risk listed buildings through proactive 

work on at least 2 buildings on the 

Buildings at Risk Register and 

continue to review the Register for 

opportunities to undertake positive 

conservation measures 

3 3 Work has been undertaken in relation to: 

- Pontyspigg 

- Crossways Cottages 

- Mamhiland Farmhouse 

3 6 

We will complete an appraisal for 

Crickhowell and Llangattock 

Conservation Area 

100% 40% Work had commenced on raising Community 

Awareness of the project, with substantive work being 

completed on the appraisal during Q2 and Q3 

2018/2019. There has since been a lack of progress on 

this Action due to issues with staff resourcing. The 

issue has now been resolved, however the action 

currently remains outstanding, with completion 

anticipated for Q2 2019/20. The remainder of the 

work will be undertaken in Q3 and Q4.  

n/a n/a 

We will commence an appraisal of 

the Monmouthshire and Brecon 

Canal to assess its potential for a 

2 

 

1 It was hoped the appraisal would have commenced 

during 2018, however due to staffing issues (as 

highlighted above) it is now anticipated that the initial 

n/a n/a 

P
age 68



 

1 | P a g e  
 

Conservation Area, and will review 

the potential for further conservation 

areas within the Park Area 

- Appraisal of 

Monmouthsh

ire and 

Brecon 

Canal 

- Review 

potential for 

further 

conservation 

areas 

appraisal work will begin in Q4 of 2019/2020 and will 

be completed during 2020/2021.  

 

Investigations were undertaken and completed to 

review the potential for further conservation areas 

within the Park. The results identified that there is no 

capacity within the communities identified to 

undertake this work. 

We will proactively promote the 

Park’s heritage through awareness 

and engagement activities 

  The Education Service (as described below 3.3) 

delivers heritage content in all delivery. In this 

reporting year both the Black Mountains Landuse 

Partnership and Gunpowder Works programmes have 

delivered extensively on heritage. 

n/a n/a 

Undertake consolidation of ‘at risk’ 

structures on the Gunpowder 

Works site 

100% 100% All works were completed on time and signed off by 

Q3 2018/2019. Savings were made throughout the 

project which allowed additional works to be 

undertaken.   

n/a n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 Landscape and Biodiversity  

 

Conserving and enhancing the natural beauty and wildlife of the National Park is enshrined in the 1st Purpose of the Authority and contributes 

directly to a more ‘Resilient Wales’. 

 

P
age 69



 

2 | P a g e  
 

What we set out to achieve What we achieved  

Well-being 

Objective/Action 

Target 

2018/2019 

Actual 

2018/2019 

Commentary Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

2017/2018 

Undertake tree safety felling around 

the Gunpowder Works structures 

and replant with native species mix 

Works to 

be 

completed 

by end of 

2019 

50% - On 

track 

NRW consents and feedback caused various delays and 

amendments to this action, meaning that much less 

timber could be extracted that originally envisaged and 

agreed with NRW. NRWs request for replanting from 

very local seed, plus the need to stack wood and brash 

in specific places led to additional difficulties in 

developing the proposals. NRW consents were 

eventually granted for limited felling to waste and 

replanting. It is planned that 2019 will be the main year 

for completion of felling and woodland improvement 

works.  

n/a n/a 

Reducing land-based carbon 

emissions and restoring upland 

habitats: 

- Undertake peat restoration 

and path construction 

projects in the Black 

Mountains (Black 

Mountains Land Use 

Partnership), Central 

Beacons and Great Forest 

(Waun Fignen Felen AMP6 

Project) to achieve 

biodiversity conservation 

and landscape restoration.  

- Provide advisory support 

to the Welsh Peatlands 

Project Steering Group and 

Project Management Team 

Complete 100% 

Complete 

Progress this year includes bracken control: ecological 

impact assessments (in-house), and commissioning 

contractors and aerial spraying, nudging the Partnership 

to lead on this element. Footpath and peatland 

protection works continue. 

Bracken works completed Q2 including Bracken 

surveys, all other works such as peat restoration and 

footpath construction works completed on time. 

Partnership and BBNPA have experience major issues 

and payment delays from Welsh Governments Rural 

Payments Agency leading to significant delay on the 

Project’s re-evaluation and subsequent delays in paying 

the last quarters invoices which was only resolved in 

the last week of the financial year. This has caused a 

4: 

- Black 

Mountains 

- Central 

Beacons 

- Grent Forest 

- Mynydd Du 

3 

P
age 70



 

3 | P a g e  
 

backlog of scheduling and commissioning works for the 

2019 season.  

Waterfall Country – Service Level 

Agreement with NRW 

- Continue to implement the 

SLA and undertake 

improvements to Gwaun 

Hepste Car Park, 

maintaining and developing 

links to the local 

community and its business.  

Deliver 

SLA 

SLA 

delivered 

Waterfall Country SLA forms part of a much larger 

process now underway to improve visitor mgmt and 

experiences, focusing particularly on vehicle and parking 

management and anti-social behaviour. 

 

WG funded projects at Gwaun Hepste car park, Cwm 

Porth and Hendre Bolon are progressing. 

 

Whilst we are always able to fulfil the SLA (provided we 

still have a large enough Wardens Team), the main 

solutions sought for managing Waterfall Country 

require higher level, strategic input and investment from 

the 3 UAs (Powys, RCT, NPT) and NRW, who are the 

main landowners.  RT has submitted a project 

development bid to ENRAW to develop a Partnership 

Plan.  

 

Our staff and capital input to Waterfall Country again 

significantly exceed the income we retain from car park 

receipts under the terms of the SLA.   

 

RT is leading on this relationship mgmt; JL is leading on 

the "gateway," traffic and car parking management, 

which are the main issues going forwards.   

Recent 2019 WG unfunded capital and revenue grants 

are extremely helpful but risk the BBNPA retaining 

ownership of the issues when the larger organisations 

have most of the power and responsibility. 

2: 

- Implement 

SLA 

- Car Park 

Improvements 

2 

P
age 71



 

4 | P a g e  
 

Black Mountains – Black Mountains 

Land Use Partnership Sustainable 

Management Scheme  

- Continue to implement the 

programme of actions 

approved by Welsh 

Government for which we 

are the lead partner during 

this financial year 

Implement 

programme 

of actions 

for the 

financial 

year 

Programme 

of actions 

implemente

d 

Progress this year includes bracken control: ecological 

impact assessments (in-house), and commissioning 

contractors and aerial spraying, nudging the Partnership 

to lead on this element.  

Footpath and peatland protection works continue. 

Bracken works completed Q2 including Bracken 

surveys, all other works such as peat restoration and 

footpath construction works completed on time. 

Partnership and BBNPA have experience major issues 

and payment delays from Welsh Governments Rural 

Payments Agency leading to significant delay on the 

Project’s re-evaluation and subsequent delays in paying 

the last quarters invoices which was only resolved in 

the last week of the financial year. This has caused a 

backlog of scheduling and commissioning works for the 

2019 season. 

Implement 

actions 

scheduled for 

financial year 

Actions 

implemented 

and report 

submitted 

Research Programme and Strategic 

Research Partnerships 

- Work with partners to 

develop the programme 

and prepare for the 2019 

joint National Parks 

research conference  

Progress Progressed Review meeting held with CU, who has extended 

invitation to join the HEI Research Platform (CU, WG, 

NRW, CRT), for a £15k fee.  Research requires better 

co-ordination, i.e., dedicated manager or director, 

which might perhaps be supported through the 

Research Platform. 

Meeting held with the Manager for the Environment 

Platform Wales, steering by CU for NRW and WG, 

involving all Wales' universities.  Aims to establish 

overarching research platform to inform Area 

Statements, SoNaRR etc.Workshop held with NRW 

and University of Reading on connectivity and 

ecosystems mapping; further work to be developed. 

Co-host Event Complete 

P
age 72



 

5 | P a g e  
 

A range of undergraduate and post-graduate projects 

underway, including several species- and habitat-based 

dissertations.   

Revised MoU with Cardiff University is ready for 

signing, stronger input from Reading and Swansea 

Universities (no partnership agreements), and Swansea 

University now provides the Peatlands Research 

Platform within the Wales Peatlands Project (SMS); is 

looking for peatland-based 'research stations' here; 

advice on this has been provided.   

Attended the inaugural "Research Sandpit" of the 

Environment Platform Wales.  

Nature Recovery Action Plan 

(NRAP) 

- Finalise objectives and a 

programme for the NRAP 

and establish a Local 

Nature Partnership to aid 

its delivery  

- Launch and develop the 

Invasive Non-Native 

Species Project for the Usk 

and Tawe 

3 

- Finalise 

objectives and 

a programme 

- Establish a 

Local Nature 

Partnership 

- Launch and 

develop 

Project 

3 Objectives for NRAP revised and simplified, sent out 

for wider consultation. NRAP will be a central plan for 

the Authority, underlined by the lead themes of SMNR 

and nature recovery in the Valued and Resilient priority 

statement. October meeting with LNP finalised their 

objectives and priority, NRAP final drafting follows this.  

 

One-to-one meetings held with Local Nature 

Partnership partners; WG grant for implementation 

available (£50k); alignment with NPMP and Area 

Statements currently being sought. 

ENRAW project development grant submitted for a 

"Vital Signs" project in partnership with WTSWW and 

BIS, seeking funding for a full survey and monitoring 

programme; WG will determine yes or no by end 

February 2019. 

All the programmed actions for developing and finalising 

the detail and familiarising Members with its purpose 

Finalise 

Agreement 

Behind 

schedule P
age 73



 

6 | P a g e  
 

and content, have been completed.  Additional read-

across achieved for Sustainability Appraisal of the NPMP 

and LDP, successful bid to the ENRAW programme for 

a development grant to write a full grant proposal for 

"Vital Signs," and a further £50k provided by 2019 WG 

unfunded pressures grant.  Ecology Team is working 

with researchers to build the mapping models for the 

Park's ecosystems and connectivity, and all three NPAs 

are in early talks with the ERAMMP team to see what 

use might be made of this programme. 

 

 

3.3 Resilient Communities  

 

BBNPA can support both conventional and innovative approaches to living sustainably in and benefiting from the National Park. By promoting 

activity, encouraging volunteers and supporting those with physical, economic or other restrictions this objective contributes directly to a ‘A 

Wales of Cohesive Communities’, a ‘Healthier Wales’ and a ‘More Equal Wales’.  

 

What we set out to achieve What we achieved  

Well-being 

Objective/Action 

Target 

2018/2019 

Actual 

2018/201

9 

Commentary Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

2017/2018 

Deliver 12,500 hours of participant 

learning (5000 learners x 2.5 hours) 
12,500 hours/ 

5000 learners x 

2.5 hours 

25,660.5 

hours 

(7013 

learners) 

In 2018-19 the National Park education service 

worked directly in/around the park with 7013 

learners (young people through to adults). Visits 

ranged from introducing the National Park with a 

walk, min-beast hunts, river studies, through to 

ecological studies, glaciation studies, a celebration of 

Welsh Culture at Christmas and project based 

12,500 hours 27,628 hours 

P
age 74



 

7 | P a g e  
 

programmes in the Gunpowder works and Black 

Mountains. The learning sessions support the goals 

of the curriculum in Wales and of the exam boards, 

as well as the goals of the Wellbeing and Future 

Generations Act for Wales.  

Of these 7013, 22% (1571) undertook their learning 

experience through the medium of Welsh. 

 

Provide opportunities for 

disadvantaged groups to visit the park 

through the Fairplay programmes (6 

groups a year from schools with 20% 

or more pupils on Free School 

Meals) 

6 groups 6 groups The Fairplay programme provides funds for bus 

transport to the National Park for schools with a 

high % of pupils in receipt of free school meals.  

The project runs across the school year so the 

majority of visits in the academic year occur in the 

new Financial Year. Reduced numbers in this year 

reflects some schools being re-directed to the 

funded Gunpowder Works educations programme. 

6 11 

Deliver the Sustainable Development 

Fund to support community 

resilience, attracting match funding at 

a ratio in excess of 

1(£SDF):2(£match-funding) 

1:2 1:3.7 The Fund awarded new grants to 27 projects in 

2018/19.  In total the Fund paid out £227,215 in the 

year to 34 projects. 30% of projects were primarily 

aimed at conserving or enhancing the natural beauty, 

wildlife and cultural heritage of the Park.41% focused 

on promoting opportunities for the understanding 

and enjoyment of the special qualities.  29% sought 

to foster the economic and social well-being of local 

communities. 

 

1:2 1:2.54 

Deliver a Volunteer Development 

programme to support the delivery 

of in excess of 10,000 volunteer 

10,000 hours 9884 

hours 

This financial year was very slightly below target due 

to staff resourcing. The hours volunteered represent 

10,000 8,567.50 

P
age 75



 

8 | P a g e  
 

hours of Brecon Beacons National 

Park Authority activity in 2018/2019 
a substantial contribution of delivery on projects 

which could not otherwise have been achieved. 

Work with 4 communities to 

develop and deliver Place Plans and 

actions in them 

4 Communities  

and Place Plans: 

- Brecon 

- Crickhowell 

- Hay on Wye 

- Talgarth 

4 Place 

Plans are 

in 

progress 

and on 

track. 

Work has been undertaken with Talgarth on a 

Residents survey. 

Data input has been completed, and analysis and 

interpretation started with Brecon following the 

Brecon 20:20 Resident’s Survey. 

4 4 

Deliver Health and Wellbeing actions 

in line with the National Parks Wales 

Health and Wellbeing position 

statement 

Deliver actions Actions 

delivered 

The Active Ageing Project started in January 2019, 

making links to local social prescribers and other 

groups supporting older people, and identifying 

tailored routes in preparation for starting walks in 

spring. The Ystradgynlais group was first to establish. 

The Small Steps action research project with 

secondary care mental health patients similarly 

started activities in spring, following preparatory 

work with Powys Teaching Health Board and 

baseline assessment with participants. 

4: 

- Active 

Ageing 

- Geocaching 

- Inspironment 

Health and 

Well-being 

Position 

Statement 

4 

Deliver the Inspironment Programme 

working with partners to enable 

socially excluded groups to meet 

their aims through accessing the 

National Park (10 groups) 

10 45 Over the year BBNPA worked with groups to 

develop programmes of activity to meet their aims 

through accessing and enjoying the National Park. 

These included Cardiff People First, Powys People 

First, Gwalia. A total of 45 visits were made 

 

10 17 

P
age 76



 

9 | P a g e  
 

Support 50 community resilience 

projects with funding and 

development officer advice and 

assistance  

50 48 A wide range of projects supported with community 

development and funding advice. From Healthy Lives, 

to Wildflower Verges, and from Virtual tours to 

composting toilets. 

50 71 

Deliver learning experiences telling 

the story of the Black Mountains to 

12 groups (250 participants) 

250 346 Target exceeded - The Black Mountains Land Use 

Partnership learning programme worked with 346 

young people. Adverse weather conditions in Q4 

2018/2019 meant at least one group was carried 

over into next financial period.  

n/a n/a 

Deliver learning experiences to 12 

groups (250 participants) telling the 

story of the Gunpowder works and 

reconnecting the community with the 

site 

250 439 Target exceeded – The Gunpowder Works 

Education Programme concluded with 439 young 

people visiting the site and learning about the 

project, their local history/culture and the work 

we’re undertaking. The project also supported the 

curriculum in Wales as well as the goals of the 

Wellbeing and Future Generations Act for Wales. 

n/a n/a 

Undertake community outreach 

work to ensure local residents have 

the opportunity to interact with the 

Gunpowder Works and its 

development  

Undertake 

community 

outreach 

11 groups 

engaged 

with 

 

Interacted 

with 1253 

people in 

local area 

Over summer 2018 community engagement with a 

range of local excluded groups enabled 11 groups to 

enjoy a guided visit to Gunpowder works and 

understand more about the area’s heritage.  

In this financial year the Gunpowder Works project 

has interacted with 1253 people in the local area, 

561 of these under the age of 16. 495 school 

children have had a unique visit to the site with the 

Authority’s education team and 16 local community 

groups have has facilitated visits with the Sustainable 

Communities Team. The community have also had 

the opportunity to engage with the project with two 

open days, a community archaeology programme, 

plus walk and talks with specialists.  

  

P
age 77



 

10 | P a g e  
 

Develop the ‘Miles Without Stiles’ 

programme 
  Awaiting information on this action  n/a n/a 

Maintain and improve access to the 

countryside; best practice in upland 

and lowland path surveys, 

management and restoration: 

- Publish the review of the 

Rights of Way 

Improvement Plan 

Publish the 

ROWIP review 

On Track Full statutory public consultation has been 

completed, with 10 consultation responses. A report 

will be taken to LAF in April 2019, with final 

adoption scheduled for Policy Forum prior to 

adoption by the NPA. The final version will be fully 

bilingual.  

2: 

- ROWIP 

Delegations 

- 4 ROWIP 

Projects 

 

2  (additional 

path 

improvement 

over and 

above the  

identified 

target) 

 

3.4 Sustainable Economic Development  

 

Creating sustainable economic development links directly to a ’Prosperous Wales’ and ‘Resilient Wales’. Increased employment will support ‘A More 

Equal Wales’ and a ‘Healthier Wales’ The special qualities of the area bring additional value for businesses from tourism and other sectors. BBNPA 

works collaboratively with partners from different sectors to help realise this sustainably. 

 

 

What we set out to achieve What we achieved  

Well-being 

Objective/Action 

Target 

2018/2019 

Actual 

2018/2019 

Commentary Target 

2017/2018 

Actual 

2017/2018 

Continue to play a lead role within 

the Brecon Beacons Sustainable 

Destination Partnership and will 

ensure the Forum meets at least one, 

the Board at least twice and the 

Delivery Group at least 4 times over 

Ongoing lead 

role and 

meetings 

On Track New meeting structures are working well. One 

board meeting and one Destination Delivery Group 

meeting held, plus Day2Stay workshop. Annual 

Tourism Conference attended by 85 businesses.  

n/a n/a 

P
age 78



 

11 | P a g e  
 

the year together with the Annual 

Tourism Conference 

Continue to engage businesses and 

communities in National Park 

objectives through our Ambassadors 

programme and business training 

events by retaining at least 150 

Ambassadors, holding more than 15 

business focussed training days and 

directly engaging with over 500 

business and community contacts 

over the year 

- 150 

Ambassadors 

- 15 business 

focussed 

training days 

- 500 

business and 

community 

contacts 

engaged. 

222 

Ambassadors

. 

252 business 

trained or 

attended 

conferences 

 

The annual Ambassador event was organised with 

support from the Tourism Growth Officer and a 

team of five Ambassadors. Two Ambassadors 

teamed up to offer a foraging and sustainable 

gardening courses for the local community and 

visitors. One Ambassador was inspired to write and 

publish a book “Nature of the Brecon Beacons” –A 

beginner’s guide to the upland environment, 

received extremely well by fellow Ambassadors and 

visitors. 

 

150 

Ambassadors 

15 Business 

training days 

500 Business 

and 

Community 

contacts 

engaged 

 

193 

Ambassadors 

Full series of 

Business 

Training 

Courses 

completed 

including  277 

Business 

Trained or 

attended 

conference s 

and had over 

800 

business/com

munity 

contacts 

Works with partners to review, 

forward plan and resource our 

cooperative marketing effort 

including; website, social media, press 

relations, destination print and brand 

rollout 

Review and 

resource 

marketing 

effort 

On track New Destination website procured, work to 

commence in 2019/2020 financial year.  

n/a n/a 

Work with partners to launch the 

Year of the Sea, undertake work on 

the VW funded Wales Way project 

and plan for the Year of Discovery 

Launch 

Project 

Project 

launched 

Project launched in Q1 with Minister for Tourism. 

Promotion with social media continues.  

n/a n/a 

P
age 79



 

12 | P a g e  
 

Implement the Atlantic Geoparks 

Interreg funded project, achieving all 

KPI targets 

Implementati

on of project 

Progressing 

on track 

Implementation is progressing well, with excellent 

social media and PR outcomes. ICT project has been 

agreed, work on marketing continues successfully. 

Awaiting Interreg approval of proposed changes. 

Work on core project, particularly PR and social 

media has progressed significantly.  

n/a n/a 

Implement the first phase of the 

Visitor Management project focusing 

on visitors and their dogs, the 

Waterfalls and the Black Mountains  

Implement first 

phase of the 

Visitor 

Management 

project 

Behind 

schedule 

Visitors and their dogs A Dogs code has been 

agreed and placed on website, funding has been 

agreed for the programme of works.  

 

Waterfalls 

Initial quick wins were effective and largely 

implemented.  Next steps are to prepare action plan 

for implementation next financial year.  Partnership 

Board held their first meeting which a good 

response.  Grants to develop partnership and Plan 

for the future have been approved. Waterfalls Car 

Parking Plan has been completed and approved by 

NPA. 

 

Black Mountains 

Work was undertaken by BMLUP project to develop 

and implement a visitor survey using volunteers, 

however this was disrupted by reduced capacity, 

reducing volunteer recruitment. The lesson is that 

we did not get approval early enough to put a 

coordinated programme in place. We will re-plan 

this work over the winter for next financial year. 

  

P
age 80



 

13 | P a g e  
 

Work on dog management developing with BMLUP 

however large scale interventions abandoned for the 

present due to lack of resources. 

 

 

 

Support the Dark Skies initiative 

through high quality marketing and 

business engagement to maintain our 

Dark Sky Reserve status 

Deliver high 

quality 

marketing 

and 

engagement 

Marketing 

and 

engagement 

delivered 

The Authority continues to promote our dark sky 

status through regular social media posts. Each post 

is averaging a reach of around 3,500 from a wide 

demographic. The main Brecon Beacons Facebook 

page now has 25,000 followers and our Twitter feed 

has 10,000 followers. In addition to this we run two 

Instagram pages which regularly feature the dark 

skies. The Authority has also won £77,300 in funding 

to significantly update its dark sky image library and 

create new videos to showcase this special feature 

of the National Park. Part of this funding will also 

deliver a digital marketing campaign aimed at 

encouraging day visitors to stay in the National Park 

overnight, contributing more to the rural economy 

during shoulder months.  

Run 6 Dark 

Sky events 

6 

Maintain activity in the UNESCO 

Global Geopark including the 

development of Craig y Nos as the 

new UNESCO Global Geopark Hub. 

We will engage with at least 5 local 

communities through Geopark 

Engage with 

5 

communities 

Behind 

schedule 

Development of ideas for the Geopark hub included 

engagement with Criw Graggy and Craig y Nos 

Country Park Volunteers.  Target of 5 engagements 

exceeded.  Hub development postponed until 

2019/20 for capacity and prioritisation reasons. 

Develop Hub Delayed 

Complete delivery of a Heritage 

Lottery Fund Skills in Action Training 

Project, which will provide 12 

traineeships – 6 of them in BBNPA 

12 

Traineeships 

12- 6 in 

BBNPA 

The 4th cohort of Trainees successfully completed 

their traineeships in summer 2018. An external 

evaluation was completed and reported “the 

traineeship has enabled a pathway into employment 

12 

Traineeships 

12 Completed 

P
age 81



 

14 | P a g e  
 

in the conservation sector for many trainees, most 

of whom were unemployed or employed in a 

different sector before.” 

Deliver Skills project for NEET young 

people in partnership with Princes 

Trust Cymru supported by Arwain 

LEADER funding 

Deliver Skills 

Project 

Project 

delivered 

During 2018 Cohorts 2 and 3 of the programme 

were delivered, each including a taster day, 2 week 

programme for 12 young people and paid 3 month 

traineeship for 6 with a range of accredited training 

e.g. Brushcutter and work experience alongside NPA 

staff. Young people progressed in the main into 

employment or further education. The Trainees 

welcomed HRH The Prince of Wales to part of their 

programme at the National Park Visitor Centre in 

July. 

n/a 

 

n/a 

 

 

 

4. Conclusion 

 

4.1 We have continued to make good progress in all four of the Key Work Areas.  

 

4.2 Any issues that have arisen with delivery are relatively minor and within the normal bounds of operational activity, allowing them to be dealt with 

using conventional management controls such as reprioritisation or the reallocation of resources. 

 

4.3 This is the third year that the Authority has published an Annual Report rather than part 2 of its Business Improvement Plan.  This current report 

represents something of a transitional arrangement towards a new way of reporting the Authority’s activities, framed within the overall strategy of 

the National Park Management Plan and aimed at delivering the Wellbeing of Future Generations Goals, as shown in the appendices to the 

Corporate Plan, through working in accord with the Sustainable Development principles. 

 

 

P
age 82



 

15 | P a g e  
 

 

 

 

Statement of Responsibility 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is responsible for preparing the 

Improvement Plan, the information and the assessments laid out within it and the estimates 

on which they are based. 

The Authority is also responsible for managing its performance improvements and the 

internal control measures from which the information and assessment in this Plan have been 

produced. 

The Authority is satisfied that the contents of the Plan are in all material respects accurate 

and complete, realistic and achievable within the resources available. 

 

P
age 83



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Internal Audit Progress 2019-20

Name of Committee  Audit and Scrutiny
Date 25th October 2019

Report Author Elaine Standen

Job title Finance Manager

Contact Details Elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To update the Committee on progress on the internal 
audit programme for the year and the revised Internal 
Audit Plan

List of  Enclosures 1) Internal Audit Block 1 report – TIAA
2) Internal Audit progress monitoring – TIAA

Recommendation(s) That the contents of the report and outstanding 
management actions are accepted.

1.1 Introduction or Background
This is year 2 of a three-year internal audit service level agreement with TIAA to provide 
internal audit services.  The revised programme of work for the year was approved by the 
Committee in July.

1.2 Audit reports

The following audits were completed in July 2019.  The final report with agreed management 
actions is attached.  The findings and actions are summarized below.

The more urgent recommendations are priority 2; there are no priority 1 recommendations.  
The recommended actions which have not yet been completed are identified in a table in 
section 1.4 of this report.

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management

Comments

Implementation

Timetable

(dd/mm/yy)

Responsible

Officer

(Job Title)

Human Resources 

Page 85

Agenda Item 10



Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management

Comments

Implementation

Timetable

(dd/mm/yy)

Responsible

Officer

(Job Title)

3 Compliance The HR Officer must log 
the staff absences on 
the Cardiff City Council 
payroll system 'SAP'. 
From the sample of 10 
absences reviewed, one 
was not found on ‘SAP’ 
for one staff member. 
No explanation was 
provided for its 
omission.

All staff absences be 
recorded on 'SAP' 
and reconciled back 
to the notification for 
completeness.

2 1 Absence was 
recorded in the 
following month.  
Sickness forms need 
to be provided 
promptly to HR 
Officer to enable 
early upload – action 
all line managers.

immediate Line managers, all 
staff

1 Directed Brecon Beacons 
National Park has a 
Sickness and Absence 
Management Policy 
which was last updated 
in 2010.

The Sickness and 
Absence 
Management Policy 
be updated.

3 Policy has been 
revised but had not 
been uploaded.  HR 
Officer to ensure it is 
available to all 
managers and staff.

Immediate HR officer

2 Compliance A return to work 
interview is required 
for all absences in 
excess of seven days. 
There was no evidence 
that an interview had 
taken place for one of 
the sample of 10 staff 
selected following a 
two week absence.

A Return to Work 
Interview be held for 
all staff returning 
from absences of 
greater than seven 
days.

3 Managers should 
carry out an 
interview as per 
current policy.  
Reminder to be 
issued by HR Officer.

Immediate Line Managers/ HR 
Officer

Page 86



Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management

Comments

Implementation

Timetable

(dd/mm/yy)

Responsible

Officer

(Job Title)

4 Directed Brecon Beacons 
National Park does not 
have a recruitment 
policy. A Recruitment 
Policy would ensure a 
consistent approach to 
the recruitment and 
selection of staff and 
correct authorisation 
throughout the 
process. To ensure 
appropriate 
implementation of the 
policy, it should be used 
in conjunction with the 
recruitment procedure.

A Recruitment Policy 
be drafted, approved 
and implemented.

3 This was under way 
when the HR 
Manager departed –
a draft policy will be 
prepared for the 
October CGT.  
Equality and GDPR 
would be relevant.

Draft 
approved by 
31/10/19, SMF 
by 30/11/19.

Approved by 
the Authority 
by 31/12/19.

HR Officer, CGT

5 Directed Brecon Beacons 
National Park has a 
proposed Recruitment 
Procedure that contains 
a flow chart showing 
how to advertise and 
appoint internally and 
externally. However, 
this Procedure has not 
been finalised.

The Proposed 
Recruitment 
Procedure be 
finalised. 

3 This was under way 
when the HR 
Manager departed – 
HR Officer would 
prepare and make 
available to 
managers for 
information.  Not 
part of the policy.

By 31/10/19 HR Officer

6 Directed The Pay and Allowances 
Staff Expenses Policy 
was last updated in 
2010.

The Pay and 
Allowances Staff 
Expenses Policy be 
reviewed and 
updated as 
necessary.

3 Suggest the policy is 
reviewed and any 
amendments are 
submitted to the 
October meeting of 
CGT.  

By 31/10/19 HR Officer and 
Finance Manager

Rec. Risk 
Area

Finding Recommendation Priority Management
Comments

Implementati
on

Timetable
(dd/mm/yy)

Responsible
Officer

(Job Title)

Business Continuity Planning

Page 87



Rec. Risk 
Area

Finding Recommendation Priority Management
Comments

Implementati
on

Timetable
(dd/mm/yy)

Responsible
Officer

(Job Title)

7 Operati
onal

The Business Continuity 
Strategy was prepared 20th 
September 2010 by the IT & 
Systems Manager.  The 
Strategy was set to be 
reviewed on a five yearly 
basis but has not been 
reviewed since the date of 
inception.

The Brecon 
Beacons 
National Park 
Authority 
Business 
Continuity 
Strategy be 
reviewed and 
approved by the 
Corporate 
Governance 
Team and the 
Authority.

2 Agreed 31 
December 

2019

Systems and 
Performance 
Manager

10 Operati
onal

Business Impact analysis is 
not currently being 
performed by the 
organisation.  Business 
Risks are identified within 
the Corporate Risk register 
but no granular scenario 
planning for specific events 
such as BREXIT in the 
short term or longer term 
events such as agricultural 
disease outbreaks, 
terrorism or Cyber- attack 
for instance, have been 
evaluated.

Business Impact 
Analysis be 
performed for 
potential high 
risk business 
continuity 
scenarios.

2 After discussion at CGT 
it was agreed that 
detailed scenario 
planning is not 
appropriate given the 
resources available to 
the Authority.  

N/A N/A

Page 88



Rec. Risk 
Area

Finding Recommendation Priority Management
Comments

Implementati
on

Timetable
(dd/mm/yy)

Responsible
Officer

(Job Title)

11 Operati
onal

Each area of the Authority 
has specific support 
requirements, Park 
Wardens have different 
requirements to HR in the 
event of business 
discontinuity.  However, 
with the exception of the 
ICT department, there are 
no Pro-forma Departmental 
Logs containing specific 
information including key 
contacts, key suppliers, 
staff accessibility, critical 
systems and the maximum 
downtime period 
documented within the 
plans.

Each area of the 
organisation be 
required to 
maintain a log 
containing 
specific 
information 
including key 
contacts, key 
suppliers, staff 
accessibility, 
critical systems 
and the 
maximum 
downtime period 
of those 
systems.

2 Key managers should 
be required to ensure 
that up to date service 
continuity information 
relevant to their work 
area is maintained and 
accessible to other 
team members and 
their Director/CEO.

Director/CEO to 
designate key 
managers.

31/3/19

31/12/19

CEO/Delivery 
Director

13 Operati
onal

The Business Continuity 
Plan (BCP) is a dynamic 
document and needs to be 
kept up to date.  The 
Authority has two 
documents which form the 
BCP, a Communications 
Plan and a Disaster 
Recovery Spreadsheet and 
both documents need to be 
updated.

The Disaster 
Recovery and 
Communications 
Plans be 
updated annually 
or as key 
changes take 
place.

2 Agreed – S&P Manager 
to convene a meeting of 
key staff.

Ongoing Systems and 
Performance 
Manager

14 Operati
onal

Informal reporting 
arrangements are in place 
in the event of a business 
continuity occurrence.  
There is no guidance to 
identify trigger points of a 
business continuity event 
that would necessitate the 
implementation of the 
Business Continuity Plan.

When business 
impact analysis 
is performed the 
trigger points at 
which an 
incident 
becomes a 
business 
continuity 
occurrence be 
identified.

2 CGT consider that the 
current communications 
and liaison 
arrangements would 
enable an incident to be 
reported and discussed 
by key staff and an 
appropriate decision 
made by senior staff on 
a response.

n/a n/a

Page 89



Rec. Risk 
Area

Finding Recommendation Priority Management
Comments

Implementati
on

Timetable
(dd/mm/yy)

Responsible
Officer

(Job Title)

15 Operati
onal

An unsigned SLA with the 
City of Cardiff Council was 
provided which expired in 
2011. The SLA covers 
payroll, payslips, end of 
year HMRC forms, 
integrated HR including 
absence management, 
training and contracts and 
had a one year notice 
period. The Cardiff Council 
payroll SLA is operating on 
the basis that, in the 
absence of any notice of 
termination, it is still in 
force.

A new service 
level agreement 
including details 
of service 
provision, costs 
and data 
protection 
compliance be 
implemented 
between the 
Brecon Beacons 
National Park 
Authority and the 
City of Cardiff 
Council in 
relation to 
Payroll Services.

2 Copy of signed SLA 
was not requested, the 
version seen by audit is 
unsigned as it is an 
electronic copy held on 
file.  Cardiff Payroll 
Services Manager has 
requested a revised 
draft SLA from the 
Cardiff legal services 
team which 
incorporates provision 
for GDPR.  The Finance 
Manager has discussed 
the replacement of the 
current rolling contract 
with a fixed term SLA 
and seek advice on the 
legal implications of 
inter-authority services 
vs competitive 
tendering.

31/10/19 Finance 
Manager

16 Operati
onal

Ad hoc Data Protection 
Officer services are being 
provided to the 
Pembrokeshire Coast 
National Park Authority 
although a service level 
agreement for provision of 
these services is not in 
place.

A Service Level 
Agreement be 
implemented 
between the 
Pembrokeshire 
Coast National 
Park Authority 
and the Brecon 
Beacons 
National Park 
Authority to 
reflect the new 
role and 
responsibilities 
of the Data 
Protection 
Officer within the 
two Authorities, 
the support 
arrangements 
and any 
attributable costs 
associated with 
the service.

2 Agreed, needs to be 
initiated by PCNPA.

n/a n/a

Page 90



Rec. Risk 
Area

Finding Recommendation Priority Management
Comments

Implementati
on

Timetable
(dd/mm/yy)

Responsible
Officer

(Job Title)

8 Operati
onal

Business Continuity is not 
identified within the Audit 
Assurance Framework 
2019/20 under Organisation 
and Governance

The key controls 
and positive 
assurance 
sources 
associated with 
the Business 
Continuity Risks 
need to be fully 
reflected within 
the Audit 
Assurance 
Framework.

3 Agreed 31/10/19 31/10/19

9 Operati
onal

The roles in relation to 
Business Continuity are set 
out in the Business 
Continuity Roles and 
Responsibilities and Terms 
of Reference.  However, the 
HR Officer no longer has 
responsibility for health and 
safety or premises due to 
recent changes but this has 
not been reflected.

The Business 
Continuity Terms 
of Reference 
and Roles and 
Responsibilities 
document needs 
to be updated to 
reflect the 
changes in 
responsibility for 
health and safety 
and premises.

3 Agreed 31 
December 

2019

Systems and 
Performance 
Manager

12 Operati
onal

The Business Continuity 
Plan documents are held 
and updated by the IT and 
Systems Manager.  It is 
best practice for key named 
individuals to have access 
to up to date hard and 
electronic copies of the plan 
reducing dependence on 
one member of staff.

Key individuals 
within the 
Authority be 
provided with up 
to date electronic 
and hard copies 
of the Business 
Continuity Plan 
so that there is 
not dependence 
on one individual 
in the event of 
the Plan being 
needed.

3 Agreed 31 
December 

2019

Systems and 
Performance 
Manager

Cyber Security

Page 91



Rec. Risk 
Area

Finding Recommendation Priority Management
Comments

Implementati
on

Timetable
(dd/mm/yy)

Responsible
Officer

(Job Title)

17 Operati
onal

It was identified during the 
review that the Authority 
has retained approximately 
fifteen years of quarterly 
backup tapes, many of 
which are on tape formats 
that the Authority no longer 
has the appropriate 
hardware to access.

The current 
strategy for the 
retention of 
backup tapes be 
reviewed.

2 Agreed – needs 
discussion at CGT to 
properly understand 
implications.

31 
December 

2019

Systems and 
Performance 
Manager

18 Compli
ance

The Authority has recently 
introduced dash cams in its 
vehicles and these are 
subject to data protection 
requirements

A policy and 
data protection 
impact 
assessment be 
documented for 
the use of 
corporate dash 
cams that 
includes the 
retention and 
sharing 
arrangements for 
the images.

2 Underway 30/09/19 Systems and 
Performance 
Manager

1.3 Audit programme progress

Progress to date on the internal audit programme for the year is monitored by TIAA and is 
summarised in Enclosure 2.   There is a briefing section in Appendix B of the enclosure which 
highlights general issues of relevance to public sector governance and developments in 
legislation which impact on the role and focus of Audit Committees.   

 The second block of audit work is currently underway and the findings will be reported to the 
Committee in early 2020.  Detail of the audits being undertaken are included below.

Qua
rter

Fundamental Audits Type
D
ay
s

Rationale and  Scope

Bloc
k 2

Key Financial Controls 
(General Ledger, 
Creditors, 
Procurement)

Complia
nce

3 Rationale

Key Financial controls. Annual review looking at core areas on a 
cyclical basis.

Page 92



Qua
rter

Fundamental Audits Type
D
ay
s

Rationale and  Scope

Scope

The review considers the effectiveness of the key financial 
controls which provide assurance that the following systems are 
operating in accordance with the organisation’s requirements:

 General Ledger;
 Creditors;
 Procurement.

Bloc
k 2

Health and Safety 
Management

Assuran
ce

3 Rationale

Brought forward from 2020/2021 at Management’s Request.  

Scope

The review will consider the management and reporting of health 
and safety and the underlying health and safety risk assessment 
processes.

Bloc
k 2

Follow-up Follow 
up

1 Follow-up of implementation actions from audit reports, ensuring 
the Organisation is implementing recommendations, and 
providing reports to the Audit and Scrutiny Committee.

1.4 Outstanding Actions from previous audits
Actions arising from the above audits will be assigned to managers and monitored by CGT.  
Below is a summary of the remaining actions arising from 2018/19 audits. An audit review of 
implementation of all management actions arising from 2018/19 is being undertaken as part of 
the block 2 audit.

2018/19 – YEAR 1 - Block 1 June 2018

Governance – Performance Management

Outstanding Actions New 
process 
or Task?

Issues or further action identified When by? Who by?

All reporting officers must provide 
a comment against each PI on at 
least a quarterly basis – these will 
be reviewed by Managers.

Process Information is missing and is not 
being chased up by 
department/service leads.

Action:

Review use and management of 
Ffynnon to ensure best value 

31/3/20 CGT/DMT

Page 93



General Data Protection Regulations readiness

Outstanding Actions New 
process 
or Task?

Issues or further action identified When by? Who by?

A mechanism for monitoring 
progress against the Data 
Protection Act 2018 compliance 
plan be established.

Process Action: 

A progress review is being carried 
out by the IT Manager.

31/8/19 IT Manager/CGT

2018/19 – YEAR 1 - Block 2  October 2018

Project Management 

Outstanding Actions New 
process 
or Task?

Issues or further action identified When by? Who by?

Grants Policy to be drafted, to 
include process of initiation and 
review on completion.

Task Action: 

Project Closure template document 
is drafted

30/9/19 Delivery Director

Strategic control 

Outstanding Actions New 
process 
or Task?

Issues or further action identified When by? Who by?

Member role description to be 
reviewed jointly by all three Welsh 
NPA’s.

Task Action: review the generic role 
description.  This is a requires 
National Parks Wales 
consideration and will take some 
time to process.

31/3/20

CEO

Democratic Services 
Manager

2019/20 – YEAR 2 - Block 1 -  July 2019

Human Resources

Outstanding Actions New 
process or 
Task?

Issues or further action 
identified

When by? Who by?

A Recruitment Policy be drafted, 

Task Action: HR Officer to 
prepare a draft policy for:

 

Page 94



approved and implemented.  CGT

SMF

Authority 

31/10/19

30/11/19

31/12/19

HR Officer, CGT

The proposed recruitment 
procedure be finalised

Action: HR Officer to 
prepare a procedure and 
disseminate to managers

31/10/19 HR Officer

The Pay and Allowances Staff 
Expenses Policy be reviewed and 
updated as necessary.

Action:  HR officer to 
review and submit any 
amendments to CGT 31/10/19 HR Officer, Finance 

Manager

Business Continuity Planning 

Outstanding Actions New 
process or 
Task?

Issues or further action 
identified

When by? Who by?

The Business Continuity Strategy be 
reviewed and approved by the 
Corporate Governance Team and 
the Authority.

Task Action:  Strategy to be 
reviewed and updated roles 
and responsibilities for key 
personnel revised.

31/12/19 Systems and 
Performance 
Manager

The Disaster Recovery and 
Communications Plans be updated 
annually or as key changes take place

Process Action:  Agreed – S&P 
Manager to convene a 
meeting of key staff.

31/10/19 Systems and 
Performance 
Manager

Each area of the organisation be 
required to maintain a log containing 
specific information including key 
contacts, key suppliers, staff 
accessibility, critical systems and the 
maximum downtime period of those 
systems.

Process Action:  Key managers 
should be required to ensure 
that up to date service 
continuity information 
relevant to their work area 
is maintained and accessible 
to other team members and 
the Director/CEO.

Director/CEO to designate 
key managers.

31/3/20 CEO/Delivery 
Director

General Data Protection Regulations 

Outstanding Actions New 
process or 
Task?

Issues or further action 
identified

When by? Who by?

Page 95



A new service level agreement 
including details of service provision, 
costs and data protection compliance 
be implemented between the Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority and 
the City of Cardiff Council in relation 
to Payroll Services.

Task Finance Manager to arrange 
for an updated and GDPR-
compliant SLA to be entered 
into with Cardiff Council, 
subject to a consultation 
with the Monitoring Officer 
on applicability of contract 
standing orders to the 
approval of a revised SLA.

31/10/19 Finance 
Manager/Cardiff 
Council legal 
department.

A Service Level Agreement be 
implemented between the 
Pembrokeshire Coast National Park 
Authority and the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority to reflect 
the new role and responsibilities of 
the Data Protection Officer within 
the two Authorities, the support 
arrangements and any attributable 
costs associated with the service.

Task PCNPA be requested to 
draft an SLA setting out the 
role and responsibilities of 
BBNPA in providing a Data 
Protection Officer to the 
Authority.

31/10/19 Delivery 
Director/Systems 
and Performance 
Manager.

Cyber Security 

Outstanding Actions New 
process or 
Task?

Issues or further action 
identified

When by? Who by?

The current strategy for the 
retention of backup tapes be 
reviewed.

Task Revised strategy to be 
reviewed by CGT

31/12/19 Systems and 
Performance 
Manager.

A policy and data protection impact 
assessment be documented for the 
use of dashboard cameras that 
includes the retention and sharing 
arrangements for the images 
corporate dashboard cameras that 
includes the retention and sharing 
arrangements for the images

Task Assessment to be 
documented

30/09/19 Systems and 
Performance 
Manager.

1.5 Risk
Internal audits address areas assessed as higher risk for the Authority and will recommend 
actions which will help to manage and reduce risks.  Internal audit is one of the tools which is 
used by Members and management to gain assurance that internal controls are operating 
effectively.  

Page 96



1.6 Conclusion
Members and senior management should understand the internal controls operated by the 
Authority and take action where significant risks or weaknesses are identified.  Action in this 
regard will need to be prioritised in the context of the Authority’s limited resources in the light 
of appetite for risk.

RECOMMENDATION:

a) That the contents of the report and outstanding management actions are 
accepted.

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
Internal Audit 

 

October 2019 

FINAL 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority 

 Summary Internal Controls Assurance (SICA) 

 2019/20 

P
age 99



 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Summary Internal Controls Assurance (SICA) 

Page 1 
 

 

Introduction 

1. This summary report provides the Audit and Scrutiny Committee with an update on the progress of our work at Brecon Beacons National Park Authority as at 30th 
September 2019. 

Progress against the 19/20 Annual Plan 

2. Our progress against the Annual Plan for 2019-20 is set out in Appendix A. The results of these reviews are summarised in the tables below. 

Internal Control Framework 

3. The key strategic governance, risk management and control matters identified from the three reviews completed since the previous meeting are summarised below. 
The Business Continuity Planning audit is currently assessed as providing limited assurance.  The recommendations arising from this review will be followed up as 
part our block 2 work so that an updated position is reflected in our annual report and to further inform the annual Head of Audit Opinion. 

 Key Strategic Governance, Risk Management and Control Matters 

Review High level  

Human Resources 

Adequate human resource processes were found to be in place and operating effectively: 

 All staff absences need to be recorded on Cardiff City Council payroll system SAP and reconciled 
back to the source documents; 

 Numerous Human Resources policies and procedures require updating. 

Business Continuity Planning 

The audit provided a Limited Assurance grading for the controls in place: 

 The Business Continuity Strategy was not reviewed in 2015 when it was due for its five yearly review; 

 All Departments must maintain a log of specific information including key contacts, suppliers, staff 
accessibility, critical systems and maximum downtime in the event of business discontinuity; 

 The Authority is not reviewing the Business Continuity Plan on a yearly basis; 

 The Authority needs to implement a Service Level Agreement entailing the services being provided 
to Pembrokeshire coast National Park Authority. 

Cyber Security 

The Authority has comprehensive and up to date cyber security policies and procedures in place which are 
generally being complied with: 

 The Authority needs to review and discuss its strategy for the retention of backup tapes for the last 
fifteen years’ worth of data, given its implications with the Data Protection Act 2018; 

  The Authority needs to document a dash cam policy and undertake a data protection risk 
assessment on the use of devices.  

Emerging Governance, Risk and Internal Control Related Issues 

4. We have identified no emerging risks which could impact on the overall effectiveness of the governance, risk and internal control framework of the organisation.  

P
age 100



 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Summary Internal Controls Assurance (SICA) 

Page 2 
 

Audits Completed since the last report to Committee 

5. The table below sets out details of audits finalised since the previous meeting of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee. 

  Key Dates 
Number of 

Recommendations 

Review Evaluation Draft issued Responses Received Final issued 1 2 3 OE 

Human Resources Reasonable 02/08/2019 03/09/2019 10/09/2019 - 1 5 1 

Business Continuity Planning Limited 02/08/2019 03/09/2019 10/09/2019 - 7 3 - 

Cyber Security Reasonable 02/08/2019 03/09/2019 10/09/2019 - 2 - 2 

 

Changes to the Annual Plan 19/20 

6. There are no changes proposed to the Annual Plan at this time.    

Changes to the Internal Audit Strategy 

7. There are no changes proposed to the Internal Audit Strategy for 2020/20.    

Frauds/Irregularities 

8. We have not been advised of any frauds or irregularities in the period since the last summary report was issued. 

Liaison 

9. Liaison with external audit: We maintain ongoing communication with the Wales Audit Office. 

Progress actioning priority 1 recommendations 

10. We have made no Priority 1 recommendations (i.e. fundamental control issue on which action should be taken immediately) since the previous SICA. 

Other Matters 

11. A summary of the briefing updates that we have issued since the last audit committee is attached as Appendix B 

.  Copies of the briefings are available on the client portal and can be forwarded if requested. 

Responsibility/Disclaimer 

12. This report has been prepared solely for management's use and must not be recited or referred to in whole or in part to third parties without our prior written consent. 
The matters raised in this report not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all the improvements that might be made. No 
responsibility to any third party is accepted as the report has not been prepared, and is not intended, for any other purpose. TIAA neither owes nor accepts any duty 
of care to any other party who may receive this report and specifically disclaims any liability for loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature, which is caused by 
their reliance on our report. 

P
age 101



 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Summary Internal Controls Assurance (SICA) 

Page 3 
 

Appendix A 
 

Progress against the Annual Plan for 2019/20 
          

System 
Planned 
Quarter 

Days 
Revised 
Quarter 

Current Status Comments 

Human Resources 1 

9 

1 

Final Block report issued 10th September 
2019 

 Business Continuity Planning  1 1 

Cyber Security 1 1 

Key Financial Controls 

(General Ledger, Creditors, 
Procurement)  

3 

7 

3 

Block 2 review arranged for the 21st – 24th 
October 2019 

APM issued 27th August 2019 

Health and Safety Management 3 3 APM issued 27th August 2019 

Follow Up 3 3 APM issued 27th August 2019 

2019/20 Annual Report 4 1 4   

Audit Management & Planning 1 - 4 3 1-4 Ongoing  

 

   KEY: 

 = To be commenced 

 = Site work commenced 

 = Draft report issued 

 = Final report issued 

P
age 102



 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Summary Internal Controls Assurance (SICA) 

Page 4 
 

 

Appendix B 

Briefings on Developments in Governance, Risk and Control  

TIAA produce regular briefing notes to summarise new developments in Governance, Risk, Control and Counter Fraud which may have an impact on our clients.  These are 
shared with clients and made available through our Online Client Portal. A summary list of those CBNs issued since the last meeting which may be of relevance to Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority is given below. Copies of any CBNs are available on request from your local TIAA team. 

Date Issued CBN Ref Subject Status TIAA Comments 

03/09/2019 19016 
CCTV System Data Protection Breaches 

Widespread 

 

Audit Committees and Boards/Governing Bodies are advised to 
obtain assurance that the use of CCTV across the organisation is 
fully compliant with current data protection legal requirements. 

05/08/2019 19014 
Home Office Guidance on Victims of Modern 

Slavery 

For I

 

Audit Committees and Boards/Governing Bodies are advised to 
note the guidance. 

14/06/2019 19009 Counter Fraud Arrangements – Welsh Public Sector 

F

or Action 

Audit Committees and Boards/Governing Bodies are advised to 
consider the points outlined in WAO’s counter fraud arrangements 
report to develop a focused and proportionate anti-fraud strategy. 

17/05/2019 19007 
Wales Audit Office Checklist on Effective 

Governance during Period of Change 

For 

 

Audit Committees and Boards/Governing Bodies are advised to 
consider the points outlined in WAO’s checklist within their 
overviewing and scrutiny functions. 

P
age 103



 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Summary Internal Controls Assurance (SICA) 

Page 5 
 

 

Date Issued CBN Ref Subject Status TIAA Comments 

07/05/2019 19005 
Company-provided Dash-Cams subject to Data 

Protection Act 2018 

 

Audit Committees and Boards/Governing Bodies are advised to 
consider the data protection impacts of using Dash-cams for 
business use. 

15/04/2019 19004 Online Right to Work Checks 

For 

 

Audit Committees and Boards/Governing Bodies are advised to 
note this development in the government’s approach to tackle the 
employment of illegal workers, and to make it easier for employers 
to check individual’s right to work. 

08/03/2019 19002 
Pensions Advisory Service, Pension Wise and the 
Money Advice Service merge to form the Single 

Financial Guidance Body (SFBG) 

  

Audit Committees and Boards/Governing Bodies are advised to 
note the new arrangement, and to seek assurance that any relevant 
HR policies or other guidance to staff are updated accordingly. 

 

P
age 104



 

 

 

 
Internal Audit 

 

September 2019 

FINAL 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority 

 
Block 1 Review 

Human Resources, Business Continuity and 
Cyber Security 

 2019/20 

P
age 105



 
 

 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Block 1 Review 
Page 1 

 

 

 

 

Block 1 Review 
 

Introduction 

1. This is the first review of the internal control arrangements at Brecon Beacons National Park Authority in the year to date.  The review was carried out in July 
2019 as part of the planned internal audit work for 2019/20. 

Summary 

2. The areas reviewed and the type of review are shown in table below. For system reviews assessments of the effectiveness of the internal controls are also 
shown in the table below. These assessments are based on the evaluation and testing of the key probity risks. 

Summary of the Evaluations of the Effectiveness of the Internal Controls 

System 
Type of 
Review 

Assessment 

Human Resources Assurance Reasonable 

Business Continuity Planning Appraisal Limited 

Cyber Security ICT Reasonable 

 

Key Findings 

3. The significant matters identified from the audit work undertaken which need to be addressed in order to strengthen further the control environment and the 
recommendations arising are set out in the management action plan section of this report. Recommendations for improvements should be assessed by the 
Authority for their full impact before they are implemented. 

4. The principal purpose of the review was to assess the effectiveness of the internal control arrangements in mitigating against risk. Operational Effectiveness 
action points were identified and opportunities for enhancements to the current arrangements are set out in the Operational Effective management action plan. 

Release of Report 

5. The table below sets out the history of this report. 

Date draft report issued: 2nd August 2019 

Date management responses rec’d: 3rd September 2019 

Date final report issued: 10th September 2019 

P
age 106



 
 

 

PRIORITY GRADINGS 

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review  

Page 2 
 

Management Action Plan – Priority 1, 2 and 3 Recommendations 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

Human Resources  

3 Compliance The HR Officer must log the staff 
absences on the Cardiff City Council 
payroll system 'SAP'. From the sample 
of 10 absences reviewed, one was not 
found on ‘SAP’ for one staff member. 
No explanation was provided for its 
omission. 

All staff absences be recorded on 
'SAP' and reconciled back to the 
notification for completeness. 

2 1 Absence was recorded in the 
following month.  Sickness forms 
need to be provided promptly to HR 
Officer to enable early upload – 
action all line managers. 

immediate Line managers, 
all staff 

1 Directed Brecon Beacons National Park has a 
Sickness and Absence Management 
Policy which was last updated in 2010. 

The Sickness and Absence 
Management Policy be updated. 

3 Policy has been revised but had not 
been uploaded.  HR Officer to 
ensure it is available to all managers 
and staff. 

Immediate HR officer 

2 Compliance A return to work interview is required for 
all absences in excess of seven days. 
There was no evidence that an 
interview had taken place for one of the 
sample of 10 staff selected following a 
two week absence. 

A Return to Work Interview be held 
for all staff returning from absences 
of greater than seven days. 

3 Managers should carry out an 
interview as per current policy.  
Reminder to be issued by HR 
Officer. 

Immediate Line Managers/ 
HR Officer 

P
age 107



 
 

 

PRIORITY GRADINGS 

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review  

Page 3 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

4 Directed Brecon Beacons National Park does not 
have a recruitment policy. A 
Recruitment Policy would ensure a 
consistent approach to the recruitment 
and selection of staff and correct 
authorisation throughout the process. 
To ensure appropriate implementation 
of the policy, it should be used in 
conjunction with the recruitment 
procedure. 

A Recruitment Policy be drafted, 
approved and implemented. 

3 This was under way when the HR 
Manager departed –a draft policy 
will be prepared for the October 
CGT.  Equality and GDPR would be 
relevant. 

Draft approved 
by 31/10/19, SMF 
by 30/11/19. 

Approved by the 
Authority by 
31/12/19. 

HR Officer, CGT 

5 Directed Brecon Beacons National Park has a 
proposed Recruitment Procedure that 
contains a flow chart showing how to 
advertise and appoint internally and 
externally. However, this Procedure has 
not been finalised. 

The Proposed Recruitment 
Procedure be finalised.  

3 This was under way when the HR 
Manager departed – HR Officer 
would prepare and make available 
to managers for information.  Not 
part of the policy. 

By 31/10/19 HR Officer 

6 Directed The Pay and Allowances Staff 
Expenses Policy was last updated in 
2010. 

The Pay and Allowances Staff 
Expenses Policy be reviewed and 
updated as necessary. 

3 Suggest the policy is reviewed and 
any amendments are submitted to 
the October meeting of CGT.   

By 31/10/19 HR Officer and 
Finance Manager 

  

P
age 108



 
 

 

PRIORITY GRADINGS 

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review  

Page 4 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

Business Continuity Planning 

7 Operational The Business Continuity Strategy was 
prepared 20th September 2010 by the 
IT & Systems Manager.  The Strategy 
was set to be reviewed on a five yearly 
basis but has not been reviewed since 
the date of inception. 

The Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority Business Continuity 
Strategy be reviewed and approved 
by the Corporate Governance Team 
and the Authority. 

2 Agreed 31 December 
2019 

Systems and 
Performance 
Manager 

10 Operational Business Impact analysis is not 
currently being performed by the 
organisation.  Business Risks are 
identified within the Corporate Risk 
register but no granular scenario 
planning for specific events such as 
BREXIT in the short term or longer term 
events such as agricultural disease 
outbreaks, terrorism or Cyber- attack for 
instance, have been evaluated. 

Business Impact Analysis be 
performed for potential high risk 
business continuity scenarios. 

2 After discussion at CGT it was 
agreed that detailed scenario 
planning is not appropriate given the 
resources available to the Authority.  

N/A N/A 

P
age 109



 
 

 

PRIORITY GRADINGS 

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review  

Page 5 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

11 Operational Each area of the Authority has specific 
support requirements, Park Wardens 
have different requirements to HR in the 
event of business discontinuity.  
However, with the exception of the ICT 
department, there are no Pro-forma 
Departmental Logs containing specific 
information including key contacts, key 
suppliers, staff accessibility, critical 
systems and the maximum downtime 
period documented within the plans. 

Each area of the organisation be 
required to maintain a log containing 
specific information including key 
contacts, key suppliers, staff 
accessibility, critical systems and 
the maximum downtime period of 
those systems. 

2 Key managers should be required to 
ensure that up to date service 
continuity information relevant to 
their work area is maintained and 
accessible to other team members 
and their Director/CEO. 

 

Director/CEO to designate key 
managers. 

 

 

 

31/3/19 

 

 

 

 

 

31/12/19 

CEO/Delivery 
Director 

13 Operational The Business Continuity Plan (BCP) is 
a dynamic document and needs to be 
kept up to date.  The Authority has two 
documents which form the BCP, a 
Communications Plan and a Disaster 
Recovery Spreadsheet and both 
documents need to be updated. 

The Disaster Recovery and 
Communications Plans be updated 
annually or as key changes take 
place. 

2 Agreed – S&P Manager to convene 
a meeting of key staff. 

Ongoing Systems and 
Performance 
Manager 

14 Operational Informal reporting arrangements are in 
place in the event of a business 
continuity occurrence.  There is no 
guidance to identify trigger points of a 
business continuity event that would 
necessitate the implementation of the 
Business Continuity Plan. 

When business impact analysis is 
performed the trigger points at 
which an incident becomes a 
business continuity occurrence be 
identified. 

2 CGT consider that the current 
communications and liaison 
arrangements would enable an 
incident to be reported and 
discussed by key staff and an 
appropriate decision made by senior 
staff on a response. 

n/a n/a 

P
age 110



 
 

 

PRIORITY GRADINGS 

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review  

Page 6 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

15 Operational An unsigned SLA with the City of Cardiff 
Council was provided which expired in 
2011. The SLA covers payroll, payslips, 
end of year HMRC forms, integrated HR 
including absence management, 
training and contracts and had a one 
year notice period. The Cardiff Council 
payroll SLA is operating on the basis 
that, in the absence of any notice of 
termination, it is still in force. 

A new service level agreement 
including details of service 
provision, costs and data protection 
compliance be implemented 
between the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority and the City 
of Cardiff Council in relation to 
Payroll Services. 

2 Copy of signed SLA was not 
requested, the version seen by audit 
is unsigned as it is an electronic 
copy held on file.  Cardiff Payroll 
Services Manager has requested a 
revised draft SLA from the Cardiff 
legal services team which 
incorporates provision for GDPR.  
The Finance Manager has 
discussed the replacement of the 
current rolling contract with a fixed 
term SLA and seek advice on the 
legal implications of inter-authority 
services vs competitive tendering. 

31/10/19 Finance Manager 

16 Operational Ad hoc Data Protection Officer services 
are being provided to the 
Pembrokeshire Coast National Park 
Authority although a service level 
agreement for provision of these 
services is not in place. 

A Service Level Agreement be 
implemented between the 
Pembrokeshire Coast National Park 
Authority and the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority to reflect the 
new role and responsibilities of the 
Data Protection Officer within the 
two Authorities, the support 
arrangements and any attributable 
costs associated with the service. 

2 Agreed, needs to be initiated by 
PCNPA. 

n/a n/a 

 

8 Operational Business Continuity is not identified 
within the Audit Assurance Framework 
2019/20 under Organisation and 
Governance 

The key controls and positive 
assurance sources associated with 
the Business Continuity Risks need 
to be fully reflected within the Audit 
Assurance Framework. 

3 Agreed  31/10/19 31/10/19 

P
age 111



 
 

 

PRIORITY GRADINGS 

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review  

Page 7 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

9 Operational The roles in relation to Business 
Continuity are set out in the Business 
Continuity Roles and Responsibilities 
and Terms of Reference.  However, the 
HR Officer no longer has responsibility 
for health and safety or premises due to 
recent changes but this has not been 
reflected. 

The Business Continuity Terms of 
Reference and Roles and 
Responsibilities document needs to 
be updated to reflect the changes in 
responsibility for health and safety 
and premises. 

3 Agreed 31 December 
2019 

Systems and 
Performance 
Manager 

12 Operational The Business Continuity Plan 
documents are held and updated by the 
IT and Systems Manager.  It is best 
practice for key named individuals to 
have access to up to date hard and 
electronic copies of the plan reducing 
dependence on one member of staff. 

Key individuals within the Authority 
be provided with up to date 
electronic and hard copies of the 
Business Continuity Plan so that 
there is not dependence on one 
individual in the event of the Plan 
being needed. 

3 Agreed 31 December 
2019 

Systems and 
Performance 
Manager 

Cyber Security 

17 Operational It was identified during the review that 
the Authority has retained 
approximately fifteen years of quarterly 
backup tapes, many of which are on 
tape formats that the Authority no longer 
has the appropriate hardware to 
access. 

The current strategy for the 
retention of backup tapes be 
reviewed. 

2 Agreed – needs discussion at CGT 
to properly understand implications. 

31 December 
2019 

Systems and 
Performance 
Manager 

P
age 112



 
 

 

PRIORITY GRADINGS 

1 URGENT 
Fundamental control issue on which 
action should be taken immediately. 

 2 IMPORTANT 
Control issue on which action should 
be taken at the earliest opportunity. 

 3 ROUTINE 
Control issue on which action should be 
taken. 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review  

Page 8 
 

Rec. Risk Area Finding Recommendation Priority Management 

Comments 

Implementation 

Timetable 

(dd/mm/yy) 

Responsible 

Officer 

(Job Title) 

18 Compliance The Authority has recently introduced 
dash cams in its vehicles and these are 
subject to data protection requirements 

A policy and data protection impact 
assessment be documented for the 
use of corporate dash cams that 
includes the retention and sharing 
arrangements for the images. 

2 Underway 30/09/19 Systems and 
Performance 
Manager 

 

P
age 113



 
 

ADVISORY NOTE 

Operational Effectiveness Matters need to be considered as part of management review of procedures. 

 

 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Block 1 Review  
Page 9 

 
 

Operational Effectiveness Action Plan 
 

Ref Risk Area Item Management 

Comments 

Human Resources 

1 Directed Consideration be given to having an official deadline for timesheet submissions 
five days before payroll run. 

There is a deadline in place which is not always enforced if there is potential 
hardship for an employee paid on timesheets.  Managers have a responsibility 
to ensure timesheets are signed promptly and passed on to Finance.  All staff 
should be reminded of the deadline and non-urgent late payments held until the 
following month. 

Business Continuity Planning 

No Operational Effectiveness Matters were identified. 

Cyber Security 

2 Directed References to the Data Protection Act 1998 within the Information and Data 
Security Policy be replaced with reference to the Data Protection Act 2018 and 
the General Data Protection Regulation when the Policy is next reviewed. 

Agreed 

3 Directed Reference to cyber fraud and computer enabled fraud be included within the 
Fraud and Corruption Policy when it is next reviewed and updated. 

Agreed 

 

P
age 114



 
 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review 

Page 10 

[ 

 

Scope and Limitations of the Review 

6. The scopes of the reviews were set out in the Annual Internal Audit Plan for 2019/20 which was agreed with Brecon Beacons National Park Authority. 

7. The limitations and the responsibilities of management in regard to this review are set out in the Annual Plan. 

8. The matters raised in this report are only those that came to the attention of the auditor during the course of the internal audit review and are not necessarily a 
comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or all the improvements that might be made. This report has been prepared solely for management's 
use and must not be recited or referred to in whole or in part to third parties without our prior written consent. No responsibility to any third party is accepted as 
the report has not been prepared, and is not intended, for any other purpose. TIAA neither owes nor accepts any duty of care to any other party who may receive 
this report and specifically disclaims any liability for loss, damage or expense of whatsoever nature, which is caused by their reliance on our report. 

Assessment of the Key Control Objective 

9. This review identified and tested the controls that are being operated by the Association and an assessment of the combined effectiveness of the controls in 
mitigating the key control risks is provided. The assessments are: 

Substantial Assurance There is a robust system of internal controls operating effectively to ensure that risks are managed and process objectives achieved. 

Reasonable Assurance 
The system of internal controls is generally adequate and operating effectively but some improvements are required to ensure that risks are 
managed and process objectives achieved.  

Limited Assurance 
The system of internal controls is generally inadequate or not operating effectively and significant improvements are required to ensure that 
risks are managed and process objectives achieved.  

No Assurance There is a fundamental breakdown or absence of core internal controls requiring immediate action. 

  

P
age 115



 
 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review 

Page 11 

[ 

 

Detailed Findings 
 

 

System: Human Resources  

Evaluation Reasonable Assurance  

10. The following matters were identified in reviewing the Key Risk Control Objective: 

Sickness and Absence 

10.1 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (the Authority) has a Sickness and Absence Management Policy which was last updated in 2010. The Policy 
needs to be reviewed to ensure that it is up to date and accurately reflects the processes in place. 

Recommendation: 1 The Sickness and Absence Management Policy be updated. 

Priority 3 

10.2 The Policy includes the processes for phoning in to report sickness, recording sickness, how and why it is monitored and the action required if staff 
are going to be on long term sick leave (i.e. more than a month). 

10.3 When a staff member phones in sick they need to call HR before 10am or 30 minutes before they are due to begin work to explain the reason for their 
absence and when they expect to be able to return to work. If the HR Officer is not available, staff members can call their Line Manger or Reception. 

10.4 If a staff member is absent for less than seven days they need to complete a Sickness Self-Certification Form. For any absence in excess of seven 
days a Medical Certificate (a Fitness to Work Note) is needed from their doctor and a return to work interview will take place with the Line Manager. 

10.5 If a staff member is absent for longer than a month, they will be required to have an appointment with the Occupational Health Unit. If they are unable 
to return to normal duties consideration will be given to a phased return to work or amended duties in which case the staff member must provide a 
Medical Certificate from their doctor allowing them to return to work with amended duties and they must have regular meetings with the Occupational 
Health Unit. 

10.6 A sample of 10 staff members who had been absent in the past 12 months was reviewed. Five of the sample had been off for less than a week so no 
Medical Certificate or back to work interview was needed. The remaining five of the sample had been off work for longer than seven days. All five had 
provided Medical Certificates from their doctors. Two of the sample were returning to work on amended duties and both had attended meetings with 
the Occupational Health Unit. Two of the sample had provided Medical Certificates but were still on sick leave. Emails conversations have taken place 
between the HR Officer and the absent staff members to arrange meetings with Occupational Health. The remaining member of staff had returned to 
work and provided a medical certificate following a two week absence, so no referral to Occupational Health was necessary.  However, there was no 
evidence that a return to work interview had taken place as required. 

P
age 116



 
 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review 

Page 12 

[ 

Recommendation: 2 A Return to Work Interview be held for all staff returning from absences of greater than seven days. 

Priority 3 

10.7 The HR Officer logs the staff absences on the Cardiff City Council payroll system 'SAP'. From the sample of 10 absences reviewed, one absence was 
not found on the ‘SAP’ system for one staff member.  No explanation was provided for the omission.  As information is manually input onto SAP there 
is a risk of incorrect or incomplete data entry and it is recommended that all data input is agreed back to the originating forms for completeness and 
accuracy. 

Recommendation: 3 All staff absences be recorded on 'SAP' and reconciled back to the notification for completeness. 

Priority 2 

Recruitment 

10.8 The Authority does not have a documented Recruitment Policy. A Recruitment Policy would ensure a consistent approach to the recruitment and 
selection of staff and correct authorisation throughout the process. To ensure appropriate implementation of the Policy, it should be used in conjunction 
with the recruitment procedure. 

Recommendation: 4 A Recruitment Policy be drafted, approved and implemented. 

Priority 3 

10.9 The Authority has a proposed Recruitment Procedure that contains a flow chart showing how to advertise vacancies and appoint internally and 
externally. Although testing indicated that the processes are operating in practice, this Procedure has not been finalised.  The aim of a recruitment 
procedure is to provide more specific detail on key steps at each stage of the recruitment and selection process. 

Recommendation: 5 The proposed Recruitment Procedure be finalised. 

Priority 3 

10.10 When Line Managers wish to recruit for a new role they must write a Person Specification and Job Description. This is evaluated by an external 
professional government evaluation team. A recruitment request form is then sent to the Authority’s Corporate Governance Team who agree the Job 
Description, Person Specification and salary and sign off the request form. Once it is approved by the Corporate Governance Team, the recruitment 
request form is sent to the HR officer who uploads a ‘Job Pack’ online in Welsh and English which includes the Job Description and Person Specification 
and approved salary.  

10.11 Applicants are short listed by the Line Manager, HR Officer and other relevant Managers. The same panel is used for the interview process and final 
decision. The panel usually consists of three members of staff. 

P
age 117



 
 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review 

Page 13 

[ 

10.12 If the vacancy is already an existing role, the Corporate Governance Team does not have to sign off the Job Description or Person Specification. 
However, this is not always the case. If the person who is leaving their role has been in that post for many years, the Corporate Governance Team 
may want to sign off an amended Person Specification and Job Description to reflect changing requirements. 

10.13 If the vacancy is internal, the same rules apply with regards to the sign off of the role. The Job Description and Person Specification is sent out to all 
staff members who go through the same process as external applicants. 

10.14 A sample of 10 new starters from the past 12 months was selected to ensure the process had been consistently applied.  All of the sample had a Job 
Description, Person Specification and signed contracts. Nine of the sample reviewed were external appointments with one being an internal 
appointment. 

10.15  Probation meetings take place at three months and six months. All staff members from the sample had the necessary probation meeting forms 
completed and signed. One new starter had previously worked for Brecon Beacons National Park so probation did not apply. 

10.16 For each of the sample, with the exception of the internal appointment, references had been provided.  

Timesheets 

10.17 Timesheets are completed by staff members on a monthly basis on paper forms. The timesheet forms are signed by the member of staff and their line 
manager and are sent to the Finance Officer who checks the calculations are correct. The Finance Officer then uploads the timesheets to 'SAP' before 
the payroll run. The Cardiff City Council payroll is run between the 19th and 24th of the month. There is currently no policy or procedure around 
timesheet submission dates. 

Operational 
Effectiveness Matter: 1 

Consideration be given to having an official deadline for timesheet submissions five days before payroll run. 

10.18 A sample of 10 timesheets was selected and reviewed to ensure they had been completed in full and authorised. All of the sample had been signed 
by both the staff member and their line manager and evidenced as checked by the Finance Officer. 

10.19 The only overtime staff claim is for bank holidays. Staff have to fill in an additional overtime form as well as their timesheet to claim this time. The 
overtime is pre-approved by the line manager who prepares the rota. The overtime form needs to be signed by the staff member and by the line 
manager to state that it was pre-approved. It is then sent to the Finance Officer who checks it is accurate and uploads it to ‘SAP’. 

10.20 A sample of 10 overtime forms was reviewed and all had been signed by the member of staff, counter signed by their line manager and checked by 
the Finance Officer. 

Expenses 

10.21 The Pay and Allowances Staff Expenses Policy was last updated in 2010. It includes the rates at which staff members can claim travel and subsistence. 
It was confirmed that the rates remain accurate.  Expense claims are filled out on an Expense Claim form monthly with the receipts attached and are 
signed off by the individual’s line manager and checked by the Finance Officer before being uploaded to ‘SAP’.  The Policy needs to be reviewed to 
ensure that it reflects current practices. 

  

P
age 118



 
 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review 

Page 14 

[ 

Recommendation: 6 The Pay and Allowances Staff Expenses Policy be reviewed and updated as necessary. 

Priority 3 

Performance Management Reviews  

10.22 ‘The Line Manager guide to Managing staff’ was updated in 2016 and includes a section on Performance Management Reviews. Line Managers also 
had training on Performance Management Reviews in 2016.  

10.23 Performance Management Reviews take place on a quarterly basis. The line manager will agree specific, measureable, achievable, realistic and timely 
(SMART) objectives with the staff member before the beginning of the year. The progress against the objectives is then tracked throughout the year 
through quarterly meetings and recorded on the Performance Management Review forms.  

10.24 Once the line managers have completed their reviews for the quarter, they upload the date of completion on to a spreadsheet that includes all members 
of staff.  Line Managers must fill in the date they completed they review alongside their name. The Chief Executive and HR Officer have sight of the 
spreadsheet. 

10.25 A sample of 10 staff members was selected to ensure that performance management reviews were being completed. All of the sample had agreed 
objectives, signed quarterly Management Performance Reports and had been updated on the spreadsheet. 

 
 

 

System: Business Continuity Planning 

Evaluation Limited Assurance 

11. The following matters were identified in reviewing the Key Risk Control Objective:  

11.1 The preparation and maintenance of the Business Continuity arrangements are the responsibility of the IT and Systems Manager who is effectively 
the nominated business continuity manager. 

11.2 The Business Continuity Strategy was prepared in September 2010 by the IT & Systems Manager.  The Strategy was set to be reviewed on a five 
yearly basis but has not been reviewed since the date of inception. 

Recommendation: 7 The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Business Continuity Strategy needs to be reviewed and approved 
by the Corporate Governance Team and the Authority. 

Priority 2 

11.3 Business Continuity is not currently identified within the Audit Assurance Framework 2019/20 under Organisation and Governance. 

  

P
age 119



 
 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review 

Page 15 

[ 

Recommendation: 8 The key controls and positive assurance sources associated with the Business Continuity Risks need to be 
fully reflected within the Audit Assurance Framework. 

Priority 3 

11.4 The Strategic Business Continuity Plan (SBCP) comprises three documents, the Disaster Recovery Plan for IT services owned by the IT and Systems 
Manager, the External Communications plan owned by the PR and Communications Manager and the Internal Communications Plan owned by the 
HR Manager.   It was noted that since the SBCP was prepared the two communications plans have been consolidated into one document, the Business 
Continuity Communications Plan dated 25/1/2011. 

11.5 The roles in relation to Business Continuity are set out in the Business Continuity Roles and Responsibilities and Terms of Reference as follows:  

 IT and Systems Manager – Project Manager & draft disaster recovery plan 

 HR Manager – health and safety, premises, staff awareness. 

 PR & Communications Manager – public awareness, liaison with press, staff awareness. 

 Finance Manager – emergency financial provision, financial process continuity, liaison with service providers 

However, the HR Officer no longer has responsibility for health and safety or premises due to recent changes.  This needs to be updated within the 
Terms of Reference and Roles and Responsibilities document. 

Recommendation: 9 The Business Continuity Terms of Reference and Roles and Responsibilities document needs to be updated to 
reflect the changes in responsibility for health and safety and premises. 

Priority 3 

11.6 The Business Continuity Communications Plan defines the protocols for communications relating to external media.  Guidance for dealing with external 
media, Website updates, telephone or face to face communications is communicated and embedded in a Communications Plan. 

11.7 Business Impact Analysis is not currently being performed by the organisation.  Business Risks are identified within the Corporate Risk Register but 
no granular scenario planning for specific events such as BREXIT in the short term or longer term events such as agricultural disease outbreaks or 
Cyber-attacks for instance have been evaluated. 

Recommendation: 10 Business Impact Analysis be performed for potential high risk business continuity scenarios. 

Priority 2 

11.8 The ICT Department has logs of specific business continuity events and actions.  Significant recent activity includes full email recovery (14/6/19) and 
Geographic Information System recovery (1/5/19).  Each area of the Authority has specific support requirements, Park Wardens have different 
requirements to HR in the event of business discontinuity.  With the exception of the ICT department there are no Pro-forma Departmental Logs 
containing specific information including key contacts, key suppliers, staff accessibility, critical systems and the maximum downtime period 
documented within the plans. 

P
age 120



 
 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review 

Page 16 

[ 

Recommendation: 11 Each area of the organisation be required to maintain a log containing specific information including key 
contacts, key suppliers, staff accessibility, critical systems and the maximum downtime period of those 
systems. Priority 2 

11.9 Business Continuity Plans are not held offsite or in hardcopy or available to all staff on the intranet.  The documents are held and updated by the IT 
and Systems Manager.  Best practice is for key individuals within an organisation to have up to date electronic and hard copies of business continuity 
plans so that there is not dependence on one individual in the event of the plan being needed. 

Recommendation: 12 Key individuals within the Authority be provided up to date electronic and hard copies of the Business 
Continuity Plans so that there is not dependence on one individual in the event of the plan being needed. 

Priority 3 

11.10 The Business Continuity Plan (BCP) is a dynamic document and needs to be kept up to date reflecting changes as they occur.  The Authority has two 
documents that form the BCP, a Communications Plan and a Disaster Recovery Spreadsheet.  The Disaster Recovery Spreadsheet highlights core 
software systems, backup, restore and archive functions as follows: 

 Backup of key systems covers data type, priority classification, offsite storage, storage location, backup method, storage type, frequency and 
maximum roll back.  

 Restore in the event of a full system failure rank first telecommunications, then email, website, main file store, finance systems, planning, EPOS, 
stock and then the GIS systems in priority order.  

There is no narrative included with the Disaster Recovery documents and all documents needed to be updated at the time of review. 

Recommendation: 13 The Disaster Recovery and Communications Plans be updated annually or as key changes take place. 

Priority 2 

11.11 Informal reporting arrangements are in place in the event of a business continuity occurrence.  There is no guidance to identify trigger points of a 
business continuity event that would necessitate the implementation of the Business Continuity Plan. 

Recommendation: 14 When business impact analysis is performed the trigger points at which an incident becomes a business 
continuity occurrence be identified. 

Priority 2 

11.12 The Business Continuity Policy is not broadly communicated outside the HR, Corporate Communications and ICT areas.  A new e-learning suite 
(ELMS) is being implemented that will widen awareness of key business areas including ICT and is due for launch in August 2019.  This is in line with 
other National Park Authorities. 

  

P
age 121



 
 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review 

Page 17 

[ 

11.13 Evidence was provided that resource that has been applied to ICT disaster recovery activities.  A procedure is in place for the system restore.  Several 
records relating to Business Continuity Test events included Email recovery, GIS database recovery, TMG Firewall testing, and Print server recovery, 
with details of the event, outcome and actions documented.  No organisation wide event has been planned or actioned due to impracticality and 
resource restrictions.  

11.14 Service Level Agreements are in place covering the payroll processing function and the Finance systems.  An agreement with Carmarthenshire County 
Council covers the provision of Finance Systems, specifically, creditor payments, full ledger systems, payroll feeds and journals, debtors, recovery 
notices, invoicing, data security, backup, maintenance and upgrades.  The agreement runs from 1st April 2017 to 31st July 2022 and covers data 
security and daily backup arrangements. 

11.15 An unsigned SLA with the City of Cardiff Council was provided which expired in 2011.  The SLA covers payroll, payslips, end of year HMRC forms, 
integrated HR including absence management, training and contracts and had a one year notice period. It was advised that the Cardiff Council payroll 
SLA is operating on the basis that, in the absence of any notice of termination, it is still in force. 

Recommendation: 15 A new service level agreement including details of service provision, costs and data protection compliance be 
implemented between the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority and the City of Cardiff Council in relation to 
Payroll Services. Priority 2 

11.16 An Information Technology Service Level Agreement (SLA) between the Authority and Pembrokeshire Coast National Park Authority (PCNPA) was 
in roll over status until 31st March 2019 and then ceased.  Pembrokeshire Coast National Park Authority (PCNPA) now have a full time Business 
Change and IT Manager.  However, ad hoc Data Protection Officer services are still being provided but a separate SLA is yet to be drawn up by 
PCNPA. 

Recommendation: 16 A Service Level Agreement be implemented between the Pembrokeshire Coast National Park Authority and the 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority to reflect the new role and responsibilities of the Data Protection 
Officer within the two Authorities, the support arrangements and any attributable costs associated with the 
service. 

Priority 2 

11.17 It is considered best practice to routinely test all ICT recovery systems on at least an annual basis.  A full business continuity exercise is not possible 
due to resources and practicality. 

  

P
age 122



 
 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review 

Page 18 

[ 

 

System: Cyber Security 

Evaluation Reasonable Assurance 

12. The following matters were identified in reviewing the Key Risk Control Objective:  

12.1 The Authority has a comprehensive Information and Data Security Policy in place that was most recently reviewed in December 2017 and is next due 
for review in December 2020. The Policy is available to all staff from the central “R” drive on the IT network and through the Staff Portal. The Policy 
applies to all information held by the Authority whether in hard copy or electronic format. The review of the Policy identified that it covers all of the 
areas expected by an Information and Data Security Policy although it was noted that the Policy refers to the Data Protection Act 1998 and these 
references will need to be updated to the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation when the Policy is next reviewed. 

Operational 

 Effectiveness Matter: 2 

References to the Data Protection Act 1998 within the Information and Data Security Policy be replaced with 
reference to the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation when the Policy is next 
reviewed. 

12.2 The Authority’s IT User Policy, most recently reviewed in January 2019, details the responsibilities of all users of the Authority’s IT systems. All IT 
users are required to accept the terms of the Policy prior to access to IT systems being granted. The Policy is also applicable to all contractors, agents, 
and any other users of the Authority’s systems and the Policy states that “Any violations of this policy by any member of staff or third party will be taken 
seriously and may result in disciplinary action, including possible employment termination, and civil and criminal liability.” 

12.3 The Authority’s Acceptable use of E-mail Policy applies to all electronic mail users and states that " If a user is in breach of the provisions outlined in 
this document, his/her access to The Authority’s email may be terminated and future access denied” and that “Some breaches may also constitute a 
criminal offence and may result in legal action. Any user found to be in breach of this policy may be subject to the permanent loss of access privileges. 
Any violation of this policy may result in disciplinary action, via the Disciplinary Procedure, up to and including dismissal”. The Policy includes a list of 
Do’s and Don’ts and guidance on receiving large e-mails, and backing up and storage of e-mail messages. 

12.4 The Authority’s Fraud and Corruption Policy is next due for review in August 2019. The Policy advises that no level of fraud or corruption against the 
Authority will be tolerated, that every will be made to deter and prevent fraud, that opportunities for fraud and corruption will be minimised, that 
mechanisms will be put in place to enable staff to report fraud, that all suspicions of fraud will be fully investigated and dealt with appropriately, that 
any evidence of criminal activity will be reported to the police and that redress will be sought for any losses arising from fraud. The Policy includes a 
section relating to “What is Fraud” which details the three types of fraud defined within the Fraud Act 2006 but does not include any reference to cyber 
fraud or computer enabled fraud. The Authority’s Fraud Response Plan is included as an appendix to the Policy. 

Operational 

 Effectiveness Matter: 3 

Reference to cyber fraud and computer enabled fraud be included within the Fraud and Corruption Policy when 
it is next reviewed and updated. 

P
age 123



 
 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review 

Page 19 

[ 

12.5 The Authority’s Risk Register includes the risk of “Failure in Information Governance Arrangements” within the Corporate Governance risk, assessed 
as an amber risk. 

12.6 The IT and Systems Manager has day to day responsibility for cyber security supported by the Network and Security Officer and the IT Team. 

12.7 Guidance has been provided to staff on the use of social media and online participation. The Authority is in the process of implementing the ELMs 
training package which will be rolled out at the next staff day, the ELMs package includes five cyber security e-learning modules of varying complexity 
that will be undertaken by staff. Discussions with IT and Systems Manager and the Network and Security Officer during this review identified that their 
opinion was that staff awareness and knowledge of cyber security risks and the risks arising from the use of social media has improved. An IT induction 
process is in place for all new staff. 

12.8 The Authority’s IT Team is working towards compliance with the UK Government backed Cyber Essentials Scheme (CES). CES has been developed 
by the UK Government and industry to help UK organisations with limited experience of cyber security to improve their defences and to demonstrate 
publicly their commitment to cyber security through compliance with the Scheme. 

12.9 The Authority’s firewall protecting the network perimeter is approaching end of life and is to be replaced with a software firewall, IPFire, rather than 
with another hardware firewall. IPFire has intrusion detection (IDS) and intrusion prevention (IPS) functionality. Firewall rules are based on the 
philosophy of blocking all traffic and only allowing white listed traffic. IPFire has alerting functionality to flag identified issues and has a web-based 
management console. Firewall rules have been backed up. 

12.10 The Authority has a virtual network running on three physical ESXi physical hosts that are designed to be resilient using RAID technology. 

12.11 The Authority does not have a standard build for end user devices which are mainly laptops with a limited number of desktop PCs. Laptops are 
encrypted using Bitlocker encryption software and all unrequired functionality such as autorun have been disabled. USB ports are enabled. The majority 
of end user devices are running Microsoft Windows 10 operating software although Planning end user devices are running the Microsoft Windows 8 
due to compatibility issues between the planning software and Windows 10 that are being investigated. Local device firewalls are configured to operate 
when end user devices are used outside of the Authority’s network domain but do not operate when devices are operating within the network domain. 

12.12 Three members of the ICT Team have domain administrator level access although access has not been segregated due to the limited staff resource 
with this level of access. Domain administrators are required to use non-administrator level access accounts for day to day access with administrator 
level accounts only being used for administrator level tasks. 

12.13 Network access is managed using Active Directory with access passwords requiring a minimum of nine characters that meet Microsoft’s complexity 
rules. Passwords are force changed at 180 day intervals with the previous 24 passwords remembered to prevent users recycling previous passwords. 
Users are locked out after five failed logon attempts for a period of thirty minutes before the account is reset. 

12.14 The Authority has documented its backup arrangements which include regular virtual images, backing up to disc and tape and data is also streamed 
under a mutual arrangement to Pembrokeshire Coast National Park. A full system restore has not been possible due to infrastructure this would require 
but regular restores have been undertaken of individual files for staff. Backups are taken prior to upgrades to provide a restore position if the upgrade 
has issues. Recovery tests have been successfully completed for e-mails, the firewall, the GIS database and printers and the order for restoring 
applications in the event of a full system recovery has been documented based upon the perceived criticality of each system. 

  

P
age 124



 
 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review 

Page 20 

[ 

12.15 Discussions with staff during this review identified that the Authority has fifteen years’ of quarterly backup tapes, many of which are on tape formats 
such as LT01 and LT02 that the Authority no longer has the appropriate tape drives to be able to access. These tapes are password protected but are 
not encrypted and will contain personal data relating to staff and others interacting with the Authority. In the current data protection climate subsequent 
to the implementation of the General Data Protection Regulation and the Data Protection Act 2018, the retention of the older tapes is difficult to justify 
and it is recommended that Authority’s backup tape retention strategy is reviewed and the older tapes are securely destroyed. Organisations have 
been fined by the Information Commissioner for the loss of unencrypted backup tapes that contained personal data and the retention of a large volume 
of physical tapes is now a liability rather than an asset as each tape needs to be documented and regularly accounted for. 

Recommendation: 17 The current strategy for the retention of backup tapes be reviewed. 

Priority 2 

12.16 The Authority has implemented a log server capturing client security logs, firewall logs and exchange logs and monitoring log wipes. Logs are retained 
for three months at present with the intention to extend the log retention period for up to 12 months. The Authority is operating the Microsoft Power BI 
analytics tool which can be used to create dashboards and custom reports. 

12.17 The ESET antivirus and internet protection solution is installed on all end user devices and servers. An ESET server updates itself at regular intervals 
and then rolls out the updates across the Authority’s IT estate to all connected devices. ESET is configured to scan all devices on access and is 
configured to automatically clean and then report whenever malware is detected. ESET is supplemented at the mail gateway with the use of Mail 
Marshall mail sweeping software. Mobile phones have the Avast endpoint protection solution installed on them. File extension inspection is undertaken 
to detect files containing potential ransomware. 

12.18 Users have limited local administrator rights are prevented from installing software or running executable files. 

12.19 Patching of devices is centrally managed using the Microsoft Windows Server Update Service (WSUS) with critical security patches initially being 
rolled out to a test group of devices before being rolled out to all other devices. Remote devices are able to update themselves when they are not 
connected to the Authority’s IT network. 

12.20 The Authority operates a fully segregated CISCO corporate wireless network that is WPA2 secured. The Authority’s public wireless network is PC 
controlled and is fully segregated from the corporate wired and wireless networks. The Authority’s web casting solution has its own connections that 
are fully segregated from all other connections. 

12.21 Remote desktop services (RDS) through a virtual private network (VPN) provides secure encrypted remote access to the Authority’s IT networks for 
staff. 

12.22 It was identified during the review that the Authority is operating corporately provided dash cams within its vehicles. Unlike private dash cams, the use 
of corporate dash cams is covered by data protection principles. Organisations providing corporate dash cams need to document a dash cam policy, 
undertake a data protection impact assessment (DPIA) on the use of the devices and will need to have appropriate arrangements in place to protect 
the images captured by the devices and for the sharing of these images when required. 

  

P
age 125



 
 

 

 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 
Block 1 Review 

Page 21 

[ 

Recommendation: 18 A policy and data protection impact assessment be documented for the use of corporate dash cams that 
includes the retention and sharing arrangements for the images. 

Priority 2 

 
--------------- 

P
age 126


	Agenda
	1 Correspondence
	Audit of Brecon Beacons National Park Authority’s 2019-20 Improvement Plan
	Certificate
	Respective responsibilities of the Authority and the Auditor General
	Scope of the Improvement Plan audit


	3 Minutes
	5 Action Tracking
	6 Budget Performance Quarter 2 2019/20
	Enc. 1 for Budget Performance Quarter 2 2019/20
	Enc. 2 for Budget Performance Quarter 2 2019/20
	Enc. 3 for Budget Performance Quarter 2 2019/20

	7 Performance and Risk review - quarter 2
	Detailed performance report - quarter 2
	High level risks - quarter 2
	Integrated Assurance Framework - quarter 2

	8 Compliments/Complaints/Freedom of Information
	Complaints
	Complaints Summary
	Freedom of Information
	Freedom of Information - Summary

	9 Draft annual report 2018/19
	Draft annual report 2018/19

	10 Internal Audit update
	Enc. 1 for Internal Audit update
	Enc. 2 for Internal Audit update


